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Purpose

Overview Operating Reports Accounts
and financial
review

Mitchells & Butlers has a high quality, well located pub
estate, focused on the long-term growth 1n the informal,
value for money, eating and drinking out markets

Our operational and investment strategy is delivering
better choice and value to our customers and generating
profitable sales growth which 1s increasing our property
values as well as our investment returns - all to the

benefit of shareholders

Operational highlights

£18,500

Average weekly sales per pub

+5.1%

Same outlet ike-for-like tood sales

+2.2%

Same outlet hke-for-like drinks sales

10 7million

Meals served this year

Financial highlights

+10.1%

Revenue £1,894m

+11.0%

Operaung profit £343m
(before exceptional wems)

+21.2%

Earnings per share 35 5p
{before exceptional 1tems)

+16.3%

Dwidend 14 25p

Muchells & Butlers
Anrual report and accounts 2007

Shareholder
information




Group at a glance

Mitchells & Butlers’ know-how
Our proven expertise at every level, combined

with a pub estate of exceptional quality in

prime locations, continues to deliver on our
strategy of driving profitable volume growth
and creating shareholder value.

Know-how

Increasing property values

Through the successful
Implementaton of our operational
and investment strategy we are able
to generate further uplifts in asset
values within our high quallty freehold
estate for the benefit of sharehoiders

Acquired Sites »> pg 11

2 Mitchells & Butlers

Qur people

Keay to the successful operation of
our pubs is our ability to recruil train
and retaln the best peaple We offer
comprehensive training, so
expenence 15 nct essential, however
perscnality and a passion for
cusiomer service are critical

Cask gle training

Annual report and accounts 2007

»>» pg 11

Value and volume strategy

Our operational strategy is to focus
on value and volume Improving the
value we offer our custorners leads
to higher volumes and improved
productivity These gains, along with
better purchasing terms, enable us
to reduce costs and then reinvest
the margin gains in further quality
and value

Pub & Carvery »> Py 9

Consumer relevance and

format evolution

We strive to anticipate, Identrfy and
respend to changing demographic
profiles and consumer expectations
by evoiving our brands and formats

Sizzling Pub Co »>»pg 9




Positioned for success

With 3% of the pubs in the UK, we have
a 10% share of pub market sales This
has been achieved through a strategic
positioning of the estate to attractive
areas of the market, which has drnen
our growth, parucularly in food

£18.5k

2007 Average weekly sales per pub
(1998 £9 9k)

37%

2007 Food sales mix
(1998 22%)

107m

2007 No of mamn meals sold per annum
(1998 41m)

Growth and investment
We have invested a total of £25%m 1n our
pubs over the year This has enabled us

to develop, evolve and maintain our high

quality estate, with significant returns on
investment, whalst further improving our
relative value proposiion m hght of the

under-investment in the overall on-trade
pub mar ket

£1.1bn

Over £1 1bn” UK expansionary
mvestment over the last 16 years

20%

20%' return on mvestments i the
core estate over the last two years

20%

c 20% sales uphfi from
converted Acquired Sites

* Excludes the Acquired Sites

Overview

Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financ:al informatlon
review

Residential High Street

The majority of our pubs have prume
locations m residental areas and are
therefore well posiioned to take
advantage of the growth in eating-out as
well as increasing our drinks market share

75%

of sales

1,392

pubs

45%

food sales mux

3.1%

same outlet like-for-like sales growth

Investments in FY 2007

We kave successfully evolved our brands
and formats on the High Street over a
number of years and this has contunued
to bear fruit, seeing strong growth n a
compeutve market

25%

of sales

457

pubs

16%

food sales mix

3.0%

same outlet ltke-for-like sales growth

Our market

The pub market 15 esumnated to be worth
over £19bn per annum It has benefited
over the last ten years from the growth
it the popularity of eaung-out, with
approxumnately a third of total household
food expenditure now made outside the
home 'This 15 i contrast to the more
tracitional pub market of draught beer,
which has declined, down 27% in
volume since 1998

Agamst this background, our strategy
has proved exceptionally successful,
driving market share gans in all key
categories

Profitable market share gains

Mitchells & Butlers
Annual report and accounts 2007




Chairman’s statement -

T — \{1ichells & Butlers’ results this year reflect Since our foundatuon i 2003 the

Delivering

shareholder value

Since our foundation 1n
2003, the Board has had
an absolute commitment
to the creation and
delivery of value to
shareholders whether
through organic growth,
investment in the
business for high returns,
the pursuit of value
creative acquisitions, or
a return to shareholders
by way of dividends

and share buybacks
Roger Carr,

Chairman

4 Mitchells & Butlers
Annual report and accounts 2007

a soong financial performance and we are
pleased with the operauonal development
across the business The executive team
has been particularly effectn e 1n growmng
sales and profits despite some significaru
economic and cost challenges, whilst also
rapidly implemenung the conversion of
the hugh quality Whitbread sites acquired
mn July 2006 We have extended our
leadership of the eaung-out market
serving 107 million meals and generated
significant drinks market share gains

As a result, revenues have nisen by 10%,
operaung profits by 11% and earnings per
share before exceptional items by 21%

Thus performance has enabled the Board
to recommend a final dividend payment
of 10 Op per shaie, taking the total
ordinary dridend for the year to 14 23p,
an mcrease of 16 3% This payment 1s
addiuonal to the Special Diidend of
£486m paid to shareholders in October
2006 and reflects the strong growth

in earnings per share, as well as our
commitment to a progressive policy

for dividends

Board has had an absolute commitment
to the creation and delnery of value to
shareholders whether through organic
growth, investment in the business for
high returns, the pursun of value creauve
acquisitions, or a return to shareholders
by way of dividends and shaie buybacks

With this guiding principle in mind, and
recognsing that a consistently higher
valuation 15 placed by property investors
on our estate than 1s valued within the
current integrated model, the Board has
been vesugaung opuons for captunng
the value of the property estate for
shareholders on a sustainable basis

To that end, after a compeutive process,
substanual progress was made 1n the
summer on negobiating a jont yenture
transaction with R20 {the investment
vehicle of Robert Tchenguiz) In the

final stage of thus transacuon, we entered
into hedging agreements which were a
funndamental bank requirement to secure
the necessary finanaing arrangements
for the joint venture and te achieve
appropriate raungs from ratings agencies
However, the sudden and unprecedented
collapse of world debt markets rendered
the jownt venture undeln erable but

left the hedging arrangements in place
Driven by a most unusual mix of inflaton
and interest rate expectations, combmed
with hmited Liquidity, the cost of the




hedges at the year-end, although not

a cash 1tem, had risen to £155m after tax
The hedging arrangements have been
retained as the Board remains committed
to a property-based refinancing which
would uulise them, once debt markets
have recovered The Board will conunue
to balance the assessment of risk with
potential reward of this policy

Whulst the Board’s focus has been on the
establishment of a property joint venture,
alternative property based refinancing
structures remain under consideravon
In this context, the board has received

a proposal from R20 n respect of a
demerged Real Estate Investment Trust
(‘REIT’) struciure, which includes R20
procuring a fixed price underwring for
tn the regian of 25% of the REIT equuty
The attracuveness and feasibility of this
proposal is bemg explored A REIT
structure would have to meet the Board's
requirement for an appropriate balance
to opumuse the value of both demerged
comparues as independent entities

The Board will conunue to review
alternative structures that would
demonstrably create value from the
property, whilst providing an attractive
long term business model for the
operating company

Financial trends

Overview Operating Reports Accounis Shareholder
and financial miormation
raviaw

In view of the focus on Mitchells &
Butlers’ real estate, we considered 1t was
imoportant to establish a current value of
our freehold and long leasehold properunes
and we requested Colliers CRE to ypdate
our valuanon as at 29 September 2007
The revised value of the estate i our
books at £5bn repiesents a net increase
of £1 1bn compared to the lustorical
accountung basis and provides a solid
and up to date foundanon for judging
the asset strength of the Group

in turbulent tmes

Because pubs are specific use assets,

it 15 the operational success of the business
which has been the primary factor in
growing the value of our frechold property
and which has also enabled us to return
over £1 1bn mn cash to sharehalders

since demerger 1in 2003, over and above
ordinary dvidends This performance

has been driven by our operational teams
who I believe are collectively the best in
the industry [ would like to thank them
ali for their perseverance, flexibility and
hard work during the year

There has been one change to the

Board announced during the second half
of the year Tony Hughes, 59, stepped
down as Managing Director, Restaurants
on | October 2007 since when he has
been assisting in the handover of his role
and the further development of food
capabilities i the business He will reure
from the Board of the Company on

31 December 2007 He 1s succeeded

by Adam Fowle, previously Managing
Director for the Acquired Sites and
Business Development Adam has some
20 years experience i licensed retailing,
having joined Mitchells & Butlers 1n 1985
He was previously Managing Director

of the Pubs & Bars dvision, becoming

a Retaul Director at Sainsbury’s for wo
years He rejomned Mitchells & Butlers

in 2005

I welcome Adam to the Board and would
like 1o thank Tony for his excepuonal
contribution to the Company over the last
12 years His viston and drive have been
instrumental 1n the development of our
highly successful pub restaurant brands
I'wish him every happiness 1o hus
reurement

Looking forward, 2008 will undoubtedly
be a more challenging year, with the
uncertain outlook for consumer
confidence and the first year of the
smokimg ban However, I am confident
that a clear management strategy for
competitive out-performance based on
high quahty brands, excellent sites and
strong operating skills will underpin the
conunuing progress of the Company

Revenue (Em) Qperating profit (Em) Fina! dividend per share (p} Notes
EBITDA, operating profit and
profit before tax are all stated
2005 1,631m 2005 289m 2065 7 55p befors phonal Rems
2006 1,720m 2006 309m 2006 8.60p
2007 1,884m 2007 343m 2007 10.00p
EBITDA {Em) Earmngs per share (p) CROCCE (%)
2005 403m 2005 25.4p 2005 10 8%
2006 430m 2008 29 3p 2006 11 0%
2007 472m 2007 35.5p 2007 10.8%

Mitchells & Butlers
Annual report and accounts 2007
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Chief executive’s review of
the market and strategy

Mitchells & Butlers has
delivered another strong
trading performance. We
extended our leadership
of the eating-out market,
serving 107 million
meals and making
sizeable drinks market
share gains.

Our focus on amenity,
service and value has
positioned us well to
deliver further out-
performance against the
market through the first
year of the smoking ban
and more challenging
market conditions.

Tim Clarke,

Chief Executive

6 Mitchells & Butlers
Annual repert and accounts 2007

This review (‘OFR’) has been prepared
m accordance with the Directors’ Report
Business Review requirements of the
Companies Act 1985 It also incorporates
much of the guidance set out 1n the
Accounting Standards Board’s Reporung
Statements on the Operaung and
Financial Review

All numbers (except where stated) are
before exceptional wems

Chief Executive’s review

of the market & strategy

As a result of our focus on amemnity, range,
service and value, Mitchells & Butlers has
delhwered another strong trading
performance with like-for-hike sales growth
of 3% in the year Sales increases have
been effectively converted into profits
growth, with further improvements in
employee productivity, purchasing gams
and effective cost controls generaung an
operating profit of £343m before
exceptonal items Retail net operatng
margins are broadly m line with last year
despite £8m of regulatory cost Increases
and, as a result of the conversion of the
Acquired Sites, £14m of closure and pre-
opening costs Earnings per share before
excepuonal items of 35 5p for the year
are 21 2% ahead of last year reflecung

the strong trading performance, the
contnbution from the Acquired Sites, a
sigruficant development project completed
by Standard Commercial Property
Developments Limited (SCPD’), as well as
the share consohdation that accompanied
the Special Dividend earlier this year

The market

This good performance has been achieved
agamnst some difficult marker conditons 1n
the later part of the financal vear Rising
mnterest rates, growing inflation pressures
and an increased tax burden have begun
to reduce consumer confidence
partcularly of mid-market families with
mortgages Indusiry growth this year has
also been Limited by poor sumimer weather

‘This has conaided with the introducuon
of the smoking ban in England and Wales,
whach 15 acceleraung the key underlying
wrends in the market the growth i casual
pub users replacing frequent regulars, the
increasing smportance of food, soft drinks
and wine agamnst the decline of beer and
machine mcome, the growth 1in pub usage
by women, families and the growing
retired population and the decline 1n
male session drinking, and the grawth

m the importance of the off-trade {and
supermarkets 1n parucular) contrasung
with the dechne n the traditional on-trade
beer market

While the uncertain consumer
environment, the smoking ban and

the poor summer weather have each
contribuled to a ughtening of the
short-term market, especially i drinks,
the long-term outlook for the value for
money eating-out market continues to
be good with on-trade foad volumes up
3% in the year, drnven by long-term
lifestyle changes Qur sales strategy, the
posittoning of our brands and formats
and the quality of our pub locations have
enabled us to achieve good sales growth
in the year and leave us competiy ely well




placed to make further market share gams
in a more challenging environment during
the year ahead A number of long-term
factors reinforce our confidence

Pub usage 1s becoming more

popular although less regular

Since 1990 the proporton of adults
visiung pubs at least monthly has risen
from 59% to 72%, with a marked
acceleration n the growth of less frequent
customers since the turn of the century
This growth 1n total number of users
reflects the increased popularity and
avautability of eaung-out in pubs, driven by
social and Iifestyle changes such as the
increase 1n the female working population
and smgle households along with the
affluence and longevity of a growing
retred populanton Alongside this, the
tradinional pastme of visiung the local
pub several times a week solely to drink
conunues to dechne with the proporuon
of those visiting at least three times a week
reduang by more than half to 8% of the
adult populatien (Fig 1)

'The smoking ban, which now apples to
the whole of the UK, has served to
reinforce this development, broadening
pubs’ appeal to new or less frequent users
who are now more attracted to pubs,
particularly for eaung-out Evidence from
Scotland, which 15 now 1n the second year
of the smoking ban, suggests that there
are sigruficant long-term growth
opportunities for pubs focused on driving
food sales to these less frequent users

Fig 1 On-trade frequency of visits
96 of adults visiting
Monthly 1890
2000
2007
Weekly 1990 41
2000 39
2007 38
3+ times 1990 17
a week
2000 12
2007 8
Notes

Since 1990 the proportion  severa! tirmnes a week

of adults visiting pubs at  solely to drink has

least monthly has risen dechned

from 59% to 72% Source: TNS Alcovision 2007
Alongside this, those

visiing the local pub

Overview Operating Reports Accouhts Shareholder
and financal nformation
review

Eaung-out 1s increasingly the reason

for visinng

The eauing-out market has been growing
steadily over the past 20 years at around
4% 1n real terms, reflecung both changing
lifestyles and the wider provision of good
value food offers Eanng-out now accounts
for approxmmately a third of toal houschold
expenditure on food mn the UK, but 1t 15
only at levels achueved 1n the US over 30
years ago The value for money offered by
the pub combmed with 1ts relaxed casual
dimng atmosphere means that 1t has been
capturing an even greater share of this
wider eatung-out market (Fig 2)

Through selective acquisinons and
disposals, Miwchells & Butlers has
repositioned its estate of pubs to focus on
large sites which afford the scale to drive
high volumes of food at very anractive
prices The average main meal price in
Mitchells & Butlers sites 15 around £5 60
agrainst a UK average of between £8 and
£9* This value for money posiuoning has
helped to drive food volume growth of
67% over the last five years

The customer appeal of pub food

15 expanding

Tradiionally, eating-out 1n pubs and
particularly pub restaurants has been
concentrated n suburban areas amongst
predominantly middle income consumers
This segment of the market, while sull
growing, has slowed as a result of

consumer economic pressures especially in

the hight of nsing mortgages bills and

other cost of living increases This, in turn,
has led to some pressure on sales for some

of our md-market brands and formats

Fig. 2

59

7

Notes

Eating out now accounts
for a third of total
household expenditure
on food in the UK, but it
15 only at levels achieved
in the US 30 vears ago

Over recent years, however, the market
for eating-out 1n pubs has broadened
considerably, both to more affiuent
customers through the development

of gastro-pubs and (o the more densely
populated housing estates through the
dramanc growth of local pub food

The smoking ban has given this latter
market sigruficant additional momentum
For example 1n the period since the
introduction of the ban to the year end
same outlet food sales m our Local Pubs
were up 14% with additional increases in
assoctated drinks sales

Mitchells & Butlers 1s developing 1ts
formats to respond to these changing
market dynamics In the hugher affluence
areas we have expanded our Premium
Country Dining format and at the year
end we had 44 pubs operating under this
format across the country In the more
blue collar segments our Sizzhing Pub Co
and Pub & Carvery formats offer
exceptional value steak and chips at £3 99
or a full carvery meal at £3 50 dunng the
week These formats have seen very hugh
increased footfall and volume growth, with
the average Pub & Carvery site now selling
over 2,900 meals per week

* Source. Menurama

Eating out as a percentage of total
food expenditure (UK vs US)

Source US. US Dept of
Agricuiture, Economic
Research Service

UK. ONS Family Spending
Survey)

Mitchalls & Butlers 7
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Chief executive’s review of
the market and strategy
continued

Growth 1n food-related drinks volume

An ever increasing proporton of drinks
sales in pubs are now asseciated with
ancillary purchases alongside food, rather
than solely dnnking occasions These
mcremental drinks sales are biased
towards wine and soft drinks, helping to
mitigate the impact of the poor summer
thus year which has led to a slow down

mn the gverall market for soft drinks and
wine which fell 2% The strength of our
food volume performance and our drinks
retaihing skilis has enabled us to mamtain
our relative out-performance in both
these categories making substantial market
share gains and showing positve volume
growth This has been achieved by
artracting new customers together with
the value for money, range and quality

of our drinks offers

Continued dechne 1n on-trade beer

The same social and demographic
changes which are fuelling the growth

in pub food are contribuung to the
conunued dechne 1n the on-trade beer
market with volumes down 5% 1n the year
This has also been driven by the scale of
the retail beer price increases taken by the
on-trade 1 general and by the widening
price gap between the on-trade and the
supermarkets This has been parucularly
evident with significant supermarket
discounung of beer around major holidays
such as Chnistmas and important sporting
events such as the football and rugby
World Cups

Fig 3 MAT beer volume
On-trade vs off-trade

Notes
MAB same outlet beer outperforming the rest
volumes have grown of the on-trade volume
by 6% over the past dechnie of 15%
four years, glmost in Sgurce HEPA
Itne with ofi-trade * MAB same outlet volumss

to October 2007

bstantial
volume and su y .. o MAB volume

8 Mitchells & Butlers
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In response to falling volumes, most of
the on-trade has responded by consistently
raising prices ahead of general inflatuon
In contrast, we have followed a policy

of priang restramnt leading to sustained
beer market share gains, for example

on average a pint of standard lager in

a Mitchells & Butlers pub s now £2 12,
36 pence cheaper than the average

n the leased and tenanted compeuuon
As a result same outlet beer volumes have
grown by 6% over the past four years,
almost keeping 1n hne with off-trade
volume, and substanually out-performing
the rest of the on-trade volume declme
of 15% (Fig 3)

Although the market 15 yet to expertence
a winter, the Englhish smoking ban

15 already acceleranung the shift from
on-trade to off-trade In the first four
months following the Enghish ban, which
was introduced on 1 July 2007, the
on-trade has seen beer volumes decline
by over 6%, while the off-trade has seen
volumes grow by nearly 7%

Mitchells & Butlers strategy for growth
The results achieved this year reflect our
leadership postuon in the growing eating-
out market and further sigmificant drinks
market share gains Qur average weekly
sales per pub are up 6% to £18 5k and
operating profit has increased by 11%

to £343m We have generated thus
performance through the successful
mplementation of our sales strategy,
which 1s to

@ Off-trade voluma
® MAB volume*
@ On-trade volume**

Lead the value for money

casual diming market

We have conunued to capitalise on the
growth 1n imformal, value for money,
eatng out with same outlet like-for-like
food volumes increasing by 6% 1n the year
against a pub food market up 3% We are
now selhng in total 107m meals a year
Cur total food sales, mcluding the benefits
of the Acquired Sites, grew by 22% 1n the
year This has been achieved through a
constant focus on quahty and value t the
custorner and we will continue 16 reinvest
margin into our menu offers to generate
further profitable volume growth

The key to generating profitable foad
growth 1s responding to customers’
high sensitivity to perceptions of value
Thus 1s reflected in both lugh consumer
price elastcitres and rising menu
qualiry eapectations

Our business model 1s focused on
atiracting incremental food volumes
which 1n turn generates high margin
drmks sales With low additional
employment costs, the gross profit
generated has a high drop through
to operaung margin

As a result of this trading strategy, across
the estate as a whole, average weelkly

food sales rose by 12%, while the average
number of meals served grew by 15% as
the mix moved strongly towards the value
segment Thus, although hike-for-like food
prices rose 1 6%, the average retal price
of food served fell by 0 8% due to the
shuft 1n mix




We behieve that the smoking ban, now
mnplemented across the UK, will further
strengthen the growth prospects for food
sales in our pubs, by being able to attract
new customers previously deterred by
tobacco smoke Since the smaoking ban
was implemented 1n England, same outlet
hke-for-like food sales are up 5%

Generate significant

drinks market share gawmns

Our same outlet like-for-hke drinks sales
mcreased by 2 2% i the peniod Sales
volumes, a crucial measure of underlying
customer usage, once again stongly out-
performed the market across all the Ley
categories of beer, cider, wines, spirits
and soft drinks Cruaially, our same outlet
beer and uder volumes were mamtaimed
aganst the background of a 4% dechne
in the on-uade market for these products
in the year as a whole

We are out-performing m the beer
category through widening the product
range that we offer, improving the serve
quahty through intensive cellar training
and investment m cooling systems, as well
as delvering better presentation through
attractive glassware

Value 15 also playing a key part in our
strong drinks market share gawns, with

a wide gap opening between our pricing
and general on-trade pricing, thereby
protecung our volumes from the
supermarket discounung As a result,
the average retail price of standard lager
15 now 36 pence per pint less in cur pubs
than the average in leased pubs This

15 despite our average retai drinks prices
rising by 3 4%, partly due to hike-for-like
price mcreases, but also due to trading
up to new, premmum products This
increase 1s less than the price rises across
the on-trade as a whole As a result

of these product imtiatives and pricing
pohicies, on a tonger-term perspective,
we have grown our same outlet beer
volumes by 6% over the past four years,
against a 15% decline 1n the rest of the
on-trade

We have been following a sunilar strategy
in wine, soft drinks and coffee which are
key auractions to new users of pubs

We have been extending our ranges with
new premwm products, offering goed
value own label products and enhanang
the serve quahty Wine sales volumes grew
last year by 3% with draught dispense now
in some 630 pubs In soft drinks, we have
been successfully extendmg the range of
fresh juices, cordials and muneral waters
We have also nstalled new branded coffee
offers 1n around 1,200 pubs, with an uphit
th sales volumes of 23%

Overview Operating Reports Accounts
and financial
review

Sirzling Pub Co

Fundamental to the
market out-parformance
of SPC fs the format's
ability to attract an
increasing number of
customers into 1ts pubs
through its great value
food offer, to make
Ingremental, full-pnce
drinks sales to these
customers Thus its
current offer of two main
meals for £6 from 2 30pm
to & 00pm Monday

to Fnday has seen the
number of meals sold

in this time-slot grow 1o
16,000 per week over the
last two years

Pub & Carvery

As the rise in frequent,
casual eating-cut among
value-focused consurmners
has continued apace,
Mitchells & Butlers has
successfully evolved new
farrmats to tap into this
fast-growing area of the
market Cne such format
is Pub & Carvery, trialled
over two years ago, and
now trading in 58 sites
nationally Serving an
average of over 2,900
meals a week, the highest
we belisve of any format
In the industry, the brand
provides a traditional,
refaxed pub environment
with a freshly-cooked
carvery offer pnced

from an incredible £3 50
For our guests, this
represents better value
than eating at home

The brand has average
weekly sales of almost
£30k per pub and 1s
providing very high
incremental returns

on investment

Mitchelis & Butlers
Annual repart and accounts 2007
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Chief executive’s review of
the market and strategy
continued

Develop and evolve an mdusiory-leading
portfolie of formats to drive sales growth
Our emphasis on innovanon to develop
our brands and formats to keep pace
with fast changing consumer expectauons
15 focused on ensuring that we contmually
artract new customers and generate
higher levels of visits We have developed
an industry leading portfoho of brands
and formats targeted at the growth
segments of the market Aserage weekly
sales per pub are well aver three umes
the industry average

For instance, during the course of the year
we have further developed our category
killer, value food formats, S1zzling Pub Co,
Pub & Carvery and our new Community
Locals format ‘Cornerstone’

‘These each offer outstanding food value,
with main meals priced between £3 50
and £4 50, 10 an attracuve, high amenity
pub environment Pub & Carvery 1s now
generaung an average of over 2,900 meals
per pub per week, the highest, we believe,
of any format mn the mdustry We have also
evolved our long established High Sueet
formats of O'Neill’s and Scream, with
strong performances resulung Similarly
the development of our London offers of
Nicholson's and Metro Professionals has
generated excepuonal double dignt food
sales growth

Delbiver a profitable, mtegrated

food and drinks offer

‘Whilst eating out 15 increasmgly the reason
that customers visit a Muichells & Butlers
pub, combining lugher growth, lower
margin food sales with higher margin
drinks sales 15 key to maxumismg

overall profitability Qur amm 1s to add
mcremental food sales which can be
delivered at low marginal cost with an
attracuve drop-through to profit

Extract volume driven efficiencies

Qur nsing volumes are criacal in
underpinmng our efficiency gamns

This year we have seen a further strong
rate of increase mn staff producuvity,

with a 3 9% increase 1n staff contribution
per hour 1n the core estate Thus reflects
the impact of our ramng programmes,
our focus on the optimum deployment
of staff and ever more refined techmques
for forecasung and scheduling These
have enabled us to realise significant
productivity gains and mamtain our pub
employment cost rano below 24% of sales
excluding the Acquired Srtes, despite a
further increase of 6% m the Nauonal
Minirnurn Wage 1n October 2006
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On purchasing, the Cast of Goods'

index mcreases have seen cost rises held
to under 1%, significantly below inflation,
while £7m per annum of purchasing
synergies from the Acquired Sites were
delivered this year, ahead of our forecasts
at the ume of acquisiion

We also conunue to drtve process
efficrencies in the mfrastructure to leverage
our scale economies For example, the
exira overhead required to service some
£200m of sales from the Acquired Sites
will have been held 1o £2m per annum
These factors have enabled us to maintain
high net operating margins of 17 9%
broadly in line with last year, despite £8m
of regulatory cost increases and £14m of
closure and pre-opening costs

Over the next 12 months we have
mstigated a material rationalisation

of the orgamisanon, with approximately
£7m of annualised cost efficiencies
targeted to be delivered in FY 2009

Extend the skill base of operatonal
excellence throughout the estate

The skills and experience of our operating
teams provide a critical compettive
advantage for us in delivering high
standards of customer service efficiently
and profitably We have continued to
buld our staff training programmes and
industry leadmg pracnces m the areas

of capacity management at peak tmes,
kitchen processes and organisaton, bar
and floor service productivity, staff
product knowledge and our responsiveness
10 direct measures of feedback on guest
sausfactton This focus on operauonal
excellence 1s central to the high average
levels of sales and profitabihity generated
by our pubs

Proacuively manage the

estate to maximise value

Qur strategy 1s to maximise the
profitabiliry and value of each pub by
applymg the breadth of our trading
formats as 1s most appropriate to the local
market and demographics During the
year we have been adding value through
this strategy to both the Acquired Sites
and the exisung estate The Acquired Sites’
CONVErsion programme remains on track
with 172 pubs now converted to our
formats We have moved at a rapid pace
with the mtegration programme to turn
around their previous under-performance
and provide a pladorm for future growth
Average weekly sales uplifts on the
converted sites are running at
approximately 20% above the levels at
which the pubs were acquired We remain
confident in delnering the year three
target of 30% sales uplifis 1n the 2009
financial year

In addizon, we opened six new sites, and
carried out 65 conversions and 13 growth
projects to change the customer offer or
wncrease the wrading area of the swe mn the
core estate Overall, we are generaung a
pre-tax mcremental return of 20% on our
expansionary imvestment over the last two
years i the core estate

As a result of this strategy, and in the Lght
of the general levels of investment 1n the
on-trade market as a whole, the amenuty
gap berween our pubs and the majonty
of pubs in the UK 15 widening, further
improving our overall customer value
propositon and our market share gains
relanve to the rest of the on-trade

We continue to make targeted disposals,
where the value 10 third parues 13 lngher
than the trading value to us During the
year we generated £162m of disposal
proceeds, including the sale of 102 pubs
to Trust Inns Ltd 1n October 2006, taking
advantage of the buoyancy in the property
market to crystallise the value of smaller
pubs, which had hmited food growth
potenual

Grow profits and capture asset
appreciauon to benefit shareholders

Pubs are valued as speaific use assets,
primarily on the basis of their profitability
and our strong operating performance has
helped to generate further capital
apprecaauon within our estate This has
been reflected 1n the £1 1bn upward
revaluauon of the estate to £5 Obn that has
been carried out 1n conjuncuon with our
property valuers, Colliers CRE

Our focus remarns on releasing to
shareholders the benefits of this caputal
apprecianon At the start of the year, n
QOctober 2006, we returned £486m to
shareholders by means of a Specal
Dividend of £1 per share, arystaihsing for
shareholders the contnuing growth in the
value of the estate




It has also been clear that property
mvestors are attracted to the tong-term,
secure growth prospects that can be
created through the rentalising of part of
our operational cash flows 1n a dedicated
property structure Whether 1n a jomnt
venture, a REFT or another separate
property structure, fundamentally
higher values appear to be placed on
the estate than when 1t 1s combined 1n
an integrated model with the operations

We beheve that substanuial value can

be potenually captured from cur high
quahty, freehold and long leasehold
assers, through such structures A key
consideration 1n such a process 1s to
construct a lease arrangement which
ensures that both the property and the
operations retain rutually incentivised
to continue to create long-term value

The Board will continue to invesugate
acuvely the opuons for capturing

the value of the property estate for
shareholders on a sustainable basis

Overview Operating Reports Accounts
and financial
review

Cask ale training

The quality of aur

cellar skills has been
instrumental in aur
susta:ned gans in beer
market share With the
increase in demand for
cask ales, Ember Inns
has invested this year in
specific training on the
management and serve
of cask ale, to ensure
customers enjoy tha
finest guabty pint
possible Most Ember
Inns are now certiffied
by Cask Marque, an
independent accreditation
scheme to recogrnise
excellence in the service
of cask ale, and each
pub has a beer quality
champian, trained by
expenenced brawers

Acquired Sites

In July last year, we
acquired 233 of the best
pub restaurant sites in
the UK These freehold
pubs were well located,
large, predominantly
residential and freehald
or long leasehold, and
approximately half
situated in the higher
growth regions of the
South East and South
West of England They
wera therefore an
excellent strategic fit
with the Company’s
existing estate Our key
capital investmant pnonty
this year has been the
rapid and successful
conversion of these sites
and a total of £80m has
been invested to this end

Muchels & Butlers
Annual report and accounts 2007
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Key performance indicators

Alignment of remunerauon incentives
with key performance ndicators (‘'KPI's)
Tt is a key prinaple of the Company

to align: the interests of the Directors
and other key employees with those of
nts shareholders Executve remuneration
(as detailed in the Remuneration report
on page 33), therefore includes schemes
which contain elements of remuneration
linked to the KPIs below Same outlet
like-for-like growth, EPS and incrementcal
return on expansionary capital are used as
performance measures within the Short
Term Deferred Incenuve Plan (‘'STDIP")
and the amount by which cash remurn

on cash capital employed (CROCCE")
exceeds weighted average cost of capital
('WACC’) 15 used within the Performance
Restricied Share Plan (‘PRSP’) scheme

"Total shareholder return (‘'TSR’) 15 also
an mmportant measure of performance
for Mitchells & Butlers’ shareholders as
1t combines the increase in the value of
the Company’s shares with any dividend
returns made to sharcholders Muchells
& Butlers’ TSR performance compared
with s selected comparator group is
highlighted 1n the Remuneration report
and forms one of the performance
condons within the PRSP scheme

For the purposes of remuneration
schemes, TSR 1s taken over the hife

of the scheme rather than as an annual
measure Over the last three years,

the Company has delivered an increase
of 216% 1n TSR reflectng the success
that has been achieved in executing
Mitchells & Butlers’ strategy

Miichells & Butlers implements and
monitors s performance against its
strategy prinapally through four key
performance incicators The performance
in the year 15 as follows
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1

2

3

Same oudet hke-for-hke sales
growth - Mrtchells & Butlers’
operauonal and markeung plans
have delivered strong and consistent
like-for-like sales growih of 3%

1n the year (4 1% in FY 2006)

EPS growth — Mutchells & Butlers’
strong trading performance, together
vath share repurchases and the share
consolidaton that accompanied the
Special Dividend in Qctober 2006,
have generated growth in earnings
per share before exceptional items of
21 2% m the year (15 4% 1n FY 2006)

CROCCE m excess of WACC -
Mitchells & Butlers aims to maxnnise
the difference bemeen the post-tax
CROCCE and uts WACC, a key
measure of value creauon A CROCCE
of 10 8% after tax was achieved 1n the
12 months ic 29 Sepiember 2007,
around ¢ percentage powts ahead

of the esumated WACC for the year,
reflecting good operaung performance
supported by an efficient use of the
balance sheet (CROCCE was 11%
after tax in the 12 months to 30
September 2006, around 5 percentage
pownts ahead of our esumated WACC
for that year}

Incremental return on expansionary
capital — Our track record 1n this area
has remaned strong during the period
Pre-tax returns of 20% are being
achieved on the core expanstonary
capatal projects carried out over the
last two years This measure excludes
the recently Acquired Sites due 1o the
relatively short period of ownership
and post-conversion trading, making
1t more cifficult to estimate seasonal
patterns and annualised returns
(Pre-tax returns of over 20% were
achieved on the core investments made
in the previous two years m FY 2006)

EPI defimtions

Same outlet like-for-like sales growth
The sales this period compared to the
sales i the same period in the previous
year of all managed pubs that were
trading throughout the two periods being
compared, expressed as a percentage

EPS growth

The earmings per share for the period
before exceptional yems, compared o the
comparable pertod last year as reported in
the finanaal statements expressed as a
percentage

CROCCE 1n excess of WACC

The post tax cash return on cash capital
employed compared to the weighted
average cost of capital post tax, where the
cash return 15 earnings before interest, tax,
depreciatton and amortisaton less cash
tax that would be charged on operaung
profit without any tax shield from nterest

Cash capital employed 1s the average
net operating assets, plus the average
accurnulated depreciation, plus goodwill
written off, less the historical revaluauon
reserve

The WACC 15 the post-tax weighted
average cost of capital, calculated using
the post-tax cost of debt during the year
and the cost of equity, weighted according
to the propertuion of the Company
financed through debt and equity

Incremental return on

expansionary capital

Incremental return 1s the growth in
annual pub operaung profit expressed
as a percentage of the associated capital
investment for sites having recewed
expanstonary investment over the last
two financial years Sites are included
once they have been trading for three
months For sites which have not been
trading for a full 12 months, mcaremental
retarn 1s esimated based on an
annualisanon of actual post-investment
trading Expansionary capital 1s capital
invested to increase the trading area of
a pub or 10 matenally change the
customer offer Expansionary capnal
represents mvestrnent over and above the
maintenance nvestment cycle for 2 pub




Business review

This review expands

on the operational
strategy outhned in the
Chief Executive’s Review,
describing the main
resources the Group

has deployed to achieve
its results and presenting
some examples of the

strategy n action in
FY 2007.

Lead the value for money

casual diming market

Historically, Mitchells & Butlers’ sites were
heavily concentrated in the main UK
industrial areas of the North and Midlands
However, following a number of disposals,
the acquisinon of 550 pubs from Alhed
Domecq 1in 1999 and the purchase of the
Acquired Sites in July 20086, as well as the
adduwon of over 400 ndividual sites since
the early 1990s, the business 15 now spread
across the UK, more broadly mirroring the
demographics of the UK populanion with
a higher weighung in the affluent South
East and London

Our pubs are simated predominantly

in residennal areas {75%) with the vast
majority either freehold or long leasehold
{almost 90%) and having high average
weekly sales of £18 5k (over three tunes
greater than that of the average UK pub)

The estate over the last 10 years has
therefore been fundamentally repositioned
to capture the strongest growth areas of
the market Hence, in a pub eaung-out
market that has grown by 27% since

2002 and 1s forecast to grow by a similar
amount 1n the next five years, our

food volumes hav e increased by 67%
Addonally our food sales mix has

grown from 22% of total retail mrnover

1 1998 10 37% at the end of 2006 (Fig 4}

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial information
review

Criucal to this growth has been our
absolute focus on providing value to our
customers, through fresher, higher

quality ingredients at Jower price points
Consequently the average price of a main
meal 1n a Mitchells & Butlers pub 1s now
approximately £5 60, highlighung the
value proposition, particularly considering
the relauve healthiness, quality of service
and arnenuty that our pubs offer

Generate significant

drinks market share gamns

‘We focus our drinks retailling at delvering
a wide range of products frotm across the
world without being tied to any speaific
producer For example, across the
Company we now stock over 40 draught
lagers compared to only five 10 years ago

Ow drinks volume out-performance has
been dniven by our focus on improved
serve quality and on point of sale
communicauon with further range
extensions We are using our unit level
and purchasing scale economies to
improve quality and choice for our
customers and therebv gan market share

In beer, we have increased the number of
outlets using glycol technology to improve
the quality of their draught beer and have
sought to improve the range of beers on
offer For example in Nicholson’s we are
responding to market trends by increasing
the number of ales handles on each bar
to six, whilst increasing and premiwmising
the lager choice by instalhng Erdinger
and Perom

We have been following a sumilar strategy
in other drninks categories, extending our
ranges, bringing tn new premmum
products, offening good value own label
lines, and upgrading the serve quality

In wine, we are seeing both trading up to
better quahty premimum wines, while at the
same time our own label wines, such as
Silveriand, have grown to around 25% of
sales We also now have draught wine
dispense m some 630 pubs, with draught
wine sales now accountng for almost 10%
of total wine sales

In soft drinks, our priorities have been on
range extension m the fast growing fresh
Juice as well as other categories In June
we refreshed the range of juices and
cordials in our Pubs & Bars dmsion,
driving sales growth of 16% mn the period
1o the end of the year despiie the poor
summer weather

While i coffee, we have insialled branded
coffee offers such as Costa, Illy, and
Segafredo 1n almost 1,200 pubs

Further extending the quaiity of our
drinks offers 1nto these ‘nan-tradinonal
lines will add to the atractuon of our pubs
to new and light users

Thus focus on choice, value and quahyy
has resulted in continued market share
gans 1n all the maimn drinks categories

Evolve and develop our brands and
formats to drive sales growth through
high levels of amenity and service
Mitchells & Butlers operates a specorum
of brands and formats tatored to specific
user groups in particular demographuc
areas The dmision into Residenual and
High Street areas 1s further splu by
occasionality mto drinks-led and food-led
pubs giving the main segments of the
market local pubs, pub restaurants,

high street pubs & bars and city centre
resiaurants These have developed into
some of the strongest consumer brands
and formats i the industry The chart
overleaf sets out the range of brands and
formats operated by Mitchells & Buders
m each of these market segments (Fg 5)

We evolve our brands and formats through
spending regular amounts of maintenance
expenditure to match changing ¢onsumer
needs This evolution can also be drven
through a change n our offers For
example our O'Neill’s brand has been
refreshed 1n the vear, immproving hoth the
range of drinks offered and the chowce
and qualiy of 1ts menu

We have also continued to mal new
formats to tap into fast growing areas of
the market One example of this 15 Pub

& Carvery which was malled over the last
two years and has grown to 58 sites It has
average weekly sales of almost £50k and
15 provichng very high incremental return
on wvestment This format targets value
orientated consumers — offering a freshly
cooked carvery meal at around £3 99 in

a pleasant relaxed envoonment, which
represents better value for money than
the home cooked alternative

Our key capital investment priorty this
year has been on the rapid and successful
conversion of the Acquired Sites to our
strong brands and formats The
outstanding quabity of these sites has more
than met our pre-acquisition exXpectauons
and the intensive preparations beforehand
have put us i a posinon to move rapidly
ahead with the conversion process The
scale and speed of this programme has
already converted the vast majority of
these sites, a mere 18 months following
the acquisition
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Business review
continued

Flg- 4 Total and food average weekiy take
per pub 1998-2007

Fig. 5 Brands and operating formats
FY 2007
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+87%

Rise in total average
woaldy take per pub
1998-2007

+221%

Rise In food average
woeldy take per pub
1968-2007

® Other
& Feod

indhidual
pub

Strong
branding

Notes

1 Excludes Holtywood
Bowl (25 outlets)
and Alex {42 outlets)

2 The Group operates
4,235 rooms adjacent
to its pubs and pub
restaurants under the
InnKeeper’s Lodge
and Express by
Holiday Inn brands

3 Percentages represent
spht of UK managed
pubs and sales
{excluding bowling)
at end FY 2007

4 When converted the
Acquired Sites are
included within the
relevant brand or
farmat




The mual sales uplifts are approximately
20%, and we are on track to achieve

our three year, 30% target We expect

a further steady build up over the next
couple of years

Dehver a profitable, integrated

food and drinks offer

Criucal to the success of our sirategy

to date has been our focus on leveraging
the growth 1n food to attract customers
to the pub, thereby increasing higher
margmn ancllary drinks sales to maximise
profitability We also aim to reinforce the
link between food and drink through our
markeung acuvity and sales promotions

In Toby, for example, we have dropped
the price point for a carvery meal from
£5 25 1o £5 00 1n mud week, thus has not
only driven food velume but drinks sales
as well, and most mmportantly, net profit

Extract volume driven efficiencies

Scale at both the pub and corporate
level 1s citical m ensuring the success
of our value and volume strategy (Fig 6)

At the corporate level, the growth in

our food sales over the last five years has
enabled us to increase our purchasing
power with suppliers, for example we buy
products such as turkey tops in greater
quantities than the major supermarkets
Thus has helped to offset the faster growth
in relatrvely lower margin products such as
food and wine and enabled us to counter
the over £70m ncrease in regulatory and
energy costs during that period Through
reducing purchasing costs we can increase
quality, pass additional value on to vur
customers and 1n turn further increase
our volumnes For example, Mitchells &
Butlers purchased 1 1 million kilograms
of jacket potatoes in the year Better
market condiuons and alternative sources
for potatoes have ensured improved
commercial terms for the Company, with
a saving of 24% on our annual spend
This focus has enabled us to hold our cost
of goods flai this year with the gan on
new contracts offsetnng inflation, duty
increases and the contractual increases

In oN-going agreements

At the pub level, through operating large
scale pubs, we are able to provide the
qualiy of amenity and service and the
range of products at good value prices
that today’s customer s demand The
Company constantly invests in developing
operaung skills in the efficient

Overview Cperating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financiat information
review

management of kitchens, bars and serve
umes, to deliver high service standards

at peak trading imes Our Pub & Canery
format, which offers freshly cooked food
at a highly atracuve £3 99 price pomnt,
has had significant success in the densely
populated housing estates In the last
three years therefore average spend per
head has fallen from £4 71 to £4 01, while
average meal volumes have nisen from
1,800 per week to over 2,900 per week
Profitability has been further enhanced

by the incremental drinks sales generated,
which along with productivity gains have
led 1o average profits per pub up 29%

It 15 our purchasing power alhed to our
strong operatng skills that have enabled
us 1o achieve this performance

Unut scale allows the Company to schedule
and deploy staff very closely to the trading
patterns of the pub thereby capturing
addiuonal sales at busy tumes and reduang
labour costs during quiet periods Through
sophisticated scheduling and forecasting
of sales, we have been able to maintamn
pub employment costs at under 24% of
sales despite the substanual real increases
1n the Nattonal Mimimum Wage

We have also had considerable success
mn applying our productivity systems and
purchasing power to the Acquired Sites
where we have made £7m of purchasing
gains during the year

Extend the skill base of operauonal
excellence throughout the estate

Key to the successful, profitable operation
of our businesses 1s our abihity to recrus,
train and retain the best people Qur wide
range of brands and formats mean we are
able o offer a huge vanety of opportumues
to our employees, from bar staff to kitchen
manager to chef We offer comprehensive
tramnng so expertence Is not always
essenual, however, personality and

2 passion for excellent customer service
are criucal The Company 1s committed

to providing equality of opportunity

to all employees without discriminauon
and we are supportive of the employment
and advancement of disabled and
disadvantaged persons

Mitchells & Buders deploys a
combination of assessment centres,
internat development centres, recnutment
adverusing, terviewing and on-job
evaluation to recruit potenuial managers
and assistant managers and to help people
develop thewr careers At the same ume
we recognuse that many people want the
flexibihity of a part-time job in order te
suit their hfestyle We aim to make them
welcome in the workplace and to provide
for therr needs

We currently employ around 43,000
people and offer real opportumues o
buld a career withun the Company Thus
year we invested an average of six days
training per employee, with structured
traiming programmes including both on
and off the job raining

Mitchells & Buders 1s commtted to
ensuring all retall management and staff
have the skills o perform their roles
effecuvely A significant amount 15 spent
on tramming managers and team leaders
through the Competence 1n Retail
Management Ceruficate and Management
Foundation Course programmes Each
year, around 2,500 of our retail employees
are tramned through these programmes,
giving them the essenual skills to operate
our businesses legally and safely This
trannung also gives managers the knowledge
required to provide on-site training (o
retal staff

The Nattonal Ceruficate of Personal
Licence Holders (NCPLH) ts an essential
qualfication to progress to manager level
and employees can work towards this with
an expertenced manage, this year, over
3,000 employees achieved thewr NCPLH
with the Company The nternal succession
rate to the post of assistant manager

15 around 70% for most of our brands

and formats

Our training programmes are not only
fundamental to motivanng our employees,
gnving them the skills to achieve therr
ambitions but also, cruaially, they underpin
our commitment 1o operate our businesses
safely Notably, we have nigorous training
about the responsible retailing of alcohol
to give our retaill employees the expertise
and the confidence to serve our customers
correctly Our retail teams currently refuse
service o approximately 50,000 people

a month who are unable to provide proof
of ther age

The Company has two graduate
recrutment schemes the Corporate
Graduate programme and the Vocational
Graduate Programme, placing employees
on a fast-track 1o a retall management
posiion Within any given year, we have
approximately 60 graduates parucipating
in our Management training schemes and
for the second year runming we achieved
a Springboard UK award for Best Student
Placement for a Large Organisanon
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Fig 6

Value and votume cycle

Reinvest margin
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Staff training,
scheduling,
incentves
HReduce
costs
Increase
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buying e management
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The Company has had an established,
comprehensive employee communications
programme 1n place for over 10 years
Anariety of channels such as team
meetungs, conferences, in-house
publicauons and the intranet keep

staff informed on matters relating

to the Company and 1ts performance
Two-way communicattons between semor
management and employees are driven
primarily through regular discussion
groups at the corporate level and
operational communications forurms

A formal Business Forum, at which
Executive Directors meet with elected
employee remesentauves to discuss
business concerns, takes place annually

The yearly corporate employee
satisfacnon survey gauges staff opimon
on 2 wide variety of Company 1ssues

and working pracuces in a confidential
manner and provides a conunuous
objectuve measure for employee
sansfacuon and engagement This year
the response rate to the suney improved
for the fourth consecutive year and the
conunumg posituve trend relaung o
questions about employee engagement 1s
encouraging, with over 90% of employees
feeling sausfied and motvated by therwr
work More than 94% of Mitchells &
Butlers’ employees would recommend
the Company as a good place 1o work
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Current trading

Current trading has been resihent with
same outlet hike-for-like sales growing by

1 4% in the seven weeks to 17 November
Trading m the three weeks to 17 November
has shown a matenal improvement on
October with same outlet like-for-like sales
up 2 4% following the launch of our new
winter menus This sales growth has been
generated agamnst the background of the
start of the first winter period of the
smoking ban in England and Wales, a
continuing volume dechine 1n the on-trade
beer market m October of approximately
8% and a more uncertain consumer
environment

Same outlet Uninvested
7 weeks endad Iike-forlike lka-for-like
17 November 2007 sales growth sales growth
Resldential 13% {1 0%)
High Street 25% 1 9%
Tota! 14% (0 5%)

Note These results include the Acquired Sites

Withm the Residential estate, Local Pubs
have traded well, with same outlet hke-for-
like sales growth of 3 3%, reflecung large
dninks market share gamns, conunued
strong food sales growth and the benefit
of the Rugby World Cup The Rugby
tournament however, had a negative
mmpact on our pub restaurants where like-
for-like sales have been marginally positive
overall, although they were up 2 6% in

the last three weeks following the launch
of the new menus with their enhanced
quality and value

These new menus are part of a carefully
mialled and targeted margin investment
programme that we have started

to implement within pub restaurants
to drive profitable volume growth in
response to a slowing 1n performance
towards the end of last year, parucularly
in the Vintage Inns format The mutial
customer response to these new menus
1S VEr} encouraging

In the High Street, which accounts for
25% of sales, the successful evolunon

of our formats has generated like-for-like
sales ahead by 2 5%, with strong growth
in food sales Trading in central London
has remained buoyant

Trends following the smoking ban

in England are cunrently broadly in line
with thase seen in the first year of the

ban in Scotland where there was a slowing
of overall sales in the winter months

In the 20 weeks since the muroducuon

of the smoking ban m England, same
oudlet like-for-hke sales for our Englhish
pubs, excluding those previously converted
te non-smoking, increased by 1 5%,

with food sales up 5% and drinks sales
margmnally up In the last seven weeks
these pubs grew by 0 7% on a same outlet
basis We continue to be encouraged by
the improvement mn same oudet like-for-
hke sales this year within our Scotush
pubs, up 6 7%, partly helped by the recent
Eure 2008 football, and we beheve that
the overall impact of the ban will be
beneficial over ume to larger, well invested
pubs with an auractive food offer




Financial review

Our operational focus
remains on driving
profitable sales growth
and generating strong
cash flows. We will also
continue to look at the
best opportunity to
release value from our
property to benefit
shareholders.

Karim Naffah,

Finance Director

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial information
review

Mitchells & Butlers has performed well
despite a more challenging consumer
environment in the second half of the year
Earnings per share grew by 21 2% i the
year, underpining the proposed ncrease
of 16 3% i the annual ordinary dnidend
to 14 25 pence per share, i addition to
the Special Dividend of £1 per share paid
to shareholders in October 2006

Strong operating performance

Our value and volume strategy, combined
with the unrivalled quality of our pub
properties, has been the key to our
resilient trading performance Like-for-hke
sales during the year were up 3% and net
retail operating margins were broadly
maintained, despute £8m of addinonal
regulatory costs and £14m of closure

and pre-opemng costs arising from the
conversion of the Acquired Sites to our
brands and formats

Investing for high returns

In the year we mvested £261m 1n the
estate, mcluding £131m of expansionary
caputal of which £80m was spent on
converung the Acquired Sites, delivering

a sales uplift of approximately 20% against
the levels at which the sites were acquired
Our core expansionary vesunent over
the last two years has conttiued to deliver
incremental pre-tax returns of 20%, whilst
the business as a whole achieved a post-tax
cash return on capital employed of 10 8%

Value-creative disposals

Alternatve use and mvestment

demand for mdividual pubs reached
record levels during the year and we took
the opportumty to dispose of some of our
smaller pubs, reinvesting the proceeds

in high return projects within the estate
During the year, we raised £162m of cash
from disposals, including £101m from
the sale of 102 smaller, commumey pubs
1o Trust Inns Lid

Releasing addiional value from property
We conducted durmg the year a rigorous
review to determuine whether the Company’s
properties would be valued more highly

if they were separated from the operations
of the business Our market-tesung in the
spring confirmed that specialist investers
would place a substannally higher value
on our properties than that which was
umplied 1n our stack market valuatan

We examined alternauve structures to
access this upside for shareholders and
concluded that a joint venture would offer
the best route to crystallise a substanual
propertion of the property value, whilst
protecting the integnty of the existing
and proven integrated operaung model
Followmg a competiive process, we
negouated terms with R20 for the sale
of a 50% stake m a £4 5bn joint venture,
comprising the majonity of our fiechold
and long leasehold properues Shortly
befare finahising the agreement, the
sudden debt market crisis 1n July meant
that the uransacuon could not

be implemented
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Financial review

Hedging arrangements

In the final stage of the planned
transaction, Mitchells & Butlers and

R20 separately entered nto debt hedging
arrangements (‘hedges’) comprising
mierest rate and nflation swaps intended
t0 be contmbuted to the joint venture
These were requured to support the
delwvery of the financing package The
wrbulence in the debt markets since July
has led to long-term nterest rates falling
At the same time, long-term inflation
expectations have risen, whilst the market
liquidity for such instruments has sharply
dimunushed These three factors combined
to produce a post-tax defiat on the
hedges of £155m, aganst the mark-to-
market values at the balance sheet date
This 1s not a cash loss to the business,

as the hedges have not been closed out
and we conunue to expect that they

will be uulised n a future property
based refinancing, once debts markets
have stabilised

Property valuation

Given the conunued focus on our
estate, we completed a revaluation of
the properues as at 29 September 2007
The revised value of £5 Obn 15 included
in our financial statements and represents
a net increase of £1 1bn aganst the
historical accounting approach Whalst
this accounting valuauon 1s consistent
with the existing structure of the Group,
our property valuers have advised that,

Pubs and bars
Financial year 2007

+1.0%

Revenue £968m

+06.7%

Operating profit* £191m

= Betore exceptional tems
- Excluding the Acquired Sites
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+4 7%

Same outlet like-for-like sales™

3.0%

Uninvested like-for-like sales™

within an OpCo/PropCo structure, our
freehold and long leasehold properties
would support a market rent of £280m
and a rental yield of 5 8%, with an
indicanve value of £4 8bn before any
allowance for purchaser’s costs Thus
valuauon covers only the rent from these
properties and therefore excludes the
other cash flows recerved by the operaung
company which, based on trading in

the year ended 29 September 2007,
would equate to some £200m of
underlying EBITDA

Pensions

After £40m of additronal contributions,
there was a pension deficit of £18m at the
end of September under IAS19, with more
prudent morrality assumpuions apphed
following the actuarial valuation exercise
n the year The formal actuarial valuation
as at 31 March 2007 indicates a larger
deficit of around £250m, reflecung

the more conservative gilts basts for
discounting future habilities In hine with
the new pension regulanons, the Company
1s finalistng wath the Trustees a formal
recovery plan to close this defiat by 2017
As part of this plan, in addition to ordinary
annual service contributions, we expect
that further contribuuons of £24m will

be made 1n each of the next three years

Summary

Our operational focus remains on driving
profitable sales growth and generaung
strong cash flows We will also contnue
to look at the best opportunity to release
additicnal value from our property te
benefit shareholders

Kartm Naftah
Finance Director

Restaurants
Financial year 2007

Revenue £908m

Operating profit* £145m

* Before exceplional ems

+19.2%

+11.5%

Fipancial review

Total revenue for the year was £1,894m,
up 10 1% on last year, including the first
full year of ownership of the Acquired
Sites purchased from Whitbread PLC n
July 2006

Strong ltke-for-ltke sales growth conunued
in the year 1n both Residenual and High
Sureet areas, reflecting resihent trading 1n
more challenging conditions in the second
half and further sigmificant market share
gamns

Like-for-like sales  Same outlet” Uninvested*
Residential 31% 15%
High Strest 30% 23%
Total 30% i7%

= Excludes the Acquired Sites

With the success of our ongong sales and
marketing actnities, same outlet foed sales
and drunk sales were up 5 1% and 2 2%
respecuvely, with average retail prices

up less than 2%, remnforang our value
positton m a market characterised by real
Price mcreases

Our increased share of the drinks market
and the increasing scale of our food
volumes have helped us to miugate
confinuing pressures on the cost of goods
purchased, including drninks duty rises
and global food inflauon Overall gross
margins were slightly betow last vear,
reflecung a further shuft in the sales mix
towards the higher growth but lower
margin categories of food and wine

+1.0%

Same outlet like-for-like sales™

0.1%

Uninvested Like-for-like sales*~

= Excluding the Acquired Sites




By conunuing to improve employee
producuvity, our pub employment ratio

i the estate was maintained at below 24%
of sales, despite further increases in the
National Mimimum Wage addmg £7m to
our labour costs As a result the net retail
operating margin at 17 9% was broadly 1n
line with last year, despite £141m of one-off
closure and pre-opening costs ncurred

1 connection with the conversion of the
Acquired Sites

We invested £261m in the year, of

which £8m related 1o the purchase of the
Acquired Sites and £80m was invested

to convert the majority of those sites to
Mitchells & Butlers’ brands and formats
In the existing estate, £122m was invested
to mamtain the hgh levels of ameniy
it the pubs and mn the continumg
development and evolution of our brands
and formats and £51m was spent on
expansionary projects During the year
six new pubs opened and 65 exisung
pubs were converted to one of our brands
or formats 1o uplift therr sales and
profits We are continuing to achieve

an mcremental, pre-tax return of 20%
on the core expansionary projects

of the last two years

Durmg the year we raned £162m of cash
from disposals, including £101m from the
sale of 102 of our smaller, commumty pubs
to “Trust Inns Ltd As a result, net capual
mvestment during the year was £99m

In addition to the strong retad
performance, Standard Commergal
Property Developments Limited (‘SCPD)
realised a property development profit
of £7m 1n the year As a result, total
operaung profit before exceptional 1tems
was £343m, up 11% on last year

Pubs & Bars

FY 2007 Growth
Revenus £9EBm 1 0%
Operating profit” £191m B 7%
Same outlet like-for-like sales™ 47%
Uninvested like-for-lika sales* 0%

* Before exceptional ltems
~ Excluding the Acquired Sites

After the disposal of 86 managed pubs,
etght transfers to business franchuse and
one pub transferred to the Restaurants
dwision, there were 1,129 managed pubs
m the Pubs & Bars division at the end of
the perted, mcleding 28 Acquired Sites
There were on average 1,159 managed
pubs trading during the year

Revenue was up 1%, including £16m
from the Acquired Sites transferred to the
dmvision following conversion Excluding
those Acquired Sites and adjusung for

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial infarmation
review

major disposals made last year and at the
heginning of this year, revenue 1n the core
Pubs & Bars estate was up 3 5%

Pubs & Bars contmued to achteve market
share gams m drink sales, as a result of
the widening gap between our amenity,
product range and value for money and
that of the competiuon Food sales n

the year were up 12 5% {excluding the
Acquired Sites) driven by growth i the
residential pubs, notably Sizzling Pub Co
and Metro Professionals, as well as by the
Town Pubs and the central London estate

The review of machines stakes and prizes
shortly before the begmming of the year
raised the maximum stake to 50p and the
maximum prize to £35 These changes
were modestly beneficial to machine sales
although the negative tmpact of the
smoking ban miroduced m July meant
that machine sales were shghily down

for the year as a whole

A total of 56 conversions were complcted,
predomunantly to residennal brands and
formats such as Sizzling Pub Co , Ember
Inns and the Metvo Prof{essionals format

As a result of ught cost control and
improved employee producuvity, Pubs

& Bars operating profit of £191m before
exceptional items was up 6 7% n the year
and the net operaling margin increased
from 18 7% last year to 19 7% Exciuding
the contributon from the Acquired Sites
and the impact of major disposals in the
comparative year, the exisung Pubs & Bars
estate increased operatng profit by 11 9%

Restaurants

FY 2007 Growth
Revenue f908m 192%
Qperating profit* £145m 115%
Same outlet like-for-like sales™ 10%
Uninvested like-for-ike sales™ 01%

* Before exceptional items
** Excluding the Acquired Sites

Following the disposal of 15 pubs and
eight transfers to busimess franchuse,
there were 787 managed pubs 1n the
Restaurants division at the end of the
period, mcluding 191 Acquired Sites,
two new individual pubs and one pub
transferred from Pubs & Bars There
were on average 768 managed pubs
trading during the year

Revenue was up 19 2%, including £160m
from the Acquired Sites Excluding the
Acquired Sites, there were on average 591
pubs trading during the year and 1n these
pub restaurants, revenue grew by 2 7%,
with food sales up 3 9% and drinks up 0 7%

The Restaurants division successfully
mtegrated the Acquured Sites and
completed the majority of the conversions
dunng the year as planned Growth in
the rest of the estate slowed during the
year primarily as a result of increasing
economic pressure on mid-market
consumer s and greater mtensity of
competinon m pub food Management
forus 18 on continuing to evolve the offer
m our brands and formats, combined
with further efficiency and producuvity
mmprovements

Restaurants dinvision operaung profit of
£143m before exceptional 1tems was up
11 5% on last year, including £16m from
the Acquired Sues The net operaung
margin fell from 17 1% last year 10 16 0%
due 10 the closure and pre-opening costs
assoaated with the conversion of the
Acquired Sutes and the comparatively low
margins achieved by those sites prior to
conversion Excluding the Acquired Sites,
the Restaurants estate increased operating
profit by 4% with a net operatng margin
mmprovement of 0 2 percentage ponts

Standard Commeraial Propeity
Developments Limited ((SCPD")

SCPD generated £18m of revenue and
£7m of operating profit in the year,

the majority of which related to the sale
of a long-term development propeity

1n Burton-on-Trent, which was completed
1 August

Propety backed refinancing and

related hedging arrangements

Substanual progress was made 1n the
SUMUMEr On SICIUring an attractive
property transaction, with terms largely
concluded with R20 (the mvesument
vehicle of Robert Tchenguiz) based on the
sale of a 50% stake 1 a £4 5bn property
Jomnt yenture compristng approximately
1,300 pubs and £240m of rent

In the final stage of the planned
transactton, the Company and R20
separately entered mto certain interest
and inflanon hedging arrangemenis
wntended to be contributed to the jomnt
venture However, the sudden, rapid
deteriorauion 1n debt market condiions
in late july meant that a financing
package could not be obtamed and

the transacuon could not be executed
The hedges remain n place as 1t 1s

the Board’s intenuon to utthise these
financial mnstruments i a future property
based refinancing once debt markets
have stabilised
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Financial review
continued

Property revaluauon

Given the conunued focus on the value

of cur estate, we have completed a
revaluation of our fixed assets based on an
updated valuation by our property valuers,
Cotliers CRE, of our freehold and long
leasehold properues as at 29 September
2007 For accounting purposes, this
valuation represents the aggregate value
of each individual pub, rather than a
portfolio approach, based primarily on
the trading cash flows The revised value
of the propertes at £5 Obn represents

a net increase of £1 Ibn compared with
the historical accounting basis We will
contmue to revalue our properties each
year on a rolling basis

The accounting valuation of the property
1s consistent with the existng structure

of the Group However, based on advice
received from Colliers CRE, all of the
freehold and long leasehold properues
withim an OpCo/PropCo structure would
support a market rent of £280m and a
rental yield of 5 8%, with an indicative
valuation of £4 8bn for the PropCo, before
any allowance for purchaser’s costs, based
on a 35 vear, RPIinflaung lease This
valuation appreoach relates only to the
rent from the freehold and long leasehold
pubs and therefore excludes the cash flows
received by the operating company from
these pubs, as well as other company cash
flows including those from existing short
leasehold pubs Based on the year ended
29 September 2007, this would equate

to approximately £200m of underlying
EBITDA

Excepuonal items

Excepuonal items are those which are
separately identified by virtue of therr
s1ze or mnadence so as to allow a better
understanding of the underlying trading
performance of the Group Excepuonal
items are generally those which do

not form part of the core operations

of the Group As a result, the Board
focuses on ‘pre-exceptional’ performance
measures i order to compare underhying
performance year on year

The interest rate and inflatton hedging
arrangements that the Company entered
mnto 1 July 2007 provide an economic
hedge agamnst the future annapated cash
flows associated with a property based
refinancing, however they do not qualify
for hedge accounting as defined 1in 1A839
Movements 1n their fair values are therefore
recognised directly in the Group income
statement, within exceptional finance
costs The total fair value movement

of these instruments during the vear
reparted within excepuonal finance

was £(221)m, (£(155)m after tax)

o0 Mitchells & Butlers
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An exceptional loss on property related
wems of £23m (£17m after tax) arose
during the year This was caused by
impairment ansing from the revaluauon
of the property portfolio of £45m
(£32m after tax) partly offset by net
profits on the disposal of properties

of £22m (£15m after tax), primanly
related to the sale of 102 pubs 10

Trust Inns Ltd on 6 October 2006

Excepuonal costs of £4m (£3m after tax)
were mcarred 1n the frst half of the year
relating to the integrauon of the Acquired
Sites, whalst a further £7m of costs

(£7m after tax) were incurred i the
second half of the year, relating pnmanly
to professional advisers’ fees 1n relation 1o
the Board's review of a potential property
refinancing and the proposed joint
venture transaction with R20

The tax tmpact of the above excepuonal
items 15 2 £74m aedit In additon, there
15 a further £26m of exceptional deferred
tax credits (gving a total of £100m),
primaniy relaung to the change in the
corporate tax rate from 30% to 28%

m April 2008

Finance costs and revenue

Finance costs durnng the year were £153m
before exceptional items, £35m higher
thar last year Finance revenue of £6m
was achieved on the Group's cash balances
being £3m lower than last year The net
mcrease 1n finance costs of £38m agamst
last year reflects the higher level of debt
m the Group following the purchase of
the Acquired Sites 1in July 2006 and the
payment of a Special Dividend of £486m
to shareholders in October 2007

Net finance income from pensions

was £11m, £3m higher than last year
due to an increase 1n the expected return
on the assets in the pension scheme
compared to the charge for the habilities

The Group's blended net interest rate for
the year was 5 5% mcluding the impact
of the net finance icome from pensions

Taxaton

The tax charge for the year was

£62m before exceptional 1tems This

15 an effecuve rate of 30% of profit
before tax, one percentage point lower
than the previous year The deerease has
been achieved following the resolution
during the second half of the year

of vanous outstanding 1tems with

HM Revenue & Customs

As part of the exeraise to revalue assets

at the year end, management also reviewed
the Group's deferred tax provision for
unreahsed gams under IAS12 This review
has resulted 1n a prior year adjustment
which has the effect of increasing the
deferred tax provision in the opening
balance sheet by £76m This adjustment
has no impact on previously reported
profits In addiuon, as a result of the
revaluation, the deferred tax balance at 29
September 2007 has increased by £296m

Earnings per share

Earnings per share were 35 5p before
excepuional 1iems, 21 2% ahead of

last year In addinon to the growth n
operating profit, earnings per share have
benefited from a 17% reduction 1n the
average number of shares mamly as a
resuit of the 34 for 41 share consolidauon
carried out in October 2006 1n conjunction
with the Special Dividend

The loss per share after exceptional
itermns was 2 5p reflecung primarily

the excepuonal accounung losses

on the financial hedges entered mio

in anucipation of a property refinancing
and the proposed Joint venture
transacton with R20

Dividends and returns to shaicholders
The Board 1s recommending a final
dividend for 2007 of 10 pence per share
Together with the interim dividend

of 4 23 pence paid on 29 June 2007,

this gives a total dividend for the year

of 14 25 pence, up 16 3% on last year
Notwithsianding a more challenging
outlook for the economy and the market
environment, the proposed increase in
the ordmary dividend 1s underpinned by
the strong underlying earnings per share
performance achieved 1nx the year The
Board remains committed (o a progressive
policy for dividends consistent with the
growth prospects of the Company

Subject to approval at the AGM on

31 January 2008, the final dividend wall be
paid on 4 February 2008 to shareholders
on the register on 7 December 2007

Since Mutchells & Butlers listed in

Apnil 2003, shareholders have received
more than £} Tbn 1n cash through Special
Dividends and share buybacks, over

and above ordinary dividends paid

This represents more than 70% of the
Company’s market capstalisation at

the ume




Cash flow and net debt

The Group's operations conunue to be
highly cash generative Cash flow from
operations was £447m before excepuional
items but after addinonal pension
contributions of £40m Net capntal
expendtture was £99m including £80m
of expenditure on the Acquired Sites,
£51m of core expansionary capital
nvestment, £122m of maintenance
capual, less disposal proceeds of £162m

Net interest paid of £145m was £38m
higher than last year reflectung the
increased level of debt in the business
Tax pard was £33m, £15m lower than

the prior year driven primanly by £10m
of tax rebates recerved from HM Revenue
& Custors during the year Payments
totalling £52m were made n respect of
the final dividend for FY 2006 and the
mnterim dividend for FY 2007 in addiuon
to the Special Dividend of £486m paxd

i Qctober 2006 £46m was spent to
repurchase shares, whilst £1 1m was
recetved from the exercise of share options

As a result, there was a net cash outflow
of £399m before exceptional costs of
£12m and bond repayments of £39m
This compared to a cash outflow before
excepuonal items of £428m last year

Net debt at the year end was £2,47%m,
£412m hugher than last year, representng
5 25 umes EBTTDA

Share price and market capitalisation

At 28 September 2007 the share price
was 611p compared with 590p at the start
of the financial year, an increase of 3 6%
The Company is a member of the FTSE
100 mdex with a market capnahsation of
approximately £2 5bn at the year end

Treasury management

The financial nisks faced by the Group
are wenufied and managed by a central
Treasury department The actvities of
the Treasury function are carried out in
accordance with Board approved policies
and are subject to regular audit The
department does not operate as a profit
centre

At 29 September 2007, the Group's

net debt of £2,479m consisted of the
securitised debt of £2,356m, bortowings
on the Group's revohing credit facility of
£192m, derwatives hedging balance sheet
debt of £45m, other loan notes and

finance lease obhgauons together totalling

£3m, offset by a cash balance of £117m

Overview Operating
and financial

review

Reports Accounts

Pensions

On an IAS19 basis, the Group’s pensions
schemes showed a deficit of £18m,

{£14m after tax) at 29 September 2007
compared with £99m (£67m after tax)

at 30 September 2006 The reducuon in
the defiat reflects the benefit of £40m of
additonal penston contributions paid in
the year and improved investment returns,
partiatly offset by updated assumptions of
hfe expectancy

The full actuarial review undertaken in the
year ts currently bemng finalised based on
the value of the schemes as at 31 March
2007 The actuarial valuation adopts a
more conservative basis of discounting the
hiabihiues than 1s required by JAS19 and
the prehiminary result shows a defict of
approxumately £250m In line with the
new pensions 1egulations, the Company
15 finahsing with the Trustees a formal
recovery plan to close this deficit by 2017
As part of thus ptan, in addinon to the
ordmary annual service contnbutions,

1t 15 expected that further contributions
of £24m will be made 1n each of the next
three years The contribution for the
year ending 30 September 2008 will
include the payment of £20m previously
commuited at the time of the Special
Dividend 1n October 2006 The level of
additional contributions will be subject to
review during the next actuarial valuanen
as at 31 March 2010

Shareholders’ funds

Shareholders funds were £1,576m at the
end of the year including the impact of
the property revaluation compared with
£1,209m at the start of the year which
mcorporates the impact of the £76m pnor
year adjustment

Mitchells &Butlers
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Risks and uncertainties

This section highlights some of the
particular risks which affect the Group
but 1t 1s not intended to be an extensive
analysis of all rnisks which may arise in the
ordinary course of business or otherwise
Some nisks may be unknown to the Group
and other risks, currently regarded as
immatenal, could turn out to be matenal

There are a number of potential risks and
uncertamues which could have a matenal
mmpact on Mitchells & Butlers' long-term
performance and achievement of us
strategy These risks and uncertamues
arise as a result of operational, market
driven, regulatory or finanaal factors
Matchells & Butlers adopts a pro-active
approach in this area with each member
of the Execvuve Commuiee taking
responsibility for the management of

the specific risks associated with their
deparument, and a dedicated Group
Assurance team who report through the
HR Director and General Counsel 1o

the Executive Commuttee and the Board
The Company also operates a Risk
Management and Thsclosure Forum

to ensure that the impact of any new
legislation s considered and that actuon
plans are put n place to address any
required changes in advance of any
implementauon date Although Mutchells
& Butlers has been successful in mingaung
these risks 1n the past, there 15 no
guarantee that it can continue to do so

Operanonal factors

Brands, formats and offenngs

Mutchells & Butlers’ pubs and pub
restaurants compete for consumers

with a wide varietv of other branded
and non-branded pubs and restaurants
as well as off-licences, supermarkets

and takeaways The large supermarket
groups, in particular, often sell alcohol
and especially canned beer, at greatly
discounted prices as an element of theiwr
marketing strategy In 1980, 83% of beer
m the UK was sold through pubs, clubs
and restaurants {the ‘on-trade’) This
percentage has been dechning steadly,
such that during 2006, 57% of beer was
sold through the on-trade with the
supermarkets’ and off-heences’ share
(the off-trade’) having increased

1o 43% Compention in the eaung-out
marker has also increased particularly as
a result of the smoking ban, implemented
m England on 1 July 2007, which has
led to many pubs erther begimning to
sell food, having not done so previously,
or improving their fuod offers

Changes in consumer tastes in both food
and drink, for example the heightened
awareness of healthy eaung, and
demographic trends over ume ma

affect the appeal of Mitchells & Buders’
pubs and pub restaurants to consumers

ag Mitchells & Butlers
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This may be especrally so 1f the Group
does not anticipate, dentify and respond
by evolving 1ts brands, formats and
offerings adequately and sufficiently
promptly to reflect such changes m
consumer requirements and preferences,
particularly in regard to the growth n the
eating-out market

Miichells & Butlers has a Sales and
Marketing execuuve for both the Pubs &
Bars and Restaurants divisions, chared by
the Divisional Managing Director, which
acuvely monitors consumer trends and the
corresponding relevance of Mitchells &
Butlers’ brands, formats and offerings
Trals of new operanng formats and the
evolunion of exisung offers are underiaken
every year as part of this programme A
recent example has been the development
of a format called Pub & Carvery, which
was first trialled over two years ago and 15
now trading m 58 sites

Suppher dynamcs

Food and dnink purchases account for the
majority of Mitchells & Buders’ supply
costs Mitchells & Butlers’ relauve size

n the pub and pub restaurant sector,
particularly following the purchase of the
Acquired Sttes tn July 2006, has allowed 1t
to renegotiate supplier contracts
successfully in the past year In additien,
as the Group’s legacy ued drinks
arrangements have reduced, Mttchells &
Butlers has taken advantage of us
increasing freedom to increase the choice
available 1o customers on favourable terms

However Mitchells & Butlers 15
contractually bound to use certain
supphters Most notably, as part of its
acquisition of the 550 former Allied
Domecq sites in 1999 Mitchells & Butlers
was required to purchase a fixed minimum
volume of Carlsberg-Tetley products unul
12 December 2007 Mitchells & Builers 15
also tzed for approximately half of its soft
drinks volume to Britvic plc unul February
2008 If Mitchells & Butlers was unable
to satisfy its mmmimum purchase volume
obligations to a material extent under
these agreements, 1t would be obliged to
pay hquidated damages During the year,
Mitchells & Butlers took the opportunty
to enter mto a new, shorter-term
agreement with Carlsberg-Tetley which
has given more flexability to the business
and negouauons are well advanced to
ensure that the Company’s soft drinks
purchases are renegouated on more
favourable terms

In food, the larger number of food
ingredients and the more fragmented
nature of food suppliers on the world
commodity markets means that Mitchells
& Butlers has a greater opportumty to
source food purchases from alternative

suppliers than is the case with the drinks
market However, Miichelis & Butlers
conunues to be exposed to the nisk of
higher food prices depending on global
availabiyty and demand for preducts

Mitchells & Butlers 1s also exposed to
movements i distribution costs for food
and drinks as supphers’ mcreased fuel
costs may be passed on to the Company

Mitchells & Butlers 1s a large commeraal
user of gas and electricity and 1s therefore
subject to fluctuatons in utility costs (for
example, both gas and electriaty costs
rose sharply dunng FY 2006 due to global
price increases) In order o reduce
exposure to short-term fiuctuations mn
energy prices, Mitchells & Buders has a
roliing programme of [orward purchases
for three, six, nine and 12 months 1n the
future An energy awareness team has
been established to review energy usage
and 1s working with the business to
conunue to find ways to promote further
efficiencies m energy consumption

Market driven factors

Consumer expenditure

The Group s revenues are hinked

to the economic chimate in the United
Kingdem and, to a much lesser extent,

in Germany Changes in consumer
expenditure may anse as a result of the
general economic situation, such as in the
latter part of this year when rising interest
rates and an increased indirect tax burden
appear to have impacted consumer
confidence, or more localised specific
factors such as decreased acuvity in the
financial markets or from reduced tourist
visIts as a result of terronst acuvity
throughout the world and in London
Consumer expenditure in pubs may also
vary through consumer perceptions and
atutudes to satety and pubhic order and
localised national or international scares
as a result of food contaminanon

However, Muchells & Butlers has over
2,000 individual businesses and 1ts range
of brands and formats targeung different
income and consumer groups mitigates
this risk This wide range of offers
provides the flexabihity to respond to
changes in consumer behaviour through
either the evolution of the offer or the
substitution of an alternative operatng
format or brand at a parucular locatuon

Seasonality

Customer wisits to the Company’s pubs
and pub restaurants are generally igher
during haliday penods, such as Christmas
and New Year, and over bank holidays
Frequenting of pubs and pub restaurants
1s otherwise slightly lower during the
winter months than 1n the summer Visits
to pubs and pub restaurants are also




affected by the weather, with warm sunny
weather being parucularly advantageous
for pubs and pub restaurants with
gardens Mitchells & Budlers' marketing
strategies address the umpact of
seasonality, wherever possible, to capture
demand 1n busy periods and to encourage
customers 1o vISiL 1n quieter pertods

Regulatory factors

Mitchells & Butlers operates in a heavly
regulated sector and changes in regulation
can have a sigmificant tmpact upon
Miuchells & Butlers’ business Some
examples of the regulatory changes which
could affect Mitchells & Butlers mclude

Smoking bans

Approximately 90% of Mutchells & Butlers
pubs are in England where a full ban

on smoking 1n pubs came 1nte force on

1 July 2007 Trading 1n Scotland 1n the
first year after 1ts ban came nto force

(26 March 2006) was less strong than n
England in the same period with total
like-for-like sales up 2% with food sales
up 8% and drink sales flat Since then,
sales have conunued to grow but at a
slower rate than in England as new users
sample the smoke-free atmosphere Our
experience so far suggests that large pubs,
with the capability to serve high volumes
of good food at attractive prices, will
benefit from a ban on smoking However,
smaller pubs, with imited food capacity
and a bias towards beer sales and machine
income are likely to suffer

National Mimumum Wage

The Government has increased the
minumuin wage by an average of 3 6% per
annum over the last five years, matenally
above the rate of inflaton It currently
stands at £5 52 per hour having been
increased by 17p for adults in October
2007 The Low Pay Commussion has
recommended that any further increase

in the national mimimum wage should
remain in line with general wage inflavion,
although to date this recommendation has
not been endorsed by the Government In
addition, 1n October 2007 the Government
mncreased the statutory hohday enttlement
of all employees from 20 to 24 days, which
further increased the Group's employment
costs Mrichells & Butlers has in the past
successfully mingated these statutery
mcreases in employment costs through
productivity improvements These
measures have allowed the Group to
maintam the rato of employment costs

at 2496 of sales in 2007

Lirensing

New licensing laws became fully effecuve
in November 2005 Licensing matters
were taken away from the Magistrates
Courts and transferred to local zuthonues
and a new requirement was miroduced for
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operators of licensed premises to hold a
premuses licence and the manager of the
pub to hold a persenal licence Greater
flexabiity of openmng hours was introduced
which allows pub operators to apply to the
local authonty for permussion to change
opening hours, subject to cbjecuons from
local residents, the police and other
relevant agencies

However, these groups also now have

a right to ask the local authonty for the
premises licence to be reviewed at any
ume where they believe that any of the
Government's liensing objectives are
beng compromused As a result of such
review, the locat authonity has the power
to attach furcther condiuons to the licence,
reduce trading hours, call for a change
mn the pub management or ulumately
suspend or revoke the hcence

Mitchells & Butlers has been successful in
the vast majonty of imual applications to
extend previous opeming hours (typically
for an addiuonal hour or two later in the
week and at the weekend) The Group
does not hold any 24 hour hcences
Mitchells & Butlers also invests heavily in
the ongoing tramning of its managers and
staff 1o ensure conunued compliance with
licensing laws and that 1ts pubs are
operated n a responsible manner

Changes m taxation

Mitchells & Butlers’ acuvities are affected
by a number of tax-related matters
These include duty on alcohohc
beverages, property rates, VAT and

other business taxes

Mutchells & Butlers ensures 1t takes
approprla[e aclion to minimise the risks
from regulanion through a number of
means ncluding

* acuve parucipation with industry
orgamsations, such as the Britsh
Beer & Pub Associauon and the Briush
Hospitality Associanon, ensuring that
effective lobbywng 15 carried out,

* the operation of a Risk Management
and Disclosure Forum to ensure that
the impact of anv new legislatuon
15 considered and that acuon plans
are put in place to address any
required changes in advance of
any unplementauon date and

= conunual considerauon of operaung
procedures to ensure any cost increases
ansing from such changes can be
m:ugated through productiaty increases
or other cost reducuons

Financial factors

Pension funding

Mitchells & Builers parucipates in defined
benefit pension schemes which give nise to
varicus funding risks ‘The main risk 1s the
variability of the amount of contributions

requrred to be pard to the schemes by
Mitchells & Butders in order to account
for past service benefit deficits and future
service benefit accruals These i turn are
impacted at any pownt In ume by changes
mn hfe expectancy assumptions, the
performance of the stock market and
bond yields

Recent legislation means that 1t may

be appropriate to approach the Pensions
Regulator for pre-clearance of agreements
reached with the Pension Trusiees at the
ume of signuficant corporate transachons
Such clearance may include a requirement
to increase the level of funding over a
reduced umescale

Muchells & Butlers” pension risks have

been mitigated by the closure of the

defined benefit schemes to new entrants

n 2002 As an alternative, a competitive

defined contribunion pension scheme 1s

now available to eligible new employees

Miutchells & Butlers also mamntains a close |
dialogue with the pensions schemes’ !
Trustees and two of the Trustees are 1
appomnted by the Company As a result
of the funding deficits i the schemes,
the Company has made additional
contributions of £145m over and above
the regular service contributions since
listing 1 2003 1 order to proacuvely
reduce the deficit The Company has
previousty commuitied to make an
addiional contnbution of £20m during
FY 2008 A full actuarial valuation of the
schemes was conducted during FY 2007
The results of this review are expected to
be finalised 1n December 2007, together
with a fresh schedule of contribuuons as
requured by the new pensions regulations

Property backed refinancing and related
hedging arrangements !
During the year, the Company entered
into certain interest and inflaton hedging
arrangements 1n anucipauon of a property
backed refinancing around a jont venture
artangement with R20 However, the
sudden, rapid deterioration in debn
market conditions 1n the summer meant
that an appropnate financing structure
was not possible and the transacuon could
not be executed The hedges remain 1n
place as the Board believes 1t 1s highly
likely that these financal iInstruments

will be used 1n a future property based
refinancing once debt markets have
stabilised Howeser there 15 a risk that no
property based refinancing will occur or
that the Company's strategy could change
such that the hedges would need to be
closed out, which would currently result
n a substannal cash loss The Company
has in place a process to monttor the
movement 1n the value of the hedges

and the positton s kept under close

and regular review by the Board

Mitchells & Butlers
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Corporate social responsibility

Corporate social responsibility
Mitchells & Butlers operates in a highly
regulated indusiry and recognises that 1t
has an inherent duty under uts licences to
* ensure the responsible operation of us
premuses for guests, employees and the
wider community, and
¢ promote the objectives of the Licensing
Act 2003, namely
— the prevenuon of crime and disorder
— public safety
- the prevenuon of pubhc nursance
- the protectron of children from harm

Thus 1s at the heart of the business and 1s
why the Company surives to ensure that
corporate social responstbility underpins
15 business operaucn at every level

Please note that the following sections
provide a summary only of our policies
in respect of our corporate social
responsibility (‘C5R’) actvity A more
detailed account of Mitchells & Builers’
CSR practices and corporate comphance,
including case studies, can be found

1 our separately published Corporate
Social Responsibility Review 2007

on www mbplc com/csrreview

Corporate governance

The Board 1s responsible for the Company's
internal control and risk management
system The Corporate Governance report
on page 30 gives details of how this
responsibthty 1s discharged

Our Executve Committee, comprising the
HR Darector and General Counsel as well
as the Chief Executive and the Finance
Durector, has adopted a Code of Ethucs

to promote honest and ethical conduct

throughout our business The code

includes

* the ethical handhng of actual or
apparent conflicts of interest between
personal and professional relattonships,

* a requiiement that any hospitality from
suppliers must be approved, with a
presumption agamst 1ts acceptance,

* requuring full, fam, accurate, umely and
under standable disclosure 1 pertodic
reports required to be filed by Mitchells
& Butlers plc, and

+ promoung comphance with all
applicable rules and regulatons that
apply to the Company and 1ts officers

Our Business Conduct guidelines desanbe
the standards of behaviour expected from
those working for the Company Qur
corporate reputanon depends on all siaff
acung m good conscience and behaving
with mtegnity i our dealings with
emplovees, shareholders, customers,
supphers and all other stakeholders

24 Mitchells & Butlers
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Mitchells & Buders offers an
independently admimstered confidental
hotline, also known as a whistleblowing
hotine, for any employee wishing to report
any concern that they may have that

they feel unable to raise with their line
manager All whistleblowing allegatons
are reported to and considered by the
Audit Commuittee

I'he Board takes regular account of
soq1al, environmental and ethucal matters
concerming the Company through the
Chief Executive's regular reports to the
Board, presentations to the Board at 1ts
strategy meetings and through adoption
of 1ts Code of Ethics The Company
Secretary 15 responsible for ensuring that
Directors are made aware of and recewve
training 1n respect of such matters
Formal reporung to the Board of social,
environmental and ethical matters takes
place every six months

Identification and assessment of risks

to the Company’s short and long-term
value anising from social, ethical and
environmental matters are achueved
through the Company’s Major Risk and
Assurance Review, regularly updated and
presented to the Board annually The
Board considers as an intrinsic part of this
review whether the steps taken to address
these risks are appropnate These are
derailed further below Opportunities

to enhance the Company’s value are
constdered as part of that review and

at strategy discussions

A Mitchells & Butlers Risk Management
and Disclosure Forum exists to monitor
the Company's activities and to ensure
that a consistent and proactive approach
to managing risk occurs throughout the
Company, including those of a socal,
ethical or environmental nature The
Forum aims to meet on a quarterly basis

The Board also receives regular updates
on sigmficant legislatve change or
development in corporate governance
best practice The Company's socal,
environmental and ethical disclosures
are reviewed for accuracy through

a combinauon of detailed verification
by members of management responsible
for the indmvidual areas of corporate
social responsibility and high level reviews
by the members of the Board and
Executrve Committee

Alcohol 2nd Social Responsibility policy
Mitchells & Butlers was one of the first
companes to establish a comprehensne
policy for the responsible retailing of
alcohol, 1n 2000 Our Alcohol & Social
Responsibility (‘ASR’") policy includes clear
guidelines on the responsible operation
of our pubs, the sale and promotion

of alcchol, our under-18s policy, and
our staff traiming and development
programmes

The mtroductuen of cur leading

policy shaped the development and

implementation of industry-wide codes

of conduct We update the policy regularly,

re-launching 1t in October 2004 and m

May 2006 In August this year we updated

it agamn to reflect

* the acceptance ol an mternational
passport as a recognised form of
identification - we continue zlso to
accept UK Passports, UK photograph
driving licences, and proof of age cards
bearing the PASS hologram as
recognsed forms of 1denuficauon,

* the ughtening of guidelines around
pricing, discounting and promouons
across our businesses, and

* the mdusion of new information
listing the unns of alcohol contamned
in commonly served drinks

We are determined to ensure that
Mitchells & Butlers’ pubs are operated
1n a way that Fully jusufies the grant

of a licence for the 1esponstble retailing
of alcohol In that regard we were
pleased to be recognised by the Morning
Adveruser for the second ume as this
year’s most responsible drinks retaiter

in the managed pubs category

Challenge 21

Mitchells & Butlers led the industry 1n
2004 when we launched our Challenge 21
campaign It1s not an over 21s only
entrance policy but rather a requirement
to ask for idenuficauon if a customer
appears to be under 21, so as to prove
that he or she 1s at least 18 years of age
The prinapte of Challenge 21 — 10 support
and educate our staff and customers on
the 15s5ues relating to under-age sales — 1s
now firmly embedded m our Company
culture To momitor the scale of attempted
under-age purchasing in our pubs, we now
record all instances of refusal 1o serve and
are currently registering around 50,000
refusals per month




Through our various traumn,

programmes, all our retail staff, incJuding
doer staff, are made aware of therr
responsibihues for serving alcohol and the
personal penalues for fallure to comply
with the Licensing Act requirements

We also regularly audit our businesses to
€nsure our pracuces are bemng mamntamed
and employ an independent company to
perform test purchasing visits as an
additional check

Responsible promouons pohcy

As part of our Alcohol and Social
Responsibility policy we have strict
guidehnes 1n place regarding the pricing
and promotion of our drinks Any
promouonal acuvity must be approved by
the Markeung Director and observe the
guidehnes outhined 1n our ASR policy

The gwiding principles of the Company’s

pohcy are

« to offer guests real service and value
at fair, compeutive prices,

= to seek to encourage guests o return
to Mitchells & Butlers’ pubs, racher than
to encourage mcreased consumption
by guests during a single visit,

* 10 ensure that guests are offered choice
and 1alue without inducements to drink
10 excess We will not, for example,
offer any ‘2 for the price of 1" drinks
promotions, and

* to encourage and support designated
driver and other anu-drink/drive
imatives

Mutchells & Buders 1s a member of

the Briush Beer & Pub Associatton and
played a central role in the formation
of the orgamisauon’s code encouraging
promotional acuvity In addition all cur
promotional acuvity comphes wath the
Portman Group's Code of Practice

Alcohol awareness

Muichells & Butlers 1s a major conuributor
to the Drinkaware Trust, an independent
UK-wide charitable trust with the objecuve
of posiuvely changing public behaviour
and the natonal drninking culwire, to
tackle alcohol-related harms

Our updated ASR pohcy 1ssued in August
this year now includes details of units

of alcohol 1n relation to the ABV of every
alcohohe product sold n our pubs, to
ensure staff can asstst customers who ask
for gmdance Brand specific tramming also
highlights ABV information to managers
and staff as part of all new product
inductions ABV information and
responsible retailing messages are also
wncluded 1n some drinks menus and
promotional materials, to rawse staff

and customer awareness
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Conflict management

Mitchells & Butlers recognises that faiture
to idenufy and resolve potenual souwrces
of conflict in our pubs or on the door can
have sertous consequences As a result,
conflict management trainmg 1s
undertaken as appropriate within our
retail management training, helping to
reduce the nisk of serious madents and
better protect both emploeyees and guests

Confhct management traimng also helps
our staff 1o manage 1ssues asscaated with
drugs abuse Where there 1s any evidence
of such in our businesses, we move
rapidly to assess the situauon and take
appropnate, tough measures to resolve
the matter immediately

Industry partnerships

Mutchells & Butlers works closely with the
key authorittes, including the Police, Fire,
Local Authorities and the Government, 1n
pursuit of our commiument 1o responsible
retailing practices

It 1s Company policy for all pub managers
to jotn and support their local ‘Pubwaich’,
il one exists, which we belheve both builds
relationships within the area and helps
staff idenufy and resolve potenual ssues
before they escalate

Across the country, a number of individual
Miichells & Butlers' pubs have gained
recognuon from city councils and the
pohice for running safe, responsible
businesses via the Best Bar None Award
scheme and City Safe schemes

We support regional Crime and Disorder
partnerships and aim to parucipate fully
n the drive agamnst "binge drinking’ and
us related effects, as outhined 1n the
Alcohol Harm Reducuon Strategy for
England

We also support a number of Business
Improvement District schemes ("BID's) for
example Broad Street, Birmungham and
the current proposal for Nottingham

Licensing Act

The Licensing Act 2003 came nto effect
on 24 November 2005 From that date
hicensed premses have been able to
make use of any vartauons Lo previous
opening hours granted by the relevant
local authority

Mitchells & Butlers has so far apphed

for an average of just over one addinonal
hour per day per pub in making
apphications we sought to balance the
opportunity to offer our guests more
fletable opeming umes with respect for
local communines In the vast majority
of cases our apphcations were successful
We do not hold - not did we apply for —
any 24 hour licences

The Company’s expenience has been

one of successful implementanion, much
of this due to extensive education as to
the objectives of the Licensing Act and
training to ensure these objectives are
adhered to We have seen a margina)
mcrease 1n sales overall, but with less
pressure at closing ume and few instances
of disorder

Smoking bans
We believe the ntroductuon of the smoking :
bans will be beneficial 1o our businesses in
the longer-term They present us with a

real opportunity (o altract new customers, |
who did not previously use pubs because
of tobacce smoke, to come nto our pubs
and pub restaurants across the country

Our expenence since the bans came mto
force shows that our large pubs, serving
high volumes of good food at attracuve
prices, are already seeing this benefit
We're continumg to develop the
reputation of our pubs for serving

good food at good value prices, focusing
on mnovaton wn the developrment of
our menus and drinks ranges, to appeal
to a wider consumer base ansing from
the ban

Gaming

Mitchells & Butlers was involved n the
creation of the first gamuing industry code
of practuice 1n the 1990s that aimed to
prevent under 18s from playing pub
gamung machimes The Company has
contributed for many years — in cash and
i kind - to charnities such as GamCare
that work 1n the area of treatment for
problem gamblers In recent years, the
Company's contributions have been made
via the Responsibility in Gambling Trust
A Muchells & Butlers' senior manager |
15 a trustee in this organmisation \
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Corporate social responsibility
continued

Mitchells & Butlers, through uts support
of the Briush Beer & Pub Associauon,
has worked closely with the Gambling
Commuission on the drafuing of the
Gamung Machine Code of Pracuce, which
replaced the mdustry’s voluntan, Code
from 1 September 2007

Good feod

As the food supply chain becomes
increasingly complex, we take into account
a number of factors when purchasing our
food, including the health and safety of
our guests, food quality, provenance and
price With large scale nauonal brands
competing 1n different markets, we require
our supphers to guarantee the supply of
large quanuues of quahty mgredients for
the Life of a menu Our objective 1s to offer
competiuvely priced dishes of appropriate
quahty and provenance In some mstances
this means a regional supplier and 1n
others worldwide suppliers

The Company carries out an assessment
of the environmental policies and
practuices of 118 major food supphers
Growers and farmers who supply Mutchells
& Butlers are required to comply with the
Euro-Retailer Produce Working Group's
standard of good agricultural practuce,
known as the EurepGAP Standard

Mitchells & Butlers also abndes by the

Code of Ethics 1ssued by The Chartered

Insutute of Purchasing & Supply

Our guiding principles on corporate

procurement are to

» enable the Company to conduct 1ts
procurement activities in a safe, ethical
and professional manner,

* exclude supphiers that disregard healdh,
safety and welfare,

+ ensure all personnel conform with
national and EU laws,

* ensure representatives are far and
reasonable with supphers,

* exclude suppliers that exploit
people unfarrly, and

* uthise suppliers that preferenually
conserve the environment

We aim to offer a broad range of menu
1tems across our estate so guests seeking
healthier options have plenty of choice
Focus on menu development has enabled
us to offer guests more vanety, from
sharing ‘small plate’ dishes in Ember Inns
or hand-cut Marnis Piper chips in our
Metro Professionals format to the Best
of Briish range in Cornerstone, our
successful community pub format We
have developed fresh dishes that are
healthier and tastier, with a wider taste
profile and better provenance - for
example, organically farmed Shetland
salmon features on the new Vintage Inns
menu Vegetaran opuons are also now
available across all our pubs

LT Mitchells & Butlers
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We contimue to develop our menus with
the focus to improve numuenal content
In August this year, Harvester came top 1n
a nattonal comparison of famuly restaurant
chains, carried oul by an mdependent
dietician, on thew offer of healthy dishes
for chuldren

Following the successful launch of
nutritional data on the Harvester website
mn 20086, Toby Carvery will also be
launching a nutritional breakdown

of all menu 1items 1n late 2007

Environment

Mitchells & Butlers takes its environmental
responsimlites seriously and has a policy
of seeking continuous improvement,

with particular focus on recycling and
energy usage

We have an established recycling
programme for both glass and cardboard
i our businesses In the last 12 months
we recycled over 14,000 tonnes of waste

We are contimung to make excellent
progress 1n energy saving and,
September, we opened our first ‘green’
business, designed to tnal a number
of energy saving measures, at the Toby
Carvery, Banbury

Health and safety
The Company strives to provide a safe
environment for all employees, guests
and other visitors to 1ts premises and
to comply with relevant health and safety
legislation In addiuon, the Company
* aims to protect the health
of employees with suitable,
specific work-based strategies,
* seeks to mimimuse the risk of injury
from Company actvity, and
» ensures that sufficient resources
and informaunon are made available
and suitable management systems
are in place to address health and
safety matters

The Board 15 tesponsible fot enswing
that suffictent rescurces are available to
implement 1ts Health and Safety policy
Comphance with Company policy 15
monttored and audited centrally and a
comprehensive annual health and safety
report 1s produced for the Board

We use a major, independent safety and
assurance company to audit and report
on safety practices in all businesses
These mspections, which take place
at least twice a year, form an essential
element of our due dihgence and include
* mndependently vernified means

of monroring safety standards,
* consistent audit systems across

all businesses,

* an iwndependent assessment of
standards combined with techncal
support on 1mprovement, and

* educauon and training provision
for bustnesses faling to meet our
expectanions as to standards

In addition to the Company's internal

safety experts, leading consultants m the

fields of food safety and fire safety are also

retained As a result of the audis, the

management of health and safety, food ‘
safety and fire safety 1s constandy reviewed
and improvements made where necessary

Employees
Please refer to section on operational
excellence 1in the OFR on page 15 !

Community

Mitchells & Butlers 1s fully aware that !
each one of our businesses has an 1mpact

on 1ts local community We aim o ensure

that this impact 15 always posiive and we

pursue this through a carefully planned

blend of local and nauonal mitiatives

Our pub managers raise thousands of
pounds for chanity They are supported
via the Company’s Community Awards
and celebrated via the annual Heart of the
Communty Awards These recognise the
efforts of our employees in forging good
relations with their local communities

A prize fund of £25,000 1s collectvely
recetved by the award winners for
donation to their individually chosen
good cause

Our Employee Community Award scheme
encourages our employees to support

a chanity through therr own fundrarsing
activity or voluntary work Duning the last
year £40,000 has been donated by them o
variety of charuies as part of the scheme

Throughout the year we have also made
a number of in-kind donations such as
offering use of Company facilsties such
as meeting rooms, free of charge, and
donating comphmentary meals m our
businesses to local community groups
chariues and schools

Our brands are also are key supporters

of nanonal and local charines of their own
choice Harvester restzurants have raised
£33 500 over the last 12 months for the
children’s charity Make-A-Wish Foundation |
UK In March, Ember Inns taunched us |
second annual ‘Drink Pink’ fundraising

campaign for leading charity Against

Breast Cancer All Ember Inns pubs

donated 5p per glass of rose wine sold,

raising over £17,000 for the chanty
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Around 600 pubs including Ember Inns,
O'Nell’s and Hollywood Bowl offered
customers a free hot drink, 1n return

for a voluntary donarton, as part of therr
mvolvement in Macmitlan Cancer's World's
Biggest Coffee Morming in September

‘We have marked our third year of
partnership with Barnardo’s with a further
£50,000 donation Employees have also
supported the partnerships through
fundraising activities and raised an
additional £12,600

As a leading company with 1ts
headquarters in Birmingham we also
sponsor a number of successful arts
orgamsattons in the ary Partnerships
include the City of Birmingham
Symphony Orchestra (CBSO),
Burrmingham Royal Ballet (BRB), The
Birmungham REP and ExCathedra

Our spectal CBSO On the Road
programme enters its {ifth year of
communtiy based concerts, performed
by members of the orchestra around the
Midlands regton The concerts allow
communtiy Organisations 1o expertence a
performance from professional musicians
while providing an excellen: fundratsing
opportunity Qur long-standing relaucnship
with the CB3O was recognised n this
year’s Jaguar Arts & Business Awards,
where the partnership won the maugural
Champ:on of Champions award

This year our sponsorship of the
Burmingham Royal Ballet has secured
additonal funds from Arts & Business
enabling the BRB to host a series of
educatonal dance workshops tn primary
schools across the West Midlands

Including these addional funds from
Arts & Busmess, the Company’s total
corporate donations were over £215,000
{2006, £200,000)

Our role as good neighbours

Our pubs and pub restaurants play an
important Tole n the heart of thousands
of commumues across the UK As a
Company we committed to encouraging
and suppotting our businesses it this
community role Through schemes such
as Pubwatch and via our managers taking
part in Residents Association meetings, we
are able to estabhish better communication
and develop valuable discussion forums
for handhing and resclving local issues

The OFR’s intent 15 to provide
informauon to shareholders and should
not be rehed upon by any other parry

or for any other purpose This OFR,

and other sections of this Annual

Reporti, contain certamn forward-looking
statements with respect to the operations,
performance and finanaal condition

of the Group By their nature, these
statements mvolve uncertanty since future
events and circumstances can cause results
and developments to differ macenally
from those anucipated The OFR and
other sections of this Anmual Report
contain certain forward-looking stalements
which are made by the Directors in good
faith based on the informauaon available
to them up to the date of their approval of
the financial statements and the Company
undertakes no obligation to update these
forward-looking statements The forward-
looking statements should be treated with
caution due to the inherent uncertainties,
including both economic and business
risk factors, underlying any such forward-
looking informatton Nothing m thss
Annual Report should be construed

as a profit forecast

The OFR has been prepared {m the
Group as a whole and therefore gnes
greater emphasis to those maters which
are of sigmificance to Mitchells & Butlers
ple and 1ts subsidiary undertakings
when viewed as a whole
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report

for the year ended 29 September 2007
This Directors’ report should be read

in conjunction with the Chairman's
statement and the Operaung and
financial review (the 'OFR’) on pages 6
to 27, including the Chief Executve's
review, the Business review, the Finance
Director’s report, the Financial review and
Corporate governance report (which are
mcorporated in this Directors’ report by
reference} Details of the Group’s policy
on addressing financial nisks are given
w1 the OFR and detaids about financial
mstruments are shown in Note 21 to the
financal statements Together these
sections mclude mnformanon about the
Group's busmess, 1ts financial performance
during the year, likely developments,
and any principal risks and uncertamties
associated with the Group’s business

Principal actinites

Muchells & Butlers 1s the leading operator
of managed pubs and pub restaurants,
with an estate of 2003 sites as at

29 September 2007, principally located

m the UK, and with 42 pub restaurants

in Germany

Share capital

On 1 October 2006, the Company had
486,910,806 ordmary shares of 7%:p in
issue On 18 October 2006, having been
approved by shareholders, the share
caputal of the Company was consolidated
m the ratio of 34 new ordinary shares

of 8'%p for every 41 existing ordinary
shares of 74:p As at 29 September 2007,
403,779,693 ordinary shares of 8'%4.p
were 10 1ssue 1,241,969 of these shares
were held 1n Treasury and the Company’s
employee share trusts held 1,070,449
shares at the year end At the 2007 AGM,
shareholders passed a resolutton to permit
the Drrectors to undertake market
purchases of up to 40,346,510 of the
Company’s shares Thus authonty will
exprre at the earlier of the 2008 AGM

or 1 May 2008

Refinancing and return of funds to
shareholders

Following the refinancing that was
completed i September 2006 and the
share capital consolidanon that ocaurred
on 18 October 2006, the Company paid
a Special Dividend of £1 per share on
25 October 2006 as an intertm dividend
for the year ending 29 September 2007
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Final dividend

The Board recommends a final drnidend
for the year ended 29 September 2007 of
10 Op per share to be patd on 4 February
2008 to shareholders on the register at
¢lose of business on 7 December 2007
This makes a total dividend, mchuding the
Special Dividend, for the year of 114 25p
per share (2006 12 25p per share)

Secuniues and Exchange Commission
(‘SEC’) registration

Since hsung tn 2003, the Company

has been registered wath the SEC under
the US Securiues Exchange Act of 1934
(the 'Exchange Act’) However, the fact
that the presence of US shareholders

was largely a legacy of the demerger from
Six Conunents m 2003 and the mereasing
costs of maintainung thus US registranon
prompted the Company to seek to
terminate its Exchange Act registration
Following changes to the SEC rules
implemented 1o June 2007, the Company
was able to file to terminate 1s registrauon
under the Exchange Act This termmation
took effect on 4 September 2007 and
accordingly the Company no longer has
any reporting requirements under the
Exchange Act

Substantial shareholders

As at 28 November 2007, the Company
had been nonfied of the following
beneficial interests (3% or more)

in 1its shares

AXAS A 9 86%
Credit Suisse Secunties (Europe) bimited 528%
The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc 419%
Marshall Wace Core Fund Limited 4 07%
Legal & General Group Plc 4 03%
Elpida Group Limuited 4 00%
MF Globat UK Limited 3 85%
Deutsche Bank AG 3 68%
Violet Capital Group Ltd 3 00%

Directors

Details of the Directors who served on
the Board during the year are shown
on page 31 ‘There were no changes
to the Board during the year

Adam Fowle was appomnted to the
Board on | October 2007 Tony Hughes
will stand down from the Board on

31 December 2007

[nterests of the Threctors and their
unmediate families 1n the 1ssued share
capital of the Company are set out m the
Remuneration report on page 44

Dhrectors’ indemnity

The Directors have the benefit of the
indemnuty provision contained 1n the
Company's Articles of Association Thus
provision, which 15 a qualifying third party
indemmity provision as defined by Secuon
234 of the Companies Act 2006, was n
force throughout the last finanaial year
and s currently in force The Company
also purchased and mamtamned
throughout the financial year Directors’
and Officers’ hability msurance i respect
of wself and 1ts Dhrectors

Employees

The Group employed an average of
42,741 people in 2007 (2006 38,677)
Details of the Group's employment
policies are shown on page 15 of

the OFR

Employee engagement

Mitchells & Butlers 15 keen to encourage
employee parucipation 1n the Group's
success through share ownership and
operates the following share plans

Sharesave Plan

In June 2007, options were granted to
2,498 employees over 938,905 shares

at 711p per share, a 20% discount on

the market price On 1 October 20086,
the Company’s first Sharesave offering
mamured and 994 employees were able

to exercise opuions over shares priced

at 169p per share when the market price
was 586 33p per share Thus represented a
gain on thewr mvestment of over £22,000
for those employees saving the maximum
amount under the plan

Share Incentive Plan

During the year 115,121 shares were

allocated by the Share Incentive Flan
trustee as free shares to 9,967 eligible
employees subject to the plan rules

Executive Share Opuon Plan

Following the 2006 AGM, no further
awards are to be made under this plan
3,796,471 shates under optwon and
priced at 252 5p per share vested during
the year

Performance Restricted Share Plan
During the year, 65 employees were
granted nomnal cost optrons which

will vest subject to the achievement of
performance condiuons as set out in the
Remunerzuon report on page 38
1,033,897 shares under opuon vested
during the year




Short Term Deferred Incentive Plan

At the discrenon of the Remunerauon
Commuttee, Dhrectors may elect to take
50% or more of thewr annual bonus in
shares These shares are deterred for three
years A matching award of shares 1s made
by the Companv, which s 15 also deferred
for a three year period and 15 released
subject to the satisfaction of a three year
performance condition

252,979 shares were released under this
plan durning the year The Exewunve
Directors’ maximum accrued entitlements
for the year and for furure release are set
out on page 42

Headroom hmits

During the yeay, the Company has
remamned withim ws headroom limts

for the issue of new shares for share

plans as set out in the rules of the plans
At 29 September 2007, the position undex
the 5% in 10 years' lunnt for discrenionan
plas was that shares equnalent to 2 06%
ot the ordinary share capital had been
allocated and under the ‘109 i 10 years
limee for all share plans was that shares
equivalent to 2 4% of the ordinary share
capital had been allucated The Company
uses an kmplovee Benehir irust to acquime
shares m the market when appropnate to
satisty share awards

Health and safety

It 15 important to the Group to provide
and maintamn a sate environment for all
employees, customers and other visitors
0 1ts prenuses  The Group complies with
relevant health and saferv legisianon
Details are included on page 26 of

the OFR

Environmental and social responsibality
Muchells & Butlers recognises that it s
part of a wider community and recogiuses
that 1t has a responsibility to act i a way
that respedts the environment and the
soual welibeing of uthers A summany

of the Company’s approach to these 1ssues
15 set out on page 26 of the OFR

Policy on payment of suppliers
Muchells & Butlers ple 15 2 holding
company and has no trade creditors
The pohcy ot us principal operaung
subsidrartes 1s to agree partcular terins
with major supphiers and abide by those
terms, subject to sausfactory pedormance
by the supphier Amounts owed to other
suppliers are settled n the month
following thar m which the subsidiares
recewve a valid imvowe

Crverview Cperating Raports Accounts Shareholder
and financial information
review

Chartable donations and Audators

chantable acuvity

I'he Company contmues to support
communty imuatrves and chantable
causes, full details of which are given
on page 26 of the OFR

Pohtical donations

I'he Company made no political
donatons during the year and mrends
to mamtamn its policy of not making
such payments Tt wil}, however,

as a precavuonary measure to avord
madvertent breach of the law, seek
shareholder authomy at 1ty 2008 AGM
to make hmued dondauons or incur
himited political expenditure, although
it has no mtention of using the authoney

Going concern

I'he findnaial statements which appear

on pages 47 to 86 have been prepared

on 4 gomg coneern basis as, ateer making
appropnate enquines, the Diredtors

have a reasonable expectauon that the
Group has adequate resources to contimue
in operational existence for the
foreseeable furure

Annual General Meeang

The notke convenang the Annual General
Meetng to be held at 11 00am on
Thursday, 31 January 2008 1s contained
n a creular sent to shareholders with

this report At the meenng, resolutions
will be proposed to renew the authority
to 1ssue shares without applying statutory
pre-empuon nights and to authonse the
Company to make market purchases of uts
own shares Resolutions to make certain
amendments to the Artiles of Association
are proposed to bring the Company’s
Articles of Association in hne with age
discnminancn legislation and the
Companies Act 2006 In particula, the
Company 1 seeking the night 1o use
electronic means as the default method

of communicating with its shareholders,
tor example by using the webuite for
delnery of the Annual report and accounts

Shareholders will be given the opportunity

to elect to recerve a hard copy, rather than
recewve 1t by default as ar present Fuil
details of these resolutions are provided
m the shareholder circular

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed

then willngness to continue n office

as auditors of the Company and ther
reappoiniment will be put to shareholders
at the AGM

T he Directors who held office as at the
date of approval of this Directors’ report
confirm that so far as they are each aware,
there 1s no relevant audst informaton
of which the Company's auditors are
unaware, and that each Director has
taken all steps that ought to have been
taken as a director to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company s auditors
are aware of that mformation

By order of the Board
Bronagh Kennedy
Company Secretary

28 November 2007
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Corporate Governance report

Combined Code compliance

The Board recognises the unportance

of good corporate governance n creatng
a successful, sustamable and profitable
business It 15 committed to comphance
with the principles of corporate
governance as set out in the Combined
Code on Corporate Governance

(the ‘Combined Code’) and considers that
the Company has complied throughout
the year ended 29 September 2007 with
all the provisions of the Combined Code,
except where explamned below

The Board 1s responsible for the

Group's system of internal control and
risk management and for reviewing its
effecuveness In order to discharge that
responsibility, the Board has established
the procedures necessary to apply the
Combined Code, including clear operating
procedures, lines of responsibility and
delegated authority These procedures have
been 1n place since the Group was listed
and are tegularly reviewed by the Board

Business performance 1s managed closely
and, in particular, the Board and the
Execuuve Commuttee have established
processes, as part of the normal good
management of the business, to momtor

+ strategic plan achievement, through a
comprehensive series of strategic
reviews,

+ financial performance within a
comprehensive financial planmiag and
accounting framework,

+ capital mvestment and asset
management performance, with detailed
apprassal, authonsation and post
imvesunent reviews,

+ consumer msight data and acuons to
evolve brands and formats to ensure that
they continue to be relevant, and

* risk management, through an ongomg
process, which accords with the Turnbull
gwdance and provides assurance
through reports from Group Assurance,
that the sigrmificant risks faced by the
Group are being wdenufied, evaluated
and appropriately managed, having
regard to the balance of risk, cost and
opportunity
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[n add:tion, the Audit Commuttee recerves

* reports from Group Assurance on the
work carned out under the annual
mternal audit plan, and

* reports from the external auditors

Through the monitoring processes set

out above, the Board has conducted a
review of the effecuveness of the system

of internal control durng the year ended
29 September 2007 The system of
mternal control 1s dessgned to manage,
rather than eliminate, the risk of falure
to achieve busmess objectives and, as such,
1t can only provide reasonabie and not
absolute assurance agamnst material
misstatement or loss In that context, the
review, 1n the opinton of the Board, did
not indicate that the system was meffecuve
or unsausfactory and the Board 1s not
aware of any change to this status up

to the approvat of this Annual Report

Although the Company 1s no longer
required to comply with the requirements
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to cerufy the
cffectiveness of us financial controls, the
Directors remain fully commtzed to
ensunng that the Group operates a good
control environment

With regard to insurance against risk, 1t 15
not practicable to insure against every risk
to the fullest extent The Group regularly
reviews both the type and amount of
external insurance that it buys, bearing

m mund the availabihity of such cover, 1ts
cost and the likelithood and magniude

of the risks mvolved

Board and committee structure

To support the principles of good
corporate governance, the Board and
committee structure operates as set
out below

The Board

The Board consists of the part-tme
Non-Executve Chaurman, four Executive
and four independent Non-Execqutive
Directors

There are nine Board meeungs currently
planned for 2008, and there were eight
scheduled meetings dunng 2006/07

Sir Tirn Lankester and Sara Weller

were each unable to attend one meeung,
otherwise there was full attendance

Seven addiucnal Board meetings were
held during the year George Farweather,
Tony Hughes, Sir Tim Lankester and

Sara Weller were each unable to attend
one of these addinonal meetngs Where

a Drrector was unable to attend a meetung,
he or she was provided with all the papers
and informauon relaung to that meeting
and was able to discuss 1ssues arising with
the Charrman and Chief Execunive

The Board 1s responsible to shareholders

for the strategic direction, development

and control of the Group 1t therefore

approves strategic plans and annual

capital and revenue budgets It reviews |
signiftcant 1nvestment proposals and the

performance of past investments and

maintains an overview and control of

the Group's operaung and financiat !
performance It monitors the Group’s

overal} system of internal conwrols,

governance and compliance and ensures

that the necessary financial and human

resources are 1n place for the Company

to meet 1ts objecuves The Board has

established a schedule of matters which

are reserved for its attention which are

published on the Company's website

The Board has adopted objecuve written
criteria for the appontment of Directors
and the roles of the Chairman, Chief
Executive and Non-Executive Directors
have been defined m wriung

The Company Secretary's responsibilities
include ensuring good informanon fows
to the Board and its commuttees and
between senior management and the '
Non-Executive Directors The Company
Secretary 1s responsible through the
Chairman fo1 advising the Board on all
corporate governance matters and for
assisting the Directors with therr
professional development, as well as
facilitaung the inducuon of Directors Thus
includes regular corporate governance
and business 1ssues updates, as well as

the use of operational site visus and the
provision of external courses where
required The appoimntment and removal
of the Company Secretary 1s a matter
reserved for the Board




Directors
The following were Directors of the
Company during the year

Appolnted

Roger Car Chairman 100203

Tim Clarke Chuef Executtve 100203
Mike Bramley Managing Director,

Pubs & Bars 1504 03

George Farweather Independent
Non-Executive Director 15 0403

Tany Hughes Managing Director,

Restaurants 150403
Kanm Naftah Finance Director 150403
Sara Weller Independent

Non-Executive Director 1504 03

Sir Timn Lankester  Independent
Non-Executive Director 16 0503

Drummond Hall Incependent

Non-Executive Director 30 07 04

Adam Fowle was appointed to the
Board on | October 2007 and
Tony Hughes will stand down from
the Board on 31 December 2007

Directors’ biographical details are

set out on page 28 of the Annual review
and summary financial statement 2007
and these include their mam commitments
outside the Company

The Company ensures that Directors
submit themselves for re-election at least
every three years

Mike Bramley, Roger Carr and Drummond
Hall wall retire by totatton and offer
themselves for reappomtment at the 2008
AGM on 31 January As Adam Fowle was
appownted during the year, he will also
stand for reappomntment at the 2008 AGM

More mformaton about the Directors
standing for reappomtment 1s set out
in the AGM Notice

Details of the Executive Directors’ service
contracts are set out on page 40 The
Chairman and the four independent
Non-Executive Directors have letters

of appomiment

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financral infarmation
review

Chairman

Roger Carr 15 Chairman of the Board and
has responsibility for the smooth running
of the Board and for ensuring that all
Directors are fully informed of matters
relevant to their roles He also ensures
that appropriate communication 1s
mamntained with shareholders Roger's
external appointments include chaming
a FTSE 100 company and he s deputy
chairman of another On 20 April 2007,
the Company entered the FI'SE 100

As a result, the requirement in the
Combined Code that a chatrman should
not chair more than one FTSE 100
company 1s no longer met The
independent Non-Executn e Directors
led by the Senior Independent Director
specifically consiudered the impaet of
this and his conunued contnbution

as part of the Board effectiveness review
referred to on page 32 This confirmed
that he demonstrates through his energy,
commtment, wealth of experience and
dedicanon, that he 1s more than capable
of devoung sufficient time to his role of
Chairman of the Company alongside his
other external appointments

The Chairman separately met with the
Non-Executines without the Executrve
Directors present as part of the Board
Effecuveness Review

Chief Executive

Tim Clarke 15 the Chief Executive and
has responsibility for implementing the
swrategy agreed by the Board and for
the executive management of the Gioup
He has authonty to approve capital
expenditure projects up to a level
authonsed by the Board

Senior Independent Director
Drummond Hall was appointed

the Seruor Independent Director

on 23 February 2007 Sara Weller was
Senior Independent Director until then
Drummond’s responsibiliies include
bemg available to haise with shareholders
who have 1ssues to raise He 1s a member
of the Remuneration Commitiee,

the Nommnaton Committee and the
Aundit Commuttee

Non-Executive Directors

The Company has experienced
independent Non-Executive Directors
who represent a strong source of advice
and independent judgement In addition
to the Charman who was mdependent
upon hus appointment, there are

four Non-Executive Directors, who

the Board considers to be wholly
independent Other than their fees
which are disdlosed on page 39, the
independent Non-Executive Directors
received no remuneration from the
Company during the year When
Non-Executive Directors are considered
for appoiniment, the Nommanon
Commuittee will take into account thewr
other responsibilities 1n assessing whether
they can commut sufficient ume to therr
prospecuve directorship

All Directors are briefed by use of
comprehensve papers arculated in
advance of Board meetmngs and by
presentations at the meetings 1n addition
o receving minutes of previous meeungs
Therr understanding of the Group’s
operauons ts enhanced by business
presentations and operational visits

to the Company’s businesses Separate
strategy meetings and meeungs with
senior execulives are attended

Committees

The Commttees of the Board each have
written terms of reference approved by
the Board, which are availlable on the
Company's website

Audu Commuttce

The Audit Commuittee, which 1s chaired

by George Fairweather, consists of the four
independent Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman of the Board, the Chief
Executn e and the Finance Director attend
at the mvitation of the Commuttee's
Chairman Duning 2006/07 the Commuttee
met four umes

Further details about the Commuttee are
included 1n the Audu Comrmuee Report
on page 33
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Remuneration Commuttee

During the year, the Remunerauon
Commiuee, which 1s chaired by Sara
Weller, comprised the four independent
Non-Execuuve Directors and the
Chairman Roger Carr was appointed

to the Remuneration Committee on

1 October 2006, m line wath revisions
made to the Combined Code dunng

the year, although the Remuneranon
Committee noted that these changes come
mnto effect for finanaal years beginning
on or after 1 November 2006 This
Committee met s1x tmes durning 2006/07

Further details about the Remuneration
Commurtee are included in the
Remuneranon Report on page 35

Nomination Committee

This Commuttee consists of the Chairrman
of the Board, who chairs the Commttee,
the four independent Non-Executive
Drrectors and the Chief Executive The
Company Secretary 1s Secretary to this
Commuttee The terms of reference for
thus Comumattee are consistent with the
requirements of the Combined Code

The Nommation Commuttee 1s responsible
for nommaung, for the approval of the
Board, candidates for appomtment to the
Board 1t 1s also responsible for succession
planning and reviewing the output of the
Board effectiveness review It met three
umes durning the year to consider
succession planning and to recommend
the appomument of Adam Fowle 10 the
Board Although Sir Tim Lankester and
George Fairweather were each unable

to attend one meeting, they were
nevertheless provided with all the papers
and informanon relating to that meeting
and were able to discuss 1ssues arising with
the Chairman of the Commuttee

General Purposes Commuittee

The General Purposes Committee
comprises any two Executive Directors
or any one Executive Director together
with a senor officer from an agreed and
restricted list of semor executives It 1s
always chawred by a Director It attends to
business of a routine namre and to the
admistrauon of matters, the princples
of which have been agreed previously by
the Board or an appropnate committee
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Executive Commuttee

The Executnne Commuittee, which 1s
chaired by the Chuef Execuuve, consists
of the Executive Directors and certain
other senior executives as shown on
page 29 of the Annual review and
summary financial staternent 2007

The Executive Commitiee meets every
four weeks and has everyday responsibility
for the running of the Group’s business It
develops the Group's strategy and annual
revenue and capital budgets for Board
approval It reviews and recommends to
the Board any sigmficant mvestment
proposals

This Commuttee monitors the financtal
and operauocnal performance of the
Group and allocates resources within the
budgets agreed by the Board It considers
employment 1ssues, ensures the Group has
an appropriate poo} of talent and
develops senior management manpower
planming and succession plans

Board effectiveness evaluation

An internal evaluaton of the Board's
effectiveness was carned out shortly after
the year end, which included a review

of the performance of the Chairman

and of the individual Directors The
evaluation considered the processes

of the Board and 1ts committees, and the
range and balance of skills demonstrated
by the Executive and Non-Executnve
Directors It also reviewed the Duectors’
mvolvement i strategic, operational

and financial matters, and their exposure
to senior managers Output from the
Board effecuveness review 1s considered
by the Nominatien C.ommuitt¢e to ensure
that an appropnate balance of skills,
knowledge and experience 1s represented
on the Board and thar the Board and 1ts
committees conunue to work effectively

Independent advice

Members of the Board may take
mmdependent professional advice i the
furtherance of their duues and they have
access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary

Shareholder relations

The Board recognises that it 1s
accountable to shareholders for the
performance and acuvities of the
Company The Company has a regular
programme of meetings with its major
mstitutional shareholders which provides
an opportunity to discuss, on the back

of publicly available informauon, the
progress of the business The Chairman,
the Chief Execuuve and the Finance
Director report to the Board the views of
major sharcholders about the Company,
and the Semior Independent Director
and other Non-Executive Directors are
available to shareholders on request
Instintzonal mmvestors and analysts are
also mvited to briefings by the Company
after the announcement of 1ts mterim and
prelimmary results The content of these
briefings is posted on the Company's
website, together with general iformauon
about the Company 50 as to be available
to all sharcholders Presentations are also
made to groups of individual shareholders

The AGM provides a useful terface
with private shareholders, many of
whom are also customers All proxy votes
recerved in respect of each resolution at
the AGM are counted and the balance
for and against, and any votes withheld,
are indicated The Chairmen of the
Audit, Remuneration and Normination
Committees attend to answer questions




Audit Committee report

The Company’s Audit Committee has met
the requirements of the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance throughout

the year A copy of the Audit Commiuee’s
terms of reference 1s publicly available
within the Investor section of the
Company's wehsie

Role of the Audit Commitee
The Audit Commuttee’s principal
responsibilities are to

* review the Company’s public statements
on mternal control and corporate
governance comphance prior to their
consideranon by the Board,

review the Company’s processes

for detecung fraud, msconduct and
control weaknesses and to consider
the Company’s response to any such
occurrence,

review management's evaluation of
any change n internal controls over
financaial reporung,

review with management and the
external auditors any financial
statements requred under UK
legislation before submussion to
the Board,

establish, review and mamtain the
rote and effecuveness of the Group
Assurance function,

assume direct responsibihity for

the appointment, compensation,
resignation, dismissal and the
overseeing of the external auditors,
including review of the external audit,
1ts cost and effectiveness,

pre-approve non-audit work to be
carried out by the external auditors and
the fees to be paid for that work along
with the monitoring of the external
auditors’ independence,

oversee the process for dealing with
complaints recewved by the Group
regarding accounting, nternal
accounung controls or auditng matters
and the confidential, anonymous
submission by employees of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or
audiung matters, and

adopt and oversee a specific Code

of Ethics for the Executive Directors,
the Executive Commuttee and all other
seruor officers which 1s consistent with
the Company's overall statement of
business ethics

Qverview Operating Reports Accounts Sharehaolcer
ard financial information
review

Audit Committee composihon

The Audit Commuttee 15 charred by
George Fairweather who, as a Chartered
Accountant and the finance director of a
former FTSE 100 company, has current
and relevant financial expenence and 1s
considered 10 be the Committee’s financial
expert The Commuittee’s other members
are Drummond Hall, Sir Tim Lankester
and Sara Weller The Commttee wishes
to retain the knowledge, expenience and
Judgement of the Charrman of the Board,
but, reflecting recommendatons within
the Smith Guidance, Roger Carr 15 not

a member of the Commuitiee, but attends
at the mvetauon of the Commutiee’s
Chairman The Committee regularly
invites the external auditors, the Chief
Executive, the Finance Director and

the Director of Group Assurance to 1ts
meetings Discussions are however held
n private when appropriate All of the
Commuttee’s members are independent
Non-Executive Directors

Audit Committee frequency

The Committes meets at least four

tumes a year Duning 2006/07 four full
meetings of the Commuttee were held
There was full attendance at all these
meetings other than one at which Sara
Weller and one at which Sir Tim Eankester
were unable to attend On those occasions
all the papers and information relaung

to the meetings were provided and they
were able 10 discuss 1ssues arising with the
Committee Charman

Audit Committee process

The Committee discharges its
responsibilittes, as defined in 1ts terms

of reference, through a seres of Audut
Commuttee meetings throughout the year
at which detailed reports are presented
for review The Committee commissions
reports, either from external advisers, the
Durector of Group Assurance, or Company
management, after consideration of the
Company’s major nisks or m response to
developing 1ssues The Commmttee meets
privately with the external auditors and
the Director of Group Assurance at least
four umes a vear and hatses with
Company management tn considenng
areas for review

During the year, the Commuttee’s
meeungs considered the following
matkers

* Intenim and full year financial results,

* The Company's proposed approach
to Interim Management Statements,

The scope and cost of the external audut,

Non-audit work carried out by the
external auditors and trends 1n the
non-audit fees in accordance with
the Commttee’s policy to ensure the
safeguard of audit independence,

.

The scope of the annual mternal audit
plan, the Internal Audit department’s
terms of reference, s resourcing and
external support,

* The external auditors’ interim and full
year reports,

Periodic internal control and assurance
reports from the Internal Audut funcuon,

The eflfectiveness of the external
auditors and consideration of their
reappointment,

Pertodic reports on allegations made via
the Group’s whistleblowing procedures
and the effecuveness of these procedures,

The effectiveness of the Internal Audit
function,

The resignation and steps taken to
replace the Director of Group
Assurance,

Management representations granted
to the external auditors and the
Company's procedures to ensure all
relevant audu information has been
disclosed,

Major changes in the Group’s internal
controls,
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Audit Committee report

* The co-ordinauon of the internal and
external audit functions,

The Group's framework for the
identificanion and control of major
risks, 1ts Rusk and Assurance Register
and the annual assessment of control
effectiveness,

Compliance with the code of ethics for
the Executive Directors, the Execucve
Committee and all other senior officers,

Corporate governance developmenits,

-

Review of the steps taken by the Group
to achieve SEC deregistration,

Review of the suntability of the Group’s
accounting policies and practices,

* The status of hugauon nvolving
the Group, and

« The Commuttee's own terms of
reference, membership and us
effecuveness

The Company’s public financial
staterments are reviewed by the Audit
Cotnnittee in advance of thewr
considerauon by the Board Adequate
ume 15 allowed between the Commuittee’s
teview and the Board's approva!l for any
actions or further work requested by the
Commuttee to be completed

Evaluauons of the Commuttee n the year
have been perfarmed with the assistance
of the Director of Group Assurance
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External auditors’ independence

The Audit Commutitee has adopted a
policy on the uulisation of the external
auditors for non-audit work that is 1n
compliance with the Combined Code
The external auditors may carry out
certain specified non-audit work, 1n
areas that have been pre-approved by
the Commuttee, up to a monetary hmit
of half the audit fee per transacuon

and subject 10 an annual total cap of no
more than the audn fee Any other work
for which management wishes to utilise
the external auditors must be approved
by the Commuttee In this regard the
Audit Commuttee spectfically considered
and approved management’s request to
utihse Ernst & Young for one transaction
during the year where management felt
Ernst & Young were best placed to provide
the service

Approved by the Board

George Fairweather

Chatrman of the Audit Commuttee
28 November 2007




Remuneration report

This report has been prepared by the
Remuneranon Commuttee {the ‘Commuttee’)
and has been approved by the Board It
complies with the Comparues Act 1985
and also with the Combmed Code on
Corporate Governance (the ‘Combined
Code’) and with the UKLA Lisuing Rules
Throughout this report, references to
the year are to the 52 week period ended
29 September 2007, Thus report will be
put to shareholders for approval at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting

to be held on 31 January 2008

The Remuneration Committee
Throughout the year, the Committee
cansisted of the following Non-Executive
Directors

* Sara Weller

* Roger Carr

* George Fairweather
* Drummond Hal

* Sir Tim Lankester

Sara Weller s Chairman of the
Commuttee She has expenience of human
resources matters and has the appropriate
skills to chair the Commuttee She does
not chair any other commutiee of the
Board As noted last year, Roger Carr

was appoimnted 1o the Commuttee from

1 October 2007

There were six meeungs of the Commitiee
held during the year George Famweather
was unable to attend two meeungs,
otherwise there was full attendance
Whete a Director was unable to attend

a meeting, he was nevertheless provided
with all the papers and informauoen
relating to that meeting and was able w
discuss 1ssues ansing with the Charrman
of the Commttee Tim Clarke, the Chief
Executive, attended the meetings of the
Commuttee during the year at the mvitauon
of its Chairman No Executive Director
aitended on mauters relating to his own
remuneration

No member of the Commuittee has any
personal financial interest, other than as a
shareholder, in the matters to be decided
by the Committee The remuneration of
the Non-Executive Directors 1s decided

by the Board as a whole on advice from
the Executive Directors, supported by
independen: remuneration advisers to
the Company

The Committee recerved external advice
during the year from remunerzuon
consuliants Delotite & Touche LLP
{'Deloitte’) and Watson Whatt, as well

as from Allen & Overy, the Company’s
general legal advisers The Committee
took achice from Tim Clarke the Chiet
Execuuve, Bronagh Kennedy, Human
Resources Director and General Counsel,

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Sharehalder
and financial information
review

and Sheila Mellish, Director of
Compensation & Benefits None of these
participated in discussions concerning
their own remuneration Following a
review of advisers, Deloite was
mndependently appomted by the
Commuttee as 1s adviser from May 2007
Deloutte advises the Company on general
tax matiers and has previously advised on
Non-Executive Directors’ fees It has not
provided remuneration services to the
Company since appointment as adviser to
the Commuttee

The terms of reference of advisers to the
Commuittee are on the Company’s website,
as are the terms of reference of the
Commuttee 1tself

The Commuttee 15 responsible for
determuning policy on remuneration,
mcluding pension nights and, should

1t be necessary, compensatton payments,
for the Executive Directors, other
members of the Executive Commttee

and certain senior executives and for
reviewing the Chairman’s fees The
Commuttee 15 commutted to the principles
ol accountability and transparency to
ensure that remuneration arrangements
demonstrate a clear hnk between reward
and performance It determines the actual
remuneration of the Executne Directors
and reviews proposals in respect of other
members of the Executive Commitiee,
taking account of a range of factors,
including percentage increases awarded
across the Group as a whole Fo the year
under review, the total emoluments
including benefits in kind earned by those
members of the Executive Commuttee who
were employed m the Group at the year
end, and who were not mamn Board
Durectors, are shown m the table below

No of exacutives £000
] 301-350
3 351-400
2 401-450
1 §01-550

The rest of this report deals with the
remunerauon of the Execuuve and
Non-Executr e Directors only

Remuneration pohicy for Executive
Directors

The following overall pohcy has apphed
throughout the year and 1s intended

to contmnue to apply for the financial
year 2008

* Remuneration packages are designed
1o attract, retain and motivate Executive
Durectors of the highest calibre,

* The packages will be competituve within
the lessure retailing ndustry and 1in
those markets from which the
organisalion recruis,

-

In fixing remuneration, note will be
taken of reward levels in the wider
community and of the remuneration
structure throughout the organisation,

There will be an appropnate balance
between fixed and vanable risk reward
The latter will be linked to the
performance of both the individual and
of the Group, and

Basic salary will normally be set wathin

a competitive range broadly at median
market level when compared with
appropriate comparator companies, but,
by exception, may extend nto the upper
quartile to attract new employees and
reward key indmduals for consistent
outstanding performance

Overall reward levels depend on the
achievement of challenging corporate
and indnidual performance targets
designed to underptn the achrevement
of the Company s strategic goals,
ensuring conttnued close alignment
berween executive reward and enhanced
shareholder value “Io this extent the
Committee reviews, on an ongoung basis,
the operation of uts incentive schemes,
including the exercise of discreion, grant
levels, performance ariteria and vesung
schedules, to ensure thart they remain
appropriate

The Company measures 15 performance
aganst 118 strategy through four key
performance indicators (‘KPI's), being

! Same outlet like-for-hke sates growth

2 Earnings per share (EPS’) growth

3 Cash return on cash capital employed
{{CROCCE") m excess of the weighted
average cost of capual, post tax
((WACC)

4 Incremental return on expanstonary
capital

As outhined in the OFR, total shareholder
return ("TSR’) is also an important
measure of performance and this measure
forms one of the performance condiuons
for the Performance Restricted Share Plan

These KPls and their alignment ic
remuneration policy are summarnised
overleaf and are discussed m more detail
in the OFR on page 12

Mitchells & Butlers 33
Annual repart and aceounts 2007




Remuneration report

Summary of componeants of remuneration packages

Purpose

Annual performance bonus

Motivates achievernent of annual business KPIs
and delivery of EPS target,

Short Term Deferred Incentive Plan ('STDIP?

ingentivises growth in EPS and share price

Aligns interests of Executive Directors and
shareholders

Performance Restricted Share Plan [PRSP")

Incentivises Iincrease in cash returhs generated by
the busmess and reduction in overall cost of
funding

Aligns [nterests of Executive Directors and
shareholders

Basic salary

Reflects compstitive market lavel for the role and
indwidual contribution

The main componenis of Executnve

Directors’ remuneraton have to date
been as shown in the diagram alengside

Shares ansing from share schemes

should not normally be sold until the
mnimum level of ownership, as descrbed
on page 39, has been sausfied

The Committee monitors the size

of potential remuneration awards
to Directors and uses independent
consultants to assist with modelling
potentual outcomes

Of the components of the remuneraton
package, only basic salary 1s pensionable

36 Mitchells & Butlers
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Grant policy

55% of salary ‘on target' bonus, 100% of salary
maximum borus Payable i cash or shares at the
discretion of the Committee

Deferred shares matched 1 1 subject to
achievernent of a performance condition Dividend
Accrued Shares will be awarded on the value of
erdinary dividends accruing on vested shares

Up to 177% of base salary

Benchrnarkad against FTSE All Share Index and *
relevant sub-sector comparator group

These princtpies of alignment are cascaded as appropriata to executlves below Board lavel

Components of remuneration packages

Performance measures
2006/07

Earnings per share
{75%) and personal
and group business
objectives {25%4)
These obiectives are
based on a number
of measures including
ke-forlike sales
growth and return

on investment

Growth in EPS over
RPI over a threa year
performance period

Total shargholger
return aganst an

industry specific
comparator group

Average excess of
cash return on cash
captal employed over
the welghted average
cost of capital

indvidual contnbution

Fixed Performance-based

1
Basic salary

incentive

l
Annual bonus

+
Deferred shares
{STDIP)

G CIrca 409" memd  Guummmmsisaismmmiie CHTA G0 mmemtstrrr—sianstns

Short/medium-term

Long term
incentive

|
Performance shares

(PRSP

3
Share optons
(EXSOF)”

2007/08

Earnings per share
(75%) and personal
and group business
objectives {25%6)
Thesa objectives are
based on a number
of measures including
hke-for-like sales
growth and return

on investment

Growth in EPS over
RPI over a three year
performance period

Total sharehoider
raturn against an
ndustry specific
comparator group

Average excess of
cash return on cash
capital employed over
the weighted average
cost of capital

Indradual contribution

‘No further options
under the EXSOP
were granted following
the 2006 AGM

*Using target or
projected value
calculatlons




Basic salary

Basic salary will normally be set wathin a
compenuve range broadly at median
maiket level As previously reported, from
2007 onwards, the Committee deaded
that by exception, basic salary may extend
mto the upper guarole to attract new
employees and reward key indmviduals for
consistent outstanding performance Basic
salary 15 based on individual performance
and on mformation from mdependent
professional sources on the salary levels
for similar jobs in comparator companies
Salary levels in the Group and n the
wider employment market are also taken
1nto account

The proportien of the Group’s basic salary
bill attributable to the Executive Directors
and other members of the Executve
Commuttee was 0 8% (2006 0 8%%)

The average basic salary of the Executne
Directors, on the basis that no short-term
bonus was paid during the year, was
£419,250 (2006 £710,250) and the
average per non-Board employee was
£13,686 (2006 £13,387), the rato 1s
therefore T 31 (2006 1 53) The Board and
the Remuneration Committee do not have
a policy on this rano, but aim to reward all
employees fairly according 1o the nature
of thewr role, ther performance and
market forces

In the year under review, the average
base salary increase for members of the
Execuuve Committee, which includes

the Executive Directors was 3 4%, whereas
the average increase for other employees,
including retail staff and management,
was 2 3%

Annual performance bonus and Short
Term Deferred Incentive Plan

The purpese of the annual bonus and
STDIP s to 1eward participants for
performance over the previous finanaal
year and provide an element of retention
through a matching share award gomng
forwards

Parucipation 1s considered each year, at
the discretion of the Commitiee

Overview Operating Reports Agcountis Shareholder
and financial infermation
review

Challenging performance goals are set
which must be achieved before a bonus
becomes payable For 2006/07, the
maximuin bonus opportunuty has been
100% of salary of which, for the year to
29 September 2007, 75% was linked to
earnings per share and 25% to personal
and Group business objecuves At the
discreuon of the Commuttee, the bonus 15
payable either in cash or i shares under
the STDIP as set out below

During the year, certain hedging
mstruments (‘hedges’) were taken out 1n
anuapation of implemenung a property
backed refinancing These hedges have
given Tise to a non-cash deficit at the

year end As 1t 15 uncertair whether this
non-cash deficit will crystallise and,

if so, the extent to which it will affect the
financial performance of the Company,
the Executive Directors have voluntanly
offered to freeze final consideration of
whether a bonus should be paid i respect
of the year to 29 September 2007 pending
a review by the Remuneration Commitiee
at the forthcoming half year or later, 1f
appropriate

Under the STDIF, any award of Bonus
Shares 15 deferred for three years and, if
the Executive Director 15 1o the Company’s
employment at the end of that period, the
Company will provide Matching Shares on
a1l t basis Under the rutes of the STDIR
the Remunerauon Commaittee has
discreton to award Matching Shares, on

a pro rata basis and subject to satisfaction
of the performance condition, to geod
leavers, as defined by the plan rules

Vesung of Matching Shares uikes place
subject to the achiesement of a three
year performance condition There 1s no
retesung of the performance condiuon
over the three year period

As 1t has not yet been determined whether
1t 15 appropriate to make payment of the
Execuuve Directors’ bonuses in respect of
the financial year 2006/07 as explained
above, ihere may also be no award of
Bonus or Matchmg Shares

Where Matching Shares have been
awarded, the performance condiion has
been hased on EPS growth

For the award 1n respect of the financial
year 2004/05, the performance condition
15 based on growth in EPS such that
cumulatrve EPS over the three year
performance period must increase by at
least 27% points over the growth in RP[
before Maiching Shares can vest in full
The vesting of Matching Shares will be
on a shiding scale according to the level
of EPS growith No Matching Shares wall
be released unless EPS growth over the
performance period exceeds RPL growth
by at least 129 poinis

For the award 1n respect of the financial
year 2005/06, the performance measure
1s as described above except that the
performance condition 1s based on
average EPS growth m excess of RPI over
the performance period

EPS growth has been chosen because 1t
15 a measure which reflects movement
in shareholder value The Company’s
auditors review and cerufy performance

agamst the target

Where an award 15 made, parucipants are
enutled to recerve Dinvidend Accrued
Shaies on vesting equal to the value of the
gross ordinary dividends that would have
been paid on the vested shares during the
perfoimance period
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Performance Restricted Share Plan

The PRSP grants Executn e Directors,

at the discretion of the Commuttee, cash
or nomunal priced options over shares
subject to the sausfacuon of a performance
conditton set by the Commuttee which

1s measured over a three year period
Participants are entitled to recerve Dvidend
Accrued Shares on vesung equal to the
value of the gross ordinary dividends that
would have been paid on the vested shares
during the perfoimance period

Currently, three cycles are being cperated
1n respect of the pertods 2004/07, 2005/08
and 2006/09, each with two performance
conditions, based on

* Total shareholder return, and

* Cash return on cash caputal employed
exceeding the weighted average cost
of caputal, post tax

PRSP performance cycle to September
2009 - Summary of performance
conditions

Minimum Maxirmum

vesting vesting

TSR {50%) Equal to Equal to
5th place 1st place

20% vesting 100% vesting

Average CROCCE Excess of 4 0% Excess of 5 5%
vs WACC (50%) 20% vesting 100% vesting

TSR was chosen as a measure because 1t
aligns the interest of management with
that of shareholders The CROCCE versus
WACC measure was chosen to imcentivise
the Executrve Directors to increase the
cash returns generated by the business
and to reduce the overall cost of funding
to the Company, thereby maximising the
spread between the two and increasing
shareholder value

Performance measurement under the
PRSP 1s reviewed and cerufied by the
Company s auditors
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TSR measure

For each cycle, 50% of the award 13
measured by reference o TSR performance
aganst a comparator group of other
companies which, at the date of award,
consisted of

Cycleto Cycleto Cycle to
Company Sep 2007 Sep 2008 Sep 2009
Enterprise inns . . .
Fuller, Smith and Turner . . .
Greens King . - .
J D Wetherspocn . - .
Lumienar L] L3 -
Punch Taverns . . .
Regent inng . . o
The Restaurant Group . - -
Whitbread . » .
Marstons® . . .
Gondola Holdings™ . .

*Farmarty known as Wolverhampton & Dudley
**Gondofa Holdings was added to the comparator
group for the cycles to September 2008 and
September 2009 {ollowing its histing w 2005 and
removed following its dellsting at the end of 2006

For the three year cycle ending September
2007, the Company had to fimsh n first
to fifth posiuon for an award to vest,
graded between 100% of the TSR element
of the award for first pesiuon to 20%

for fifth posiuen Below fifth position,

the award relating to TSR lapses The
Company fimshed 1n second posiuon so
80% of this element of the award will vest

For the three year cycles ending
September 2008 and September 2009,
the Company has to finish 1n first to fifth
position for an award to vest Below fifth
posiuon, the award relating to TSR lapses

CROCCE/WACC measure

The vesung of the other 50% of the award
15 based on the average amount by which
the Company's CROCCE exceeds WACC
over the performance pertod The award
for this element of the performance
measure 15 graded so that, for the three
year ¢ycle ending September 2007, if the
amount by which the CROCCE exceeds
the WACC over the performance pertod 15
at least 5 0% pomnts, 100% of the CROCCE
element of the award will vest, whereas,

if the excess 1s 3 5% points, 20% of the
award will vest In between 3 5% points
and 5 0% ponts, the award will be graded
on a strasght line basis Below 3 5% pounts,
there will be no award 1n respect of this
element The excess of CROCCE over
WACC for the cycle to September 2007
was 4 47% pouwnts, therefore 71 7% of this
element of the award will vest

For the three year cycles ending
September 2008 and September 2009,
the vesting of the other 50% 15 based on
the excess of CROCCE over WACC as
described above, except that, for the cycle
to September 2009, if the amount by
which the CROCCE exceeds the WACC
over the performance period 1s at least
5 5% points, 100% of the CROCCE
element of the award will vest, whereas,
if the excess 1s 4 (% points, 20% will vest

Executive Share Option Plan (‘EXSOP?)
Grants of EXSOP opuons were made
annually up to June 2005 No further
grant 1s intended to be made under this
plan Grants were made at the discreuon
of the Committee according Lo semorty,
the maximum value 1n any one year being
two umes salary A performance condwon,
set by the Committee, has to be met
before the opuons may be exerased For
options granted 1 2003, the performance
measure 1s that cumnulati e adjusted EPS
over the three year performance period,
from | October 2004 to 30 September
2007, must increase by at least 27% pomnts
over the growth mn RPI before the options
can be exercised in full As this performance
condition has been achieved, 100% of the
opuions will become exercisable three years
after the date of grant The performance
measure under the EXSOP was reviewed
and cerufied by the Company’s auditors

The latest lapse date under this plan for
options previously granted 1s June 2015

Rolted-over legacy options

On demerger from Six Conunents,

the Group's executives, including the
Executive Directors, with outstanding
options under the S1x Continents
Executnve Share Opuon Schemes were
permitted to roll over those opuons mto
options of equivalent value over the
Company's shares The performance
conditons ceased to apply to those oprions
on demerger The latest lapse date for
these legacy opuons 1s 1 October 2012

Other share plans

Executne Directors may partucipate in the
all-employee share plans, che Sharesave
Plan and the Share Incenuve Plan
Performance targets do not apply to such
plans No grant of options was made
under the Sharesave Plan to any Director
during the year




Compames used for comparison in
respect of overall pay and benefits

In assessing overall levels of pay and
benefits, Mitchells & Butlers takes

into account the packages offered by
comparator companes To unprove the
consistency and relevance of the data,
the approach to benchmarking has, with
advice from Delotte, been reviewed this
year To ensure that the methodology
remains relevant to the structure of the
busiriess and properly reflects the markets
from which the organisation recruuts, the
overall levels of pay and benefits will be
assessed by reference to market practice
in both the FTSE All Share index, as well
as relevant sector specific comparators

The methodology and the comparator
companies are chosen by the Commaittee
following advice from mdependent
external consultants having regard 1o

* industry sector to mclude direct
compeutors and the wider retail sector,

* s1ze — finanaial size and the number of
people employed, and

* the structure and complexity of the
business

Mitchells & Bullers’ TSR versus
FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 15 04 03 - 30 09 07

Overview

FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 comparators
From uts bisung on 15 April 2003 unul
21 December 2003, the Company was a
consutuent of the FTSE 100 index From
22 December 2003 unul 20 Apnl 2007,
the Company was included 1n the FTSE
250 index Since then, 1t has been
included in the FTSE 100 index The
graph below therefore measures the
Company’s TSR performance, assuming
dividends are remvested, agamnst both the
FTSE 100 and 250 indices

TSR has been calculated in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies
Act 1985, except that the period covered
15 only since the Company's histing n
April 2003
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Directors’ shareholdings

To support the Company’s commitment
to ensure that Directors’ interests are
ahgned to those of shareholders, there 15
a mandatory shareholding of three imes
salary for the Chief Execuuve and twice
salary for other Executn e Directors

It 1s the policy of the Remunerauon
Committee that, for any future Executive
Direcior appoinument, the mandatory
shareholding requirement may be reduced
to one umes salary subject to this
conumung to be reflective of market
practice at that ume Notwithstanding
this policy, 1t has been deaided that
Adam Fowle will be required to attain a
shareholding of twice his annual salary
within five vears of his appointment as
an Executive Dhirector, effecuve from

1 October 2007 Apart from thus,

Adam Fowle’s remuneration package 1s
consistent with the remuneration pohcy
outlned on page 35 of this report

Each of the incumbent Executve Directors
had, at 29 September 2007, achieved the
mandatory shareholding to ensure that
thewr nterests are aligned with those of
sharcholders as set out below

Shareholding as a
Director multiple of salary”
Tim Clarke 91 x
Mike Bramley 68 x
Tony Hughes 75x
Kanm Naftah 52 x

*Based on the share price on 28 September 2007
of 611 0p

Non-Executive Directors

Non-Lkxecutive Directors are paid

a basc fee with addinonal fees fo
membership of the Remuneranon and
Audu Commuttees and for charing those
commttees No addiuonal fee 1s paid

for membership of the Nomunation
Commuttee The fees are approved

by the Board on the recommendation

of the Fxecutive Directors, based on a
review of the fees paid in other companies
of a similar size Fees are normally
reviened every three years A review of
these fees was last carned out 1 Apnl
2006 Non-Execuuve Directors do not
parucipaie i the Company's bonus
arrangements share schemes or pension
arrangements The fee structure
applicable throughout the financial vear
15 set out below

Committes Committee
Basic fee charman fee” member fee*
£35,500 £7.500 £6,000

*Applicable to Remuneration and Audit Committees
only
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Policy on Directors’ contracts

It 15 the Company’s normal policy to
provide Executive Directors with rolling
12 month contracts, which provide for
12 months nouce from the Company
and six months notce from the Director
Service contracts provide for summary
termination 1n the event of gross
musconduct In other arcumstances,

any severance payment would normally
be based on a valuation of net pay and
benefits for any unexpired notice period
mn the expectation that the Director has
made reasonable attempts to mingate
his loss There are no compensation
provistons in relation to a change of
control of the Company Benefits normally
include membership of a pension scheme,
a healthcare scheme and the use of a
company car In 2006 the Remunerauon
Commuttee decided to mtroduce, for
new appointees to the Board, contracts
that provide for phased compensanon
payments on loss of office This reflects
developing best pracuce and has been
applied 1n respect of Adam Fowle’s
appotntrnent on 1 October 2007

Contract
start  Unexpired Notice
Director date term” period
Tirn Clarke 150403 Indefinte 12 months
Mike Bramley 150403 Indefiite 12 months
Tony Hughes 150403 Indefinte 12 months
Kanm Nafiah 150403 indefinite 12 months

“To retirement age at 60 TFony Hughes will leave
Mitchells & Butlers by reason of earty retrerment,
sged 59, on 31 December 2007

No payments, ncluding compensation

on early terminatton, should normally

be payable on termination, other than

the salary and benefits due for the notice
pertod and such enutlements under
ncentive plans that are consistent with the
terms of such plans Any enatlement under
incentive plans will vest or lapse, subject
to the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee, in accordance with the terms
of such plans

Non-Executive Directors do not have
service contracts, but operate under a
letter of appointment which provides for
therr tenure of office 1o he reviewed when
they are about to stand for re-election,
which is every three years In any event,
Non-Executive Directors may not
currendy serve after the AGM following
thewr 67th birthday There 15 no nouce
penod and no provision for terminauon
payments

The dates of appointment of the
Non-Executive Directors are set out on
page 31
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Pension arrangements

UK-based Executive Directors and sentor
employees parucipate with other members
i the Mitchells & Butlers Executive
Pension Plan {the ‘Plan’) and, if
appropridte, the Mitchells & Butlers
Executive Top-Up Scheme (MABETUS’)
Executives m Germany who do not
parucipate in these plans are entitled to
parucipate in relevant local plans The
Remuneration Committee has considered
the impltcations of the penstons
regulations contained within the Finanee
Act 2004 effective from April 2006 The
MABETUS will remain 1n place and will
be used to provide benefits for members
of the defined benefit plan who were
above the earmings cap (the ‘Cap’) on

5 April 2006 and for members whose
pension benefit 1s above the Lifenime
Allowance, which lumts the amount of
benefits that receve preferennal tax
weatment under a pension arrangement
which has ‘registered’ status with

HM Revenue & Customs MABETUS 15
an unfunded, untegistered arrangement,
however, appropriate security 1s provided
through a charge on property assets

Thus deaision does not alter the cost to the
Company of providing pension benefits
No extra payment has been or 1s planned
to be made to any individual as a result of
the new legislation

The Plan 1s a funded eccupational pension
scheme which has ‘registered’ status with
HM Revenue & Customs and therefore

1s subject to preferential tax treatment
compared to unregistered schemes such
as MABETUS The Plan has a final
salary section under which the Executive
Directors can accrue benefits Benefits up
10 the Cap are provided by the Plan and
MABETUS 13 used to provide benefits

in excess of the Cap Mike Bramley has
entitlement to benefiis in excess of his
Lifetime Allowance, which are also
provided by MABETUS

The Plan's main features apphcable to the
Execuuve Directors are

+ a normal pension age of 60,

* pension accrual of up to 1/30th of final
pensionable salary for each year of
pensionable service,

¢ life assurance cover of four umes
pensionable salary

* penstons payable in the event of 1ll
healch, and

= on death, pensions based on one-third
full pension entilement for a spouse
and one-sixth for each of a maximum
of oo eligible children

On the death of a Director before his
normal pension age, a spouse’s pension
equal to one-third of the Director’s
pension 1s pavable, a child’s pension

of one-sixth of the Dhrector’s pension '
ts payable for each of a maxuimum of
two eligible children

Early reurement

A member who decides to leave the
service of the Company currently has the
right to draw his accrued pension at any
time after s 50th birthday, subject o a
discount for early payment

Pension increases

All pensions 1n excess of Guaranteed
Minimum Penstons are subject to annual
mcreases in hne with the annual nise in
the RPI, subject to a maximum of 5% per
annum In addition, 1t 1s the Company's
present aim to pay addinonal increases
based on two-thirds of any rise i the
RP1 above 5% per annum

Other discretionary benefits

Other than the discretionary pension
increases mentioned above, there are no
discretonary practices which are taken
mto account In calculating transfer values
on leaving service

External hsted company appoimntments
The Company recognises that s
Executrve Directors may be mvited 10
become non-executive directors of other
histed compames and that such dutes

can broaden expenience and knowledge,
which will benefit the Company Executive
Directors are therefore allowed to accept
one such non-execuuve appomtment with
the Company’s prior approval and as long
as this 1s not likely to lead 1o conflicts of
mterest Fees receved may be retained by
the Director Tim Clarke 15 a non-executive
director of Associated Briush Foods ple,
and recewved £45,875 (2006 £44,000)
during the year for that appointment

The tables and related disclosures on the
STDIP PRSP share optwons, Share Incentive
Plan and pension benefits have been qudited
&y Ernst & Young LLP




Remuneration report Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
Supplementary information and financial information
on Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ emoluments
Total emotuments
Basic Annuai {excluding pensions)
salgties and performance 2007 2006
fees bonus® Benefits 52 weeks 52 weeks
£000 £000 2000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
Tim Clarke 338 - 22 560 a51
Mike Bramley 374 - 21 395 643
Tony Hughes 374 - 25 399 645
Kanm Naffah 386 - 13 399 677
Non-Executive Directors
Roger Carr 224 - - 224 209
George Faurweather 33 - - bb 51
Drummond Hali** 47 - - 47 44
Sir Tim Lankester 47 - - 47 44
Sara Weller 55 - - 55 51
Total 2007 2,100 - 81 2,181
Total 2006 2,015 1,222 78 3,315

*Final consideration of whether a bonus should be payable in respect of the year to 29 September 2007 has been frozen pending a review by the Committee

"Drummond Hall’s fees were paid to hus former ernployer, Dary Crest Group plc, until his retirement from that company cn 31 December 2006

The figures above represent emoluments earned during the periods shown There were no payments for loss of office

‘Benefits’ incorporate the value of all tax assessable benefits arising from employment with the Company, which primarily relate to

the prowvision of a company car and healthcare cover

Annual perfermance bonus

Subject to final consideration by the Commuitee as set out above, the bonus which would have been earned but has been frozen 11

respect of each Executine Director for 2006/07 15 as follows

Maxirmum Group and

bonus Bonus  EPS target personal

achievable eamed achieved  objectives

Director £000 £000 £000 £000
Tim Clarke 543 462 362 100
Mike Bramley 380 329 25% 70
Tony Hughes 380 276 253 23
Karim Naffah 5490 382 260 72

To achieve maximum bonus, Directors had to meet targets related to

* the Company's earnings per share performance, and
* Group and personal business objectives

Group business objectives refated to

= inprovement in hke-for-like sales,
» staff producuwity,

* guest satusfacuon,

* effective purchasing,

* refurn on im estment,

* asset management, and

* return on the Acquired Sites

Personal business objecuves related to the financial performance of the business area for which the Director was directly responsible

Mitchells & Butlers
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Remuneration report
Supplementary information
on Directors’ remuneration

Salary

The normal salary review date 1s 1 January As at 29 September 2007 and 28 November 2007, the basic annual salaries of Executive

Directors were as shown below

29 09 07 and

281107
Director £000
Tim Clarke 543
Mike Bramley 380
Adam Fowle (from 01 10 07} 350°
Tony Hughes 380
Karim Naffah 390

“MNext review 15 scheduled to be effective from 1 January 2000

Short Term Deferred Incentive Plan

The table below shows the maximum Matching Shares receved or recevable based on some or all of the Directors’ annual
performance bonuses from 2003 onwards being deferred into share awards

Camed forward as at 30 09 06

Awarded m FY 2007

Totat Tatal

Valye of numberof number of
Vaiue of Number of Share price Matching  Matching  Matehing Total
Number of Share Matching Earllest  Matching onaward  Shares Shares  Shares yet Share value at
Matching pnce at Shares vesting Shares date awarded vested In to vest at pnce at 290907
Director Shares year end £000 date awarded 0512 6 £000 year 290807 290907 £000
Tim Clarke 86,758 589 5p 511 071207 44,187 721 5p 519 28852 102,093 611 0p 624
Mike Bramley 73,422 589 5p 433 071207 19,455 721 5p 140 16,269 76,608 611 0p 468
Tony Hughes 83,084 589 3p 490 071207 38910 7215p 281 18,891 103,103 611 0p 630
Karim Nafiah 61,404 589 5p 62 071207 21,121 721 Bp 152 20,314 62,211 611 Op 380

From FY 2006, all awards of Matching Shares have a performance conditon These are described ont page 37 The earliest vesung
date for the awards made in FY 2006 (ie 1n December 2005} 15 Decermnber 2008 and the earliest vesung date for the awards made in

FY 2007 (ie in December 2006) 1s December 2009

The table below shows details of the Matching Shares that vested during the year The number of shares vested were released subject

to tax and NI

Market

Number of Share Share value cfn Nat shares

Matching Award price on Vesting price on vesting date recewed after

Director Shares date award date date vesting date £000 tax and NI
Tun Clarke 8,894 091203 235 75p 1112 06 719 25p 64 5,240
19,958 0712 04 322 25p 07 12 06 720 00p 144 11,758

Mike Bramley 5,781 091203 235 75p 1112 06 719 25p 42 3,406
10,488 07 1204 322 25p 07 12 06 720 00p 16 6,179

“Tony Hughes 5781 091203 285 75p 111206 719 23p 42 3,406
13,110 071204 322 25p 07 12 06 720 00p 94 7,724

Kanim Naffah 6 226 091203 235 75p 11 12 06 719 25p 435 3,668
14,088 071204 322 25p 07 12 06 720 00p 101 8,300

The potential total gross gain made 1 the year by all Directors had they sold all their shares when they vested was £606,947

(2006 £332,261)

Performance Restricted Share Plan
Parucipation in the PRSP 15 by means of an opuon which 1s exerasable for nominal consideration, once the performance conditton

has been sausfied

In 2007, there were three cycles of the plan in operation, each with a three year performance period, as outhined below

+ Qctober 2004 o September 2007
The combined maximum award from the mo measures 1s equivalent to 90% of basic salary at the date of the award,

+ October 20035 to September 2008

The combmed maximum award 1s, as approved by sharcholders at the 2006 AGM, equivalent to 177% of basic salary at the date
of the award This change was applied 1n conjunction with the discontinuance of the EXSOP, and

* October 2006 to September 2009
The combined maxymum award 1s also equivalent 1o 177% of basic salary at the date of the award

Details of the two performance measures are set out on page 38
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The maxunum number of shares available, subject to tax and NI, if all performance targets are acheved s

Maxtrum Maxrmum  Maxmum

potential Shara potential potential

shares as at Lapsed Vestad Exercised price on Granted shares as at award as at Earliest

300806 in year in year ) year date of n year 2909 07 2903907 vestng Latest
Director shares shares sharas shares exercise shares” shares £000* date lapse date
Tim Clarke 586,978 61,337 143,117 143,117 684 61p 140,014 522,538 3,193 301107 301111
Mike Bramiey 503,220 40,290 94,008 94.008 684 61p 95,104 354,026 2,163 3011¢7 301111
Tony Hughes 303,220 40,290 94,008 94,008 684 6ip 95,104 354,026 2,165 301107 301111
Kanm Naffah 417,784 43,296 101,024 101,024 68461p 100,388 373852 2284 301107 301111

*Granted on 1 December 2006, share price at date of grant was 685 Op
~Based on the share pnca on 28 September 2007 of 611 0p

The potenual total gross gain made n the year by all Directors had they sold all thew shares when they vested was £2,958,586

(2006 £1,022,297)

Directors’ share options

Market
share
Ordinary shares under option Weighted Pnce of prica on
average option date of Earliest Last
option exercised exerclse exerclse expiry
Director 3009086 Granted Vested®  Exercised 200007 pnce (p) ) (23] date date
Tim Clarke
A 949,037 — 403,960 (456,620) 896,377 264 31 21900 694 42 - 240514
B 732,903 - (403,960) — 328,343 321 59 - - 240508 2405156
Total 1,681,%40 - - (456,620) 1,224,720 279 67
Mike Bramley
A 605,777 - 265346 (296,800) 265,346 252 50 21900 694 42 - 240514
- - - (58,842 - - 286 63 6594 42 - -
- - - (10,469)* - - 286 68 694 42 - -
- - — (101,044)* - - 95973 69442 - -
- - - (131,942)* - - 266 74 694 42 - -
- - - (1,948)* - - 30590 694 42 - -
- - - (4,732)* - - 364 46 694 42 - -
B 480,004 - {265,346) — 214,658 326 10 - - 240508 240515
Total 1,085,781 - - (605,777) 480,004 285 41
Tony Hughes
A 683,996 - 270,819 (296,800) 265,346 252 50 219 00 694 42 — 240514
- - - (120,251)* - - 259 73 735 10 - -
- - -~ (154,489)* - - 266 74 73510 - -
- - - {34,516} - - 286 68 73510 - -
- - - {34,795)* - - 305 90 735 10 - -
- - —  {43,145)* - - 364 46 73510 - -
- - - {5,473) - - 169 00 588 50 - -
B 485,477 - (270,819) ~ 214,638 326 10 - - 240508 240515
Total 1,169,473 - - (689,469) 480,004 2854l
Karim Naffah
A 510,862 - 285,148  (23,382)* 763,443 239 93 286 68 694 42 - 240514
B 516,581 — (285,148) (9,185)* 231,433 323 82 364 46 69442 240508 240515
Total 1,027,443 {32,567) 994,876 259 48

'During the year ended 29 September 2007 cptions granted in May 2004 under the EXSOP vested for each af the Executive Directors The number of shares under
option that vested dunng the year have moved from row B to row A
*Indicates the exercisa of rolled-over legacy share options

Shares under opuon at 29 September 2007 are designated as

A Where the options are exercisable and the market price per share was above the option price at 28 September 2007, and

B Where the opuons are not yet exercisable and the market price was above the option price on 28 September 2007

The potential total gross gain made in the year by all Directors had they sold all their shares when they exeraised the above share
options would have been £8,210,099 (2006 £845,633)

The abave table excludes potential awards under the PRSP
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Supplementary information
on Directors’ remuneration

Executive share options

Opuons granted under the EXSOP are exercisable between 27 May 2006 and 23 May 2015

Rolled-over legacy options

Rolied-over legacy options became exercisable on demerger from Six Conunents m April 200% and, 1f not exercised, will lapse on
various dates up to 2012 Rolled-over legacy opuons ceased to be subject to perfortnance conditions on demerger

Sharesave options

Sharesave options are exercisable between 1 October 2007 and 31 March 2009

No Directors’ options over Mitchells & Butlers plc shares under the EXSOP or Sharesave Plan lapsed during the year

Share Incentive Plan

As at 29 September 2007, the Lxecutive Directors had the following enntlements subject to the rules of the all-employee Share
Incentive Plan Awards made before the share consolidation on 18 October 2006 have been adjusted to reflect that consohdauon

Awarded Awarded Awarded Awarded Awarded
27 06 03 Normal 2806 04 Normal 3006 05 Normal 05 07 06 Normal 2906 07 Normal
@ vesting L] vasting =] vesting @ vesting @ vesting
238 5p date* 27t 75p date™ 330 0p date 519 75p date 876 op** date
Tim Clarke 754 270606 915 2806 07 754 300608 478 03 0709 342 2906 10
Mike Bramley 574 270606 866 28 0607 793 300608 462 0507 Q9 278 290610
Tony Hughes 6327 27 0606 866 280607 723 300608 462 05 07 09 278 2906 10
Karim Naffah 691 27 0606 915 2806407 754 300608 478 05 0709 292 2906 10
“The share pnce on 27 June 2006, the date of vesting, was 505 Dp
**The share price on 28 June 2007, the date of vesting, was 876 Op
***The share price on 29 June 2007, the date of award, was 879 5p
Directors’ shareholdings
Ordinary shares of B'3%.p
290907 3009 06*
Executive Directors
Tim Clarke 806,409 487,022
Mike Bramley 422,666 104,222
Tony Hughes 468,381 110,932
Karim Naffah 333,131 224,827
Non-Executive Directors
Roger Carr 27,470 17,470
George Fairweather 1,658 1,658
Drummond Hall 7,874 2,902
Sir Tim Lankester 1,017 1,017
Sara Weller 4,383 4,354

*Ad|usted for the share consolidation implemented on 18 October 2006

The above shareholdings, mcluding the shares held on behalf of the Executive Dunectors by the trustee of the Company’s Share

Incentive Pian, are all benefiaal interests

In the period from 29 September 2007 to 28 November 2007, there were no changes i1 the Directors’ interests

None of the Directors has a beneficial interest m the shares of any subsidiary or in debenture stocks of the Company or any

subsichary

The market price per share on 28 September 2007 was 611 Op and the range during the year to 23 September 2007 was 582 Op

to 898 Op per share
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Directors’ pension benefits

Increase

Transter value in transfer
of accrued pension value gver  Increase in  Increase in Accrued
year less accrued accrued  pension at
Years of Diregtors’ Directors’ penslon pension 290807
pensionable Age at contribution 30 09 06 29 09 07 contnbutions - Bl e
Director setvice 29 09 07 £ e g £pa fpa €pa
Tim Clarke 17 50 29,500 3,459,200 3,689,000 200,300 19,600 10,700 295,800
Mike Bramley 27 56 - 3,754,500 4,220,000 465,500 23,800 16,400 236,300
Tony Hughest 12 59 9,000 2,301,000 2,861,200 551,200 18,400 14,400 140,800
Karim Naffah 16 44 21,200 1,522,000 1,663,400 120,200 17,000 12,000 173,700

*Contnbutions pald in the year by the Directors under the terms of the plans
“The absclute [ncrease In accrued pension duning the year

~~The increase In accrued pension dunng the year, excluding any increase for inflation
“*accrued pension is that which would be pard annualy on retirement at 60, based on service t0 29 September 2007

1The value of acorued benefits and the increase n transter value far the year to 29 Septernher 2007 reflects |n part the decision taken at the discration of the Committee
after careful consideration and with the consent of the Plan Trustees to allow Tony Hughes to draw hls accrued pension without deduction on his early retirement, aged
59, from 31 December 2007 No specific additicnal contribution 1s or kas been made by the Company In respect of this early retirement

Tim Clarke and Karim Naffah are members of the final salary section of the Plan

Mike Bramley opted out of the Plan for future accrual with effect from 5 April 2006 and Tony Hughes opted out of the Plan for
future accrual from 81 March 2007 Death benefits up 10 the Lifeume Allowance will be provided by the Plan All other future

benefits will be provided by MABETUS

Members of the Plan have the option to pay Addinonal Voluntary Contribugions, neither any such contributions, nor the resulting
benefits, are included 1n the abave table

Transfer values have been calculated 1n a manner consistent with the Retirement Benefits Schemes - Transfet Values (GN11)
published by the Insutute of Actuaries and the Faculty of Actuaries

Approved by the Board
Sara Weller

Chaurman of the Remuneration Committee

28 November 2007
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Independent auditors’
report to the members
of Mitchells & Butlers plc

W have audited the Group linancaal
statements of Mitchells & Budless ple
lor the year anded 29 Seprember 2007
winch comprise the Group income
statement, the Group statement of
rccognised income and expense, the
Group balance shect, the Group cash low
statement and the related notes 1 to %4
These Group finanaial statements have
been preparced under the accounung
pohiaes set out theren

We have reported separatcly on the

paicnt comipany finanaal statements of
Mitchells & Butlers ple for the year ended
29 Scptember 2007 and on the mformanon
in the ircctors’ remunceration report that
is desaribed as having been auchited

I hus report s madle solely to the
Company’s members, as a body, m
accordance with Secuon 2445 of the
Companies Act 1985 Our audit work

has been under taken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those
matters we are reequired to state to tham
n an auditors’ 1cport and len no other
purposc  §o the lullest extent pormitied
by law, we do not accept o assume
responsibihity to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as
a body, lor our audit work, lor thas wepont,
ot for the apimons we have formed

Respective responsibilines of Directors
and auditors

Fhe Directors” responsibilities for
preparmg the Annual Report and the
Group finanaial statements in accordance
with apphcable United Kingdom law and
International Financial Reporting
Standards (1FRS™S) as adopted by the
Furopcan Union ave set out in the
Statement of duecon s” responsibilitics

Our responsibiliny 15 1o audut the Group
l[tnancial statements 10 accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auchtng
(UK and Ireland)

40 Mitchells & Butlers
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We rcport to you our opimon as to
whether the Group hinancial statements
mve a true and Lar view and whether

the Group finanaal statements have
been properly prepared m accordance
with the Companes Act 1985 and

Article 4 of the IAS Regulation W also
report to you whether in ow opinuon the
iformation given i the Dircctory’ report
15 consistent with the financial statements
The mformation given i the Dircctors’
report incluedes that spedfic iformatton
presented m the Operatmg and linancial
review that 1s cross relerred hom the
Business review section ol the Dicctors’
report

In addinon we report to you 1, o
opmion, we have not recewed alt the
mformavon and xplanations we requive
lor our audis, o il informaton speatied
by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transacuons 1s not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate
govarnance staicment rellects the
Company’s comphance with the nine
provisions of the 200% Combmcd Code
speaticd for our 1eview by the 1isong
Rulcs of the Finanaal Sarvices Authouey,
and we report i it does not We are not
requoed to consider whether the Board’s
statements on mternal control cover all
risks and controls, or lorm an opimon on
the cllectiveness of the Group's corporatc
governance procedures or s risk and
contol proceduies

We read othor informanon contamed

m the Annual rcport and consida
whether s consistent with the audited
Group linancal statements The other
mlormation comprises only the Operating
and financial review, the Directory’ report,
the Corporate governance statement,

the Audst Commitee report, and

the unaudited part of the Directors’
remuneration report We consider the
implicatons lor our report ff we beeome
awarc of any apparent misstatements

ot materiat mconsistencaes with the
financal statements Cur responsilalities
do not extend to any other informaton

Basis of audit opimon

We conducted our audit i accordance
with Internanonal Standards on Auding
(UK and Iredand) ssued by the Audiung
Practices Board An audit includes
exammation, on a test basis, of evidence
rclevant to the amounts and disclosures in
the Gioup financial statements It also
mdludes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments marde by the
chrectors in the preparation of the Group
finanaial statements, and ol whether the
accountng pohcies are appropriate to the
Group’s arcumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed

We planncd and pertormed ow audi

s0 as to obtamn all the mformation and
explanatons which we constdered necessary
i order 10 provide us with sufficient
cvidence to give reasonable assurance
that the Group financaal statements are
{rece from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other urregularity or
crror In formmg our opimion we also
evdluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Group
financial statements

Opinion

In our t)plm(m

—the Group finanaal statements give
& true and fare view, in accordance with
1 RSy as adopted by the Furopean
Union, of the state of the Group's
affairs as at 29 Septemba 2007 and
ol 1ts loss for the year then ended,

- the Group [inanaal statements have
heen properly preparcd in accordance
with the Compantes Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulanon, and

— the mformation given i the Directory’
report 1s consistent with the Group
financial statements

enth £ Yoy LLd.
Ernst & Young LLP

Regustered auditors

I ondon

28 November 2007




Group income statement

Overview

Operating Reporis Accounts Sharehalder
For the 52 weeks ended and floancid lormation
29 September 2007
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
Before Before
exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptlonal
ttems dems” Totat ems tems’ Totat
Notes £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,3 1,894 - 1,894 1,720 - 1,720
Operating costs before depreciauon
and amortisauon 4,8 {1,422) (11)  (1,433) (1,290) (7 (1,297)
(Loss)/profit ansing on property-related 1tems 9 - (23) (23) - 23 23
EBITDA** 472 (34} 438 430 16 446
Depreciauon and amorusation 14, 15 (129) - (129 (121) - (121)
Operaung profit 3 343 (34) 509 309 16 325
Finance costs 9,10 (153) (221) (374) (118) 4 (122)
Finance revenue 10 6 - 6 9 - 9
Net finance income from pensions 10 11 - 11 8 - 8
Profit/(loss) before tax 207 (255) {48) 208 12 220
‘Tax {expense)/credit 9,11 (62) 100 38 {64) 39 (25)
Profit/(loss) for the financial period
attributable to equity holders of
the parent 145 (153) {10} 144 51 195
Earmings/(loss) per ordinary share
Basic 13 35 5p (2 5)p 29 3p 39 7p
Diluted 13 34 4p (2 8)p 28 6p 38 8p
Drmidends
Ordinary dividends
Proposed or paid (pence) 12 14 25 12 25
Praposed or paid (£m) 12 57 53
Special dmvidends
Paid (pence) 12 100 CO -
Paid (£m) iz 186 -
*Exceptional items are explained in note 1 and analysed In note 9
“~Earnings before interast, tax, depreciation and amortisation
All actviues relate to contunuing operations
The notes on pages 51 to 86 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group statement of recognised
income and expense

For the 52 weeks ended

29 September 2007

2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
restated*
Notes £m £m
Unrealised gan on revaluanon of the property porticho 2 1,124 -
Tax charge relaung to movement m unreahised gain due to revaluaton 2N (317) -
Tax credst relating to mdexation of gamns in respect of previous revaluauons 11 25 19
Gams/{losses) on cash flow hedges taken 1o equuty 2 b5 (22}
Acttarial gamns on defined benefit pension schemes 8 33 27
Tax on 1tems recognised directly m equity 11 (23) 1
Tax credit in respect of change 1n tax rate 1 30 -
Income recognised directly in equuty 927 35
Transfers to the income statement
On cash flow hedges 21 15 16
Tax on wems transferred from equity 11 {3) {5)
Net income recognised directly in equity 937 46
{Loss)/profit for the financial perniod (10) 195
Total recognised income and expense for the financial period
aurtbutable to equuty holders of the parent 927 241
Effect of prior year adjustment 2 (76)

“Restated in respect of a prior year adjustment (see note 2 to the financlal statements}

The notes on pages 51 to 86 form an mtegral part of these finanaal statements
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Group balance sheet Overview Opgr;nﬂ:r?d o ePons Accounts Eﬂhﬂehddef
29 September 2007 bl ormation
2007 2006
restated*
Notes £m m
Assets
Goodwll and other mtangible assets 14 17 22
Property, plant and equipment 15 5,030 3,867
Lease premuums 11 13
Deferred tax asset 22 75 68
Derwvative finanaal instruments 2% 20 —
Total non-current assets 5,163 3,970
Inventornes 16 38 42
Trade and other recervables 17 69 81
Derrvative financial instruments 21 79 -
Cash and cash equivalents 28 117 375
Total current assets 308 498
Non-current assets held for sale 18 6 88
Total assets 5,472 4,556
Liabihities
Borrowings 20 (234) (41)
Dertvative financial instruments 21 (295) ¥
Trade and other payables 19 (243) (251)
Current tax habilites (18) {22)
Total current habhties (790) (321)
Borrowings 20 (2,317) (2,375)
Dertvative financial instraments 21 47) (55)
Pension habilines 8 (18) {99)
Deferred tax habihues 22 (723) (494)
Provisions 23 (1) (3
Total non-current habiliues (3,106) {3,026)
Total Liabihiues (3,886) (3,347
Net assets attmbutable to equity holders of the parent 1,576 1,209
Equuty
Called up share capital 24,26 34 34
Share premium account 26 14 14
Capital redempuon reserve 26 3 3
Revaluation reserve 26 828 -
Own shares held 26 (13) {12)
Hedgng reserve 26 20 (80)
Translation reserve 26 7 6
Retaned earnings 26 683 1,194
Total equity 1,576 1,209
*Restated in respect of a prior year adjustment (see nots 2 to the flnanclal statements)
The notes on pages 51 to 86 form an integral part of these financial statements
Signed on behalf of the Board
Tim Clarke
Karim Naffah
28 November 2007
~ ‘ - W
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Group cash flow statement
For the 52 weeks ended
29 September 2007

2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
Notes £m £m
Cash flow from operations 27 447 430
Interest paid (151) (113)
Interest recened 6 8
Tax pad (33) (48)
Net cash from operaung acuvities 269 275
Invesung actvilies
Purchases of property, plant and equpment (252) (179)
Acquisiton of Whitbread pub restaurant sites (8 (489)
Purchases of mtangibles (computer software) (1) (3)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 162 88
Proceeds from cash deposits with a manerity of greater than three months - 1
Defence costs ] - (4)
Corporate restructurimng costs 4 -
Net cash used 1n investing activities (103) {586)
Financang acuvites
Purchase of own shares {4b) (76)
Proceeds on release of own shares held 11 12
Repayment of principal in respect of securitised debt 20 (39) (460)
Proceeds from 1ssue of securitised debt - 1,078
Proceeds from ssue of other debt 192 -
Expenditure associated with refinanang (4) {10}
Repayment of principal in respect of other loans - (1
Dividends paid 12 {538) {56)
Net cash used 1n financing activities (424) 487
Net (decrease)}/increase in cash and cash equivalents 29 (258) 176
Cash and cash equwalents at the beginning of the finanaal period 375 199
Cash and cash equnalents at the end of the finanaal period 117 375

Cash and cash equnalents are defined m note 1

The notes on pages 51 to 86 form an mtegral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
For the 52 weeks ended
29 September 2007

1 General information

Mitchells & Buders plc {the ‘Group’) s
required to prepare its consohdated
financial statements in accordance with
Internauonal Finangial Reporung Standards
as adopted by the European Union (IFRS’)
and 1n accordance with the Companies
Act 1985

The Group has adopted a policy of
revaluing s freehold and long leasehold
land and buildings as at 29 September
2007 and these are now stated at fair
value Short leasehold properties, fixtures
and fittings are held at deemed cost and
non-current assets held for sale as at

29 Seprember 2007 are held at the lower
of deemed cost or expected net realisable
value upon their disposal

The change 1n accounung policy reftects
the adoption by the Group of emerging
best practice among UK listed companies
In addon, the Group has been pursuing
a property based refinancang dunng the
year, seeking to realise for shareholders the
potential vahuie of the Group’s property
portfolio The revaluation of freehold and
long leasehold land and buildings within
the Group s balance sheet provides
shareholders with a more representative
value than the historic cost basis

Certamn 1tems of property, plant and
equipment as at 30 September 2006 are
held at deemed cost under the transitional
rules of IFRS

The consohdated finanaial statemenss are
presented n pounds steriing (rounded to
the nearest million), being the funcuonal
currency of the primary economic
environment 1n which the parent and most
subsidiaries operate

With the excepuon of the change in
accountung policy noted above, the
Group's accounung policies have been
applied consistently, although certain
exempuons to the retrospective
application of IFRS have been made by
the Group 1n accordance with IFRS 1
‘First-time Adopuon of International
Financial Reporting Standards’

The Group’s accounting reference date

1s 30 September The Group draws up

its financial statements to the Saturday
directly before or following the accounting
reference date, as permitted by section
223 (3) of the Companes Act 1985

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial informatan
review

The preparation of the consohidated
financial statements requires management
to make judgements, esumates and
assumpuons m the applicanen of accounung
policies that affect reported amounts of
assets and habilities, income and expense
The areas involving a higher degree of
Judgement or complexiwy, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements, include
depreaation and arnorusanon, asset
impairments and pensions Actual results
may differ from esumates

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated finanaial statements
incorporate the finanaal statements

of Mitchells & Butlers plc (the ‘Company’)
and enuues controlled by the Company
(uts subsidianies) The financial statements
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same financial reporting pertod as the
Company Where necessary adjustments
are made to the financial statements

of subsidiaries to bring thew accounung
pehicies into lme with those used by the
Group Inter-compdny fransacuons, balances
and unreahsed gamns and losses on
transacuons between Group companies
are ehmmated on consolidauon

Intangible assets

1 Goodunil

Goodwill anising m respect of acquisiions,
bemng the excess of the purchase
considerauon over the fair value aurbuted
to the separately idenufiable assets,
liabihtzes and contingent habahues acquired,
18 stated at cost less any impairment

m value Goodwill 15 not amortised, but

15 reviewed for impairment annually

or more frequently 1f events or changes

n arcumstances imdicate that the carrying
value may be unpaired Any impairment
1s recognised immediately in the income
statement and ts not subsequently
reversed On disposal of a subsidiany,

the atmbutable amount of goodwll

15 included 1n the determination of the
prefit or loss on disposal

Goodwll ansing on acquisitions prior

to 30 September 1998 was eliminated
agamst reserves In accordance with [FRS 3
‘Business Combinations’, such geodwill
remams ehminated against reserves

and 1s not included 1n determining any
subsequent profit or loss on disposal

Goodwill denommated m foreign amrencies
15 translated into sterhng at each balance
sheet date and any movements are accounted
for as set out under ‘foreign currencies’

11 Computer software

Computer software and associated
development costs, which are not an integral
part of a related 1tem of hardware, are
capitahised as an mtangible asset and
amorused on a straight Line basis over
their useful hfe The period of amorusation
ranges between three and ten years with
the majoruy being five years

Property, plant and equipment

Within property plant and equipment,
freehold and long leasehold land and
burldings have been revalued as at

29 September 2007 to fair value Shori
leasehold properties, fixtures and fitungs
are held at historic cost and non-current
assets held for sale as at 29 September
2007 have not been revalued Surpluses
whuch arise from the revaluation

exercise are recorded drrectly within

the revaluation reserve unless they are
reversing a revaluauon decrease which has
been recogmised m the 1ncome statement
previously, in which case an amount equal
to a maxmun of that recognised in the
income statement previously 1s recognised
in income Where the revaluation exercise
gnes rise to a deficit, this 1s reflected
directly 1n the revaluavon reserve to the
extent that a surplus exists against the
same asset Any residual amount is then
recognised against income

Property, plant and equipment as at

30 September 2006 15 stated at historic
cost or deemed cost less accumulated
depreaanon and any impairment n

value Properues and land that had been
revalued prior to 26 September 2004,

the daie of transition o [FRS, are stated
as at 30 September 2006 on the basis

of deemed cost, bemng the revalued
amount at the date of that revaluauon
The use of the ‘deemed cost’ exemption
on transiton to TFRS means that there
were no revaluation surpluses in respect
of property, plant and equpment at

that date Consequently, the revaluation
surplus reflected 1n the revaluation reserve
represents the increase it valuauon above
the previous carrying amount, and any
downward valuations are recognised in the
Imcome statement
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

1. General information continued

Depreciation 1s charged to the income
statement on a straight line basis over the
esumated useful bives of 1tems of property,
plant and equipment Freeheld land 1s not
depreaiated Frechold and long leasehold
properties are depreciated over 5{ years
from the date of acquisition to thewr
esumated residual value Leasehold
properues are depreciated over the
unexpired term of the lease where this 1s
less than 50 years The cost less residual
value based on prices prevailing at the
balance sheet date of plant, machinery,
fixtures, fitungs and equipment 15 spread
by equal instalments over the estimated
life of the relevant assets, namely

Equipment i retail outlets 3-20 years
Information technology

equipment 3-7 years
Vehicles 4-5 years
Plant and machinery 4-20 years

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected lives on
the same basis as owned assets or, where
shorter, aver the term of the relevant lease

Expected useful lives and residual values
are reviewed each year and adjusted
if appropnate

Profits and losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment are calculated as the
difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset at
the date of dispasal

The carrying values of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed on an outlet basis
for impairment if events or changes m
circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable An
imparrment loss 15 recognised whenever
the carnying amount of an outlet exceeds
1ts recoverable amount The recoverable
amount 15 the lngher of an outlet’s fair
value less costs to sell and value 1in use

Where an mpairment loss subsequently
Teverses, the carrying amount of the asset
15 1ncreased to the revised esumate of

its recoverable amount, but so that the
mereased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrymng amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recogmised for the asset in

prior years A reversal of an umpairment
loss 1s recognised as income ummediately
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Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups

When the value of an asset or group of
assets will be recovered through z sale
transaction rather than conunumg use, the
assets are reclassified as non-current assets
held for sale, or as a disposal group, where
the assets are to be sold as a groupin a
smgle wansacton This condition 1s met
when the sale 1s highly probable and the
asset 15 avaulable for immediate sale n

its present conditton Management must
be commuuted to the sale and completion
should be expected within one year from
the date of dlassificaton  Non-current assets
held for sale and disposal groups are valued
at the lower of book value and fair value less
costs to sell and are no longer depreciated

Leases

1 Operating leases

Leases i which substanually all the nsks
and rewards of ownership are retained
by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Payments made under operating
leases and sub-leases are charged to

the mncome statermnent on a straight hine
basis over the perod of the lease Lease
meentives are recogrused as a reduction
in the rental expense over the lease term

Premiums paid on acquinng a new lease
are spread on a straight hne basis over the
lease term Such premiums are classified
in the balance sheet as current or non-
current prepayments, with the current
poruon being the element which relates
to the following finanaial period

1 Finance leases

Leases mn which the Group assumes
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases
Property, plant and equipment acquired
by way of finance lease are capitalised

at the tncepuon of the lease at an amount
equal to the lower of therr fair value and
the preseni value of the mimmum tease
payments The corresponding habiliry

to the lessor 15 included 1n the balance
sheet as a finance lease obligauon Lease
pavments are apportoned between

the finance lease obligation and finance
charges i the income statement so as

to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaming balance of the cbhgation

Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost
and net reahisable value Work in progress
15 in respect of property development
acuvines and includes the direct costs

of the developments and associated
professional fees

Financial mstruments

\ Trade and other recewables

"Irade and other recewables are recogmsed
and carned at onginal cost less an
allowance for any uncollectable amounts

i Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnise cash
at bank and in hand and other short-term
highly Iiquid deposits with an original
maturity at acquisiion of three months or
less Cash held on deposit with an original
maturity at acquisiion of more than

three months 15 disclosed as current asset
investments For the purposes of the cash
flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
consists of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and that are
mntegral Lo the Group’s cash management

1 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recogmsed
at original cost

v Borrowmgs

Borrowings, which inciude the Group’s
secured loan notes, are stated 1nually

at fair value (normally, the amount of the
proceeds), net of 1ssue costs Thereafter
they are stated at amortised cost using
an effective interest basis Finance costs,
whach are the difference between the net
proceeds and the total amount of payments
10 be made 1n respect of the mstruments,
are allocated over the term of the debt
using the effecuve mterest method

v Devwvative financial mstruments and

hedge accounting

The Group uses interest rate, mflation
and currency swap contracts to hedge 1s
exposure to changes 1 interest rates, the
retail price index and exchange rates It
also uses gilt hedges to hedge us exposure
to movements m the fair value of 1ts fixed
rate debt These contracts are destgnated
as cash flow hedges and hedge accounting
15 applied where appropriate Derm atve
financal mstruments are not used for
tradmg or speculative purposes




1 General information continued

Interest rate, mflaton, currency swap
and gilt hedges are imtially measured at
fair value on the contract date, and are
remeasured to fair vahue at subsequent
reporung dates Farr value 1s calculated as
the present value of the estmated future
cash flows

Changes n the fair value of dervauve
mstruments that are designated and
effective as hedges of mghly probable
future cash flows are recognised directly
mn equity The cumulatve gain or loss 13
transferred from equity and recognised
m the income statement at the same ume
as the hedged transaction affects profit
or loss The meffective part of any gamn
or loss 1s recogmsed 1n the income
statement immediately

Movements i the fair value of dervauve
mstruments which do not quahfy for hedge
accounting are recognised in the income
statement immediately

Hedge accounting 1s disconttnued when
the hedgmg instrument expires or 15 sold,
terminated, or no lenger quahfies for hedge
accounting At that pomt, the curnulanve
gam or loss 1 equty remains in equity and
15 recogrused in accordance with the above
pohcy when the transaction affects profit or
loss Tf the bedged (ransaction 1s no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gasn

or loss recognised in equity 1s recogmised
in the mcome statement rmmediately

vt Equty mstruments

Equity mstruments 1ssued by the Company
are rranslated at the fair value of the
proceeds recewved, net of direct issue costs

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are
recorded at the exchange rates ruling on
the dates of the transactions Monetary
assets and habilines denominated 1n foreign
currencies are translated mto the functional
caurency at the relevant rates ol exchange
ruling at the balance sheet daie Foreign
exchange differences ansimg on ranslauon
are recognised 1 the income statement.
Non-monetary assets and habilies are
measured at cost using the exchange rate
on the date of the imual wransacton

Cvervtew Operating Reports Accounts Sharehoider
and financial information
review

On consohdation, the assets and habihnes
of the Group’s overseas operauons are
translated 1nto sterling at the relevant rates
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date The results of overseas operauons
are translated into sterling at weighted
average rates of exchange for the period
Exchange differences ansing from

the nanslation of the results and the
retranslaton of operung net assets
denominated in foreign currencies are
taken directly to the Group’s translation
reserve When an overseas operation

15 sold, such exchange dufferences are
recognused in the income statement

as part of the gain or loss on sale

Revenue

Revenue 15 the value of goods and services
sold to third parties as part of the Group’s
trading actmues, after deducung sales-
based taxes, coupons and siaff discounts

The majonity of revenue comprises food
and beverages sold in the Group’s outlets
This revenue 1s recognuised at the point
of sale to the customer Revenue arising
from the sale of development property

15 recognised on legal compleuon of

the sale

Tax

The income tax expense represents

beth the income tax payable, based on
profits for the year, and deferred tax and
15 calculated using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date Income tax 1s recognised m
the income statement except when 1t
relates to 1tems charged or credited directly
to equity, in which case the income tax 1s
also charged or credited to equity

Deferred tax 1s recogmised on all temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and habhties for financial
reporung purposes and the amount of therr
tax bases No deferred tax 15 recognised

if the temporary difference anises from
goodwill or the ininal recogrtion of an
asset or liabihty in a transaction that 1s

not a business combinauen and, at the

ume of the wansacuon, affeas newher the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or

loss Deferred tax 1s not recogmsed in
respect of temporary differences associated
with nvestments in subsidiaries, where the
nmuing of the reversal of the ternporary
difference can be controlled and 11
probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future
The amount of deferred tax provided

15 based on the expected manner of
realisation or sewtlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilives Deferred
tax assets are recogrused only to the extent
that1t 1s probable that future tavable profits
will be available against which the asset can
be utihised

Employee benefies

1 Pension obhigations

The Group has both defined benefit and
defined conutbution pension arrangements

The liability recogrised in the balance
sheet m respect of the Group's defined
benefit arrangements 15 the present value
of the defined benefit obligation less the
fair value of the scheme assets The cost
of providing benefits 1s determmed

using the projected unit credic methed

as determined annually by quahfied
actuanes The current service cost, together
with the cost of any benefits relanng to
past service, 15 charged to operaung profit
The interest cost and the expected return
on assets are shown as a net amount
within finance income or finance expense
Acwiaral gains and losses are recognised
in full in the peniod in which they ocaur,
n the statement of recognised income and
expense, rather than the income statement

For the defined contribuuon arrangements,
the charge against profit 1s equal to
the amount of contribuuans pavable
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

1. General information continued

u Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-
settled share-based compensauen plans,
whereby, subject to meeting any relevant
condiuons, employees are awarded shares
or nghis over shares The cost of such
awards 1s measured at fair value, excluding
the effect of non market-based vesung
conditions, on the date of grant The
expense 15 generally recogmsed over the
vesting period and 1s adjusted for the
esumated effect of non market-based
vesting condinons and forfettures, on the
number of shares that will eventually vest
due to employees leaving the employment
of the Group Fair values are calculated
using a combination of Black-Scholes,
Bmomial and Monte Carlo sumulaton
models depending on the conditions
attached to the parucular share scheme

The Group has taken advantage of

the wransinonal provisions of IFRS 2
‘Share-based Payment' and apphed us
requirements to only those awards
granted after 7 November 2002 that had
not vested before 1 January 2005

Own shares

The cost of own shares held 1n employee
share trusts and 1n treasury are deducted
from shareholders’ equity untl the
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed
of Where such shares are subsequently
sold or reissued, the fair value of any
consideration recewved 15 also included

m sharcholders’ equity

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or construcuve
obhigation as a result of past events, 1t 1s
more likely than not that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the
obligation and the arnount can be rehably
estimated Provisions are measured

using the Directors’ best esumate of the
expenditure requured to seule the obligation
at the balance sheet date, and are
discounted to present value where the
effect 1s material
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Dmvidends

Dmidends proposed by the Board but
unpatd at the year end are not recogrused
n the financial statements untl they have
been approved by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeung Interim dividends
are recogmsed when pad

Exceptional items

Excepuional items are those which are
separately 1dentfied by virtue of their
size or incidence so as to allow a better
understanding of the underlying trading
performance of the Group Excepuonal
tems and the related ax on these are
excluded from the calculation of earnings
per share before exceptional items

Recent accounting developments

During the year, the Internauonal
Accounting Standards Board (IASE)

and International Financial Reporung
Interpretattons Commuttee (IFRIC)
tssued the following standards and
mierpretations with an effecuve date after
the date of these financial statements
They have not been adopted early by the
Group The Directors do not anticipate
that the adoption of the new standards
or revisons to existing standards will
have a material impact on the Group's
financial statements in the period of 1niual
adoption and expect that there will be no
material impact on reported income or
net assets The mmpact of [FRIC 14 will
depend on the balance sheet posiiton of
the pension plans in the year of adopuion
and mn particular whether a pension plan
surplus or deficit 1s recorded under

1AS 19

IFRS 7 ‘Finanaal instruments Dhsclosures’
and ‘Amendment to 1AS 1 - Capital
disclosures’ will require disclosure of
additional information relaung to the
Group's financial instruments IFRS7

1s first effective for penods beginning

on or after 1 January 2007

IFRS 8 ‘Operaung Segments’ replaces
1AS 14 and requires segment information
ta be presented on the same basis as used
for internal reporting purposes IFRS8

ts first effecuve for periods begmning on
or after | January 2009

Revised IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ which 15
first effecuve for periods begmning on or
after 1 January 2009, requures costs which
are directly atmbutable to assets that take
a substanual period of ime before they
are ready for use or sale, to be capitalised

IFRIC 14, IAS 19 —"TThe Limit on a
defined benefit asset, mimmum fundmg
requirements and their interaction’ 1s first
effectve for periods beginning on or afier
1 January 2008 and provides gurdance on
the amount of penston surplus to be
recogrused as an asset

Exchange rates

The results of overseas operations

have been translated into sterling at the
weighted average euro rate of exchange
for the finanaial period of £1 = €1 48
(2006 £1 = €1 46), where this 15 a
reasonable approximanon to the rate at
the dates of the transactions Euaro and
US denominated assets and lhiabiliues
have been translated at the relevant rate
of exchange at the balance sheet date
of £1 = €1 43 (2006 £1 = €1 47) and
£1 = $204 (2006 £1 = $1 87) respecuvely




2. Change of accounting policy and
prior year adjustment

As at 29 September 2007 the Group has
adopted a policy of revaluing s frechold
and long leasehold property portfolio to
market value, 1n accordance with the far
value provisions of IAS 16 ‘Property, plant
and equipment’ This 1s a change from the
previous pelicy, under which property,
plant and equipment was stated at hustorie
cost, except for certain iems of property,
plant and equipment held at deemed

cost under the transitional rules of IFRS
As stated 1n note 1 above, the change in
accounung policy reflects the adoption

by the Group of emerging hest practice
among UK listed companies In addition,
the Group has been pursuing a property
based refinancing during the year, seeking
t0 realige for shareholders the potential
value of the Group s property portfolio
The revaluation of property, plant and
equipment within the Group’s balance
sheet provides shareholders with a more
representative value than the histonie

cost basis

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial informaton
review

The impact on the financial statements
of this change 1 accounting policy has
been to
« mncrease the net book value of land and
buildings as at 29 September 2007 by
£1,124n,
* recognise an exceptional charge agamst
operaung profit i respect of
‘Impairment ansing from revaluatton
of the property portfolio’ of £45m
This umpairment reflects the difference
for all assets where the fair value of the
asset as determined by the revaluation
as at 29 September 2007 15 below the
net book value prior to the revaluauon,
the impact of the above 1s a net increase
n the value of property, plant and
equipment of £1,079m (see note 15)
This has been booked as an increase
on cost or valuauon of £1,042m and a
write back of accumulated depreciaton
of £37m,
increase the amount of the deferred
taxatton provision by £296m aher taking
account of the change 1n the rate of
corporation tax m 2008,
recognise an excepuonal deferred tax
credut of £13m i respect of ‘Imparment
arising from revaluation of the property
pordolio’, and
recognise a credit of £828m agamst the
revaluation reserve. representing the
revaluauon adjustment of £1,124m, plus
the related deferred taxation habihty
of £296m

As a result of the work performed to
enable a policy of revaluation to be
adopted, the Group has obtained more
detaited information 1n respect of the
valuation and tax base cost for indnadual
assets This informauon has enabled

the Group to adjust its brought forward
deferred taxauon provision as at

1 October 2005 to a more appropriate
amount The Group has mcreased

1ts deferred taxauon provision as at

1 October 2005 by £99m, with a
corresponding entry recognised in
retaned earnings at the same date Tt has
increased the tax credit relating 1o the
indexanon of gains n respect of previous
revaluanens n us statement of recognised
mcome and expense i 2006 by £23m
As aresult of this prior year adjusiment,
the deferred taxation provision reported
in 2006 has increased by £76m and the
amount of retained earnings reported

n 2006 has reduced by £76m
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

3. Segmental analysis

The Group'’s primary reporung format 1s by business segment and 1ts secondary format 1s by geographic segment The Group
has two main retail operating segments Pubs & Bars, focusing primarily on drink and entertamnment-led sites, and Restaurants,

focusing on food and accommodanon-led sites The other Group acuvity 1s property development which 15 undertaken by Standard
Commercial Property Developments Limuted (SCPD’) There are no inter-segment sales

2007 52 weeks
Pubs Retal
& Bars Restaurants Total SCPD  Unatfocated Taotal
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Sales to third parties 968 908 1,876 18 - 1,894
Operaung profit
Operaung profit before exceptional 1tems 191 145 336 7 - 543
Exceptional items (17) {10} (27) - (M) (34)
Operanng profit after exceptional 1tems 174 135 309 7 (7) 309
Net finance costs (357)
Tax credit 38
Loss for the financial period (10)
2006 52 weeks
Pubs Retal
& Bamm  Restaurants Total SCPD Unallocated Total
£m €m £m m £m £m

Revenue
Sales to third parties 958 762 1,720 - - 1,720
Operatng profit
Operaung profi before exceptional 1iems 179 130 308 - - 309
Excepuonal items 25 - 23 - N 16
Operaung profit after exceptional items 202 130 332 - (M 325
Net finance costs (105}
lax expense (25)
Profit for the financial period 195
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Overview Operating Reports Accounts Sharehaolder
and financial information
review

3. Segmental analysis conunued
2007 52 weeks
Pubs Retail
& Bars Restaurants Total SCPD  Unallocated Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Net assets
Assets 2,445 2,709 5,154 16 - 5,170
Liabihiues (123) {112) {235) (6) - (241)
Segmental net assets 2,322 2,597 4 919 10 - 4,929
Net debt (2,479) (2,479)
Other unaltlocated iabihities* (874) {(874)
(3,353) 1,576
Other
Caputal expenditure 110 150 260 - - 260
Depreciauon and amorusation 66 63 129 - - 129
“Includes balances refating to derivatives, pensions, deferred and cumrent tax and non-operating payables
2006 52 weeks
Pubs Retail
4 Bars Restaurants Total SCPD  Unallocated Total
restated® regtated”
£m €m £m £m m £m
Net assets
Assets 2,179 1,914 4,093 19 - 4,112
Liabilities {139) (106) (245) (1) - {246)
Segmental net assets 2,040 1,808 3,848 18 - 3,866
Net debt (2,067) {2,067)
Other unallocated habilittes** (590) (590}
{2,657) 1,209
Other
Capital expenditure 92 593 687 - - 687
Depreciation and amortisation 69 52 121 — - 121

*Restated in respect of a prior year adjustment (see note 2)

*Includes balances relating to dervatives, pensions, deferred and current tax and non-operating payables

Geographic segments

Substannally all of the Group’s business 1s conducted in the Uniuted Kingdom In presenung mformauon by geographical segment,
segment revenue and assets are based on the geographical location of customers and assets

UK Germany Total
2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m Em &m
Revenue - sales to third parties 1,859 1,685 35 35 1,894 1,720
Segment assets 5,181 4,069 39 43 53,170 4,112
Capial expenditure 257 686 3 1 260 687
Mitchells & Butlers 37
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

4. Operaung costs

2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 51 461
Changes 1n nventory of fimished goods and work 1n progress 4 (3
Staff costs {(note 6) 506 455
Hire of plant and machinery 34 34
Operaung lease rentals
— mimmum lease payments 46 45
— contingent rents 2 2
Other costs 330 303
1,433 1,297
Depreciauon of property, plant and equipment 122 114
Amornsauoen of mrangible assets & 7
Depreciation of lease premums i -
Deprecation and amortisation 129 121
1,562 1,418
5 Auditors’ remuneration
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Audut of the finanaial statements 01 01
Audit of the Company's subsidiaries 03 03
04 04
Other fees to auditors
~ US Sarbanes Oxley services - 01
— taxation and other services 01 01
— corporale finance services 05 04
06 06
The auduors’ fee for the audu of the parent company was £21,000 (2006 £20,000)
Substantially all of the auditors’ remunerauon was paid 1n the UK
6. Employees and Directors
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Costs
Wages and salaries 447 397
Share-based payments {note 7) 8 8
Total wages and salanes 435 405
Social security costs 37 35
Pensions (note 8) 14 15
506 455
Number Number
Average number of employees, incduding part-ume employees
Retail 42,740 38,676
SCPD 1 1
42,741 38,677

Detailed mformation regarding Directors’ emoluments, pensions, long-term incentive scheme entitlements and thew interests in

share opitons 15 given 1n the Remuneranon repoert on pages 41 to 45

58 Mitchells &Butlers
Annual report and accounts 2007




7. Share-based payments

The expense recognised for share-based
payments in the year 1s £8m (2006 £8m)
which comprises share option schemes
and share awards

The Group had six share optton schemes,
all of which are equity-settled, in operation
dunng the year

The vesung of all awards or options 15
generally conditonal upon participants
remaining 1n the empleyment of a
partictpating company during the
vesung pertod

Sharesave Plan

The Sharesave Plan 1s a HM Revenue

& Customs approved savings scheme,
whereby the proceeds from a savings
contract, of etther three or five years
duration, may be used to purchase shares
under opuon Options are granted at the
commencement of the savings contract,

at a discount of up to 20% of the market
value of the shares at the date of mvitation
There are no performance conditions

The scheme 15 open to all UK employees
provided that they have at least one year’s
service at the date of invitaon The vesung
period i1s 39 months or 63 months and
opuons may be exerused up 1o six months
after the vesung date

Share Incenuve Plan

The Share Incentive Plan 1s open to all UK
employees with at least 18 months service
at the date of award The plan awards free
shares to parucipating employees based
on salary, up to a masximum award of
£3,000 per employee per year There are
no performance conditions I'here 1s a
vesting period of two years (as defined in
IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’) from the
award date Shares are generally held in
Trust for at least three years and are
capable of being released o parucipants
at any uume thereafter

Short Term Deferred Incenuve Plan
Under the Short Term Deferred Incentive
Plan the annual bonuses of the Executive
Directors may be deferred into Mitchells &
Butlers shares with one matching share
awarded [or every bonus share From the
grant n December 2006 parucipants are
also enutled to receve Dividend Accrued
Shares on vesting equal to the value of the
ordmary dinidends that would have been
paid on the vested shares dunng the
performance peniod

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financtal information
review

Up to and including the grant n December
2004 (relating to the 2003704 bonus year)
there was no addinonal performance
conditton over the deferral peniod For

the grant in December 2005 (relaung

to the 2004/05 bonus year) an addittonal
earnings per share related performance
condition apphes n respect of the vesung
of matchmg shares Matching shares

will only be released in full if the Group’s
adjusted earmings per share over the

three year performance period ending

27 September 2008, exceeds by at least
274, the mncrease in the UK Retail Price
Index for the same pertod For the grant
in December 2006 (relanng to the 2005/06
bonus year) the earmings per share related
performance condition sull applies in
respect of matching shares, however 1t

15 now determuned with reference to the
average adjusted earnings per share cver
the three year performance penod exceeding
the UK Retail Price Index growth

All grants of opuons up to and including
the grant in December 2004 vest n three
equal ranches one year, two years and three
years afier the date of award For the
awards in December 2005 and December
2006 vesting occurs three yeas after

the award date Shares are transferred

to participants on vesting

All deferrals of bonuses into shares to date
have been enurely at the discretion of the
Remuneraton Committee

Performance Resmricted Share Plan

The Performance Restnicted Share Plan
allows Executive Directors and other eligible
employees 1o recene nominal cost opuons,
subject to the satisfaction of a performance
conditzon, set by the Remuneration
Commuttee, which 1s normally measured
over a three year period Vesung 1s
condinonal upon the achievemnent of total
shareholder return {"I'SR’) and cash remun
on cash capital employed (‘CROCCE")
performance conditons The vesung period
for these options 1s generally three vears
followed by a two year exercise pertod

For the options with the TSR performance
condiion, Monte Carlo sumulauons were
performed to incorporate the market
condinon n the measurement of the fair

value For all grants from 2005/06 enwards,

participants will be enttled to recewve
Dridend Accrued Shares on vesung equal
to the value of the ordinary drnidends that
would have been paid on the vested shares
during the performance period

Execuuve Share Opuon Plan

The grant of options under the Execuuve
Share Opuon Plan was discontinued
followmg shareholder approval of changes
10 Executive Director remuneration in 2006
The last grant of opuons under this plan
was made 1n June 2005 The option prices
were sct at an amount not less than the
average market value of a share over

the three business days immeduiately prior
to the date of grant Vesung 15 conditonal
upon the achievement of an adjusted
carmings per share related performance
condiion Adjusted earmings per share

15 basic earnings per share before
exceptional items

The vesting period for these options
ts three years from grant, followed by
4 seven year exeraise period

Rolled-over options

Under the terms of the separauon 1n
2003, holders of options under the

Si1x Contnents Executive Share Opuon
Schetnes were given the opportunity

to exchange therr Six Conunents PLC
opuons for equivalent value new options
over Mitchells & Butlers plc shares

The exchanged options are not subject

to performance condinons and were
mmmediately exerasable The latest possible
exercise date for any of the Rolled-over
options cutstanding at 29 September 2007,
1s 28 May 2012

Further details of the above schemes are
inclided i the Remunerauon report on
Pages 37 10 38

The following tables set out awards and
opuons granted durmg 2007 No options
were granted under the Executive Share
Opuon Plan or Rolled-over opuons
during the period
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7. Share-based payments conunued

Shart Term
Deferred Performance Share
incentrve Restricted Sharesave Incentive
Plan Share Plan Flan Plan
Number of shares/options awarded in FY 2007 247,346 1,445,698 958,905 115,121

The Group has used separate opuon pricing models and assumptions for each plan The following tables set out weighted average
informanon about how the fair value of each opuon grant was calculated

Short Term

Daferred Performance
fncentiva Restrictad Sharesave
2007 Plan Share Plan Plan

Monte Carlo

Simulation and
Valuation model w Binomual Black-Scholes
Weighted average share price 685 Op 869 5p
Exercise price - 711 Op
Expected dvidend yield — 1 80%
Risk-free interest rate 4 78% 5 19%
Volatlity® 24 0% 24 0%
Expected fe (vears)™ 30 38

Short Term

Deferred Performance
Incantive Restricted Sharesave
2008 Plan Share Plan Plan

Monte Carlo

Sumulavon and
Valuauon model Black-Scholes Bunomuial Black-Scholes
Weighted average share prnice 391 3p 401 Op 509 3p
Exercise price N = 401 Op
Expected dividend yield 327% — 327%
Rusk-free interest rate 4 23% 4 21% 4 80%
Volatilicy™ 26 0% 26 0% 26 0%
Expected hife (years)™ 30 28 40

® The exercise price relating o the Performance Restricted Share Plan 1s £1 per partcipating employee per exercise

® The expected dmdend yield input for the grant of Performance Restricted Share Plan opnions mn 2006 and 2007 1s zero as
parncipants are entitled to Dividend Accrued Shares to the value of the ordinary dividends pard during the vesung period

“The expected volatility 15 deterrmined by caleolanng the historical volanuhty of the Company’s share pnice commensurate with the
expected term of the options and share awards Where msuffictent share price data 15 available, competitor share price volatihry
data over a longer period equal to the expected hfe of the option or share award 15 considered

" The expected term of the options 1s taken to be the midpoint between vesting and lapse, except for the Performance Restricted
Share Plan where the terms of the plan resulted 1n 1t being advantageous for parucipants te exercise directly after vesung
In thus case the expected life has been assumed to equate to the vesung period

* The fair value of the Short Term Deferred Incenuve Plan awarded m FY 2007 1s equal to the share price on the date of award as
there ts no price to be paid and employees are entitled to Dividend Accrued Shares

The fair value of the Share Incenuve Plan shares 1s equal to the share price on the date of grant as there 1s no option price 1o be

paid and employees are enutled to dividends during the vesung period Hence the assumpuons set out above are not relevant to
this scheme

60 Mitchells & Butlers
Annual report and accounts 2007




Overview Operating Reports Accounts Sharehalder
and financiat information
review

7. Share-based payments continued

Movements in the awards and opuons cutstanding under these schemes for the years ended 29 September 2007 and 30 September

2006 are as follows

Short Term Perfurmance Share
Deferred Restricted incentive
Incentive Plan Share Plan Plan
Number of Number of Number of
shares shares shares
thousands thousands thousands
Outstanding at 1 October 2005 679 4,372 810
Granted 325 2,347 197
Exeraised {253) {600) (54)
Lapsed - (952) 74)
Outstanding at 30 September 2006 751 5,167 879
Granted 247 1,446 il5
Exercised {253) (1,019) (75)
Lapsed - (542) (14)
Share consolidanon® - - {149)
Qutstanding at 29 September 2007 745 5,052 726
Fair value of options granted during the period (pence)
At 29 September 2007 7215 477 6® 8795
At 30 September 2006 354 1 275 8™ 5150
Weighted average remaining contract life {years)
At 29 September 2007 1% 39 gy
At 30 September 2006 13 33 i

@ The allocated shares in the SEP Trust were consolidated as part of the share consoltdanon on 18 October 2006, resulung m a

reduction of 149,250

® For the Performance Restricted Share Plan the werghted average fair value 1s shown

#? Share Incentive Plan shares are capable of remaiming with the SIP “Trust indefinutely while participants conunue to be

employed by the Group

Exacutive Share Opbon Plan Sharesave Plan Rolled-over Qptions
Werghted Weighted Weaighted
Number of average  Number of average Number of average
shares option price shares ophon price shares aption prica
thousands pence  thousands pence  thousands pence
Opuons outstanding at 1 October 2005 11,322 263 1 4,932 199 3 7.222 2719
Granted - - 980 4010 - -
Exercised (1,475) 2217 (35) 173 9 (3,456) 268 9
Lapsed (107) 2977 (682) 2157 {665) 2552
Opuons outstanding at 30 September 2006 9,740 2689 5,195 235 4 3,101 278 7
Granted - - 939 7110 - -
Exercised (1,980) 2276 {1,316) 1696 (1,475) 283 8
Lapsed (1) 3261 (585) 292 4 - -
Options outstanding at 29 September 2007 7,759 279 5 4,233 3535 1,626 274 1
Opuons exercisable
At 29 September 2007 4,408 244 0 6 169 0 1,626 274 1
At 30 September 2006 2,592 2190 - - 3,101 2787
Fair value of opuons granted during the penod {pence)
AL 29 September 2007 - 274 1% -
At 30 September 2006 - 147 7% -
Range of opuion prices (pence)
At 29 September 2007 2190-3305 1690-7110 21453645
At 30 September 2006 2190-3305 1690-4010 2145-~3645
® Weighted average fair value has been shown for the Sharesave Plan
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7. Share-based payments continued

The weighted average share price during the perod was 737 4p (2006 458 0p)

Summansed mformation about opttons outsianding at 29 September 2007 under the share opuon schemes 15 as follows

Qptons outstanding Options exsercisable
Weighted Weighted
average Weighted average Waighted
Nurnbser remaining average Number remaning average
ouistanding contract life option prce outstanding contract life  option price
Range of exercise prices (pence) thousands years pence  thousands years pence
Performance Restricted Share Plan
Neghgible® 5,052 32 i 41 12 &
Execuuve Share Option Plan
2190 1,121 57 2190 1,121 57 2190
252 5 3,287 67 2525 3,287 67 2325
3261w 3305 3,351 77 3262 - -
7,759 69 2795 4,408 64 244 0
Sharesave Plan
1690 874 15 1690 6 - 1690
2000 927 12 2000 - - -
258 5 721 21 258 5 - - -
401 0 801 29 4010 - - -
7110 910 40 710 - — —
4,233 23 3535 6 — 169 0
Rolled-over options
181 4 t0 242 0 35 24 2145 35 24 2145
242 1t0 3030 1,447 35 266 6 1,447 35 266 6
303 1lto 3645 144 04 364 5 144 04 364 5
1,626 32 274 1 1,626 32 274 1

®The exerase price relaung to the Performance Restricted Share Plan 1s £1 per parucipaung employee per exercise
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8§ Pensions

Reurement and death benefits are provided for ehigible employees in the United Kingdom prnaipally by the Mitchells & Buders Pension
Plan (MABFP) and the Mutchells & Butlers Executive Pension Plan (MABEPP) These plans are funded, HM Revenue & Customs
approved, occupational pension schemes with defined contribution and defined benefit secions The defined benefit sections of the
plans closed to new entrants during 2002 with new members provided with defined contribuuon arrangements The defined benefit
liabihty relates to these funded plans, together with an unfunded unapproved pension arrangement (the Executive Top-Up Scheme,
or MABETUS) n respect of certain MABEPP members The assets of the plans are held in self-admmistered trust funds separate
from the Company's assets

The valuations used for IAS 19 purposes are based on the prelimmary results of the latest full actuanal valuanon carried out at

31 March 2007 and expected to be finabised in December 2007 updated by the Schemes’ quahified actuaries to 29 September 2007
Scheme assets are stated at market value at 29 September 2007 and the habihues of the schemes have been assessed as at the same
date using the projected unut method As the defined benefit sections of the pension plans are now closed to new members, the
current service cost as calculated under the projected umit method will increase as members approach reurement

In the 52 weeks ended 29 September 2007, the Group paid regular conurtbunions of £10m (2006 £11m) and addinional contributions
of £40m (2006 £20m) 1n respect of the defined benefit arrangements In addition the Group paid £1m (2006 £1m) 1n respect of the
defined contributon arrangements

The preliminary results of the 2007 actuarial valuation showed a funding deficit using a more prudent basis to discount the scheme
habilittes than 1s required by IAS 19 and a formal recovery plan to 2017 15 being finalised with the Trustees The result of this 1s that
the Group will make addittonal contributions of £24m n the 52 weeks ending 27 September 2008, of which £20m represents the final
mstalment of the previously agreed schedule of contribuuons This will be followed by further additional contnbutions of £24m n
each of the financial years 2009 and 2010, as part of the recovery plan wo close the deficit by 2017 The level of addinonal contributions
will be subject to review during the next actuarial valuauon as at 31 March 2010 Employer contribution rates to the defined benefit
arrangements for the 52 weeks ending 27 September 2008 are expected to be 24 2% for the MABPP and 42 0% for the MABEPP
Based on these expected contribution rates, it 15 estimated that total contnibutions m the 52 weeks ending 27 September 2008 will
be £38m, compnising regular contribuuons of £14m, mcluding £1m payable in respect of the defined contribunon arrangements
and addinonal contributions of £24m

Pension costs are assessed m accordance with the advice of independent qualified acwaries

The princpal financial assumpuons used by the actuaries at the balance sheet date were

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Wages and salaries increases 4 9%" 4 4% 4 3% 43% 4 2%
Pensions increases 3 4% 2 9% 2 8% 2 8% 2 7% |
Discount rate 59% 5 0% 5 0% 5 5% 5 3% '
Inflation rate 3 4% 2 9% 2 8% 2 8% 2 7%

“For MABPP members (5 8% for MABEPP members) Includes allowance for prormctional salary increases
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8§ Pensions conunued

Mortahty assumptions

The mortahty assumpttons are based on the PA92 ‘year of birth’ standard tables with allowance for medum cohort projections, with
ages rated up by two years for non-reured members of the MABPF, by three years for current pensioners and rated down by two years
for members of the MABEPP The mortality assumpuons adopted have been updated to allow for improvements in hfe expectancies,
takmg into account an analysis of the recent experience of the Plans A summary of the average hfe expectancies assumed 15 as follows

2007 2006
ManPlan ExecPlan MainFlan  Exec Plan
years years years years
Male member aged 65 (current ife expectancy) 194 23 6 17 8 177
Male member aged 45 (lfe expectancy at 65) 212 248 194 195
Female member aged 65 (current hife expectancy) ~ 222 265 20 7 207
Female member aged 45 (ife expectancy at 65) 240 277 22 4 22 4

To develop the expected long-term 1ate of return on assets assumptions, the Group considered the current level of expected returns
on risk-free investments (primanily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes
i which the portfolio 15 invested and the expectauons for future returns of each asset class The expected return for each asset lass
was weighted based on the asset allocatton, w develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumpuon for the portfolo,
resulung m a weighted average assumption of 6 1% ar 29 September 2007 The acrual investment return achieved on the scheme
asscts over the year was 9 1% (2006 10 8%)

The combined assets of the MABPP and MABEPE, thewr expected rates of return and the value of the pension scheme assets and
habilities at the balance sheet date can be summarised as follows

2007 2008
Long-term Long-term
rates rates
of retum of retumn
expected Value expected Value
% Em % m
Equiues 79 345 75 596
Bonds 59 854 46 488
Property 79 93 75 98
Fair value of assets 1,292 1,182
Present value of scheme liabihties (1,310) {1,281)
Deficit in the schemes recognised as a
lhiability in the balance sheet (18) (99)
Assoaated deferred tax asset 3 32

The following amounts relaung to the Group’s defined benefit and defined contribution arrangements have been recogmsed n the
Group income statement and Group statement of recognised income and expense

2007 2006
Group income statement £m £m
Operatimg profit
Current sen ice cost {defined benefit plans) (13} (14)
Current sen ice cost (defined conuibuuon plans) (1) (1)
Charge to operatng profit (14) (15)
Finance income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 74 69
Interest on pension scheme habihues {63) (61)
Net finance mcome 1n respect of pensions i1 8
Total charge 3) {7)
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8 Pensions continued
2007 2006
Group statement of recognised income and expense £m £m
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 24 43
Changes 1n assumpitons underlying the present value of the scheme habiliues g (16}
Actuarial gain recogmsed 33 27
The table below analyses the movement in the Schemes' net deficit in the penod
Pension assets Pension obhgations Net deficit
2007 2006 2007 2008 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At beginning of period 1,182 1,078 (1,281)  (1,229) (99) (151)
Current service cost - - (13) (14) (13} (14)
Interest cost on benefit obligations - - (63) {61) (6%) (61)
Expected return on plan assets 74 69 - - 74 69
Employee contributions 4 3 (4 (8) - -
Employer contributions 50 3 - - 50 31
Benefits paid (42) (42) 42 42 - -
Acmarial gain/{loss) recognised 24 43 9 {16) 33 27
At end of period 1,292 1,182 (1,310) (1,281) (18) {99)
History of expenence gains and losses 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Difference between the
expected and actual return on
scheme assets
Amount (£m) 24 43 100 27 39
Percentage of scheme assets 2% 4% 9% 3% 5%
Experience gams and losses on
scheme hiabiiities
Amount {£m) - - - 20 (1)
Percentage of the present value of
the scheme habiities - - — 2% (1Y%
Total amount recogmsed n the
Group statement of recognised
imcome and expense
Amnount (£m) 33 27 (7 39 (71)
Percentage of the present value of
the schetne Liabilities 3% 2% (D% 4% (7Y%

The cumulative amount of actuanal gans and losses Tecogmsed since 26 September 2004 1n the Group statement of recognised
income and expense 15 a £53m gam (2006 £20m gain) The Directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme

defiat recognised on transitton 1o IFRS and taken directly to equity 1s atrbutable to actuanal gamns and losses since mcepuon

of the Schemes Consequently, the Directors are unable to determine the amount of actuarial gains and losses that would have been
recogmsed in the Group statement of recognised income and expense before 26 September 2004
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9. Exceptional items
2007 2006
52 weeks 62 weeks
Notes £m £rn
Operanng excepuonal items
Defence costs a - (4)
Refinancimg costs b - {3)
Integration costs ¢ (B -
Corporate restructunng costs d {7) -
(1 7)
Profits on disposal of properties 39 41
Losses on disposal of properties (12) (1)
Impairment arising from the revaluation of the property portfolic e (45) -
Farr value adjustments on classification of non-current assets held for sale t (3} (4}
(Loss)/profit ansing on property-related iems (23) 23
Total operaung exceptional itemns {34) 16
Excepuonal finance costs
Write off of unamortised wransaction costs b - {4)
Movement in fair value of dervative financal insuuments g {221) -
(221) (1)
Toral excepuonal items before tax {255) 12
Tax credit/(charge) relaung to above items 74 (1)
Exceptional tax released in respect of prior years h 9 40
Tax credit in respect of change in tax rate I 17 ~
100 39
Total exceptional stems after rax {155) 51
a Costs associated with evaluauon of the R20 approach to acquire the share capital of Mitchells & Butlers plc and 1ts subsidiaries
b Refinancing costs consist of operating expenses mcurred in relation to the refinancing of the Group’s secunitised debt, further
detais of which are given 1n note 20 The refinancang also gave nise to accelerated amorusation of capitalised wransaction costs
This related to secured loan notes, which were repatd on refinancing The amortisation was charged to finance costs
¢ Costs assoclated with the Group’s acquisiion of 239 pub restaurant sites acquired from Whitbread on 21 July 2006
d Expenditure incurred m connection with the evalnatuon of alternanve corporate structures for the separation and refinancing
of the Group’s property portfolio and operating business
e Impairment arising from the Group’s adoption of a policy of revaluing us freehold and long leasehold land and buldings with
effect from 29 September 2007
f Farr value adjustments on classification of non-current assets held for sale represent adjustments to the carrying value of property,
plant and equipment, prior to wransferring these to assets held for sale This adjustment 1s made where the expected net sale
proceeds are less than the book value
The movement 1n the fair value of the Group’s dervative finanaial instruments which does not qualify for hedge accounting
h

Represents the release of provisions relaung to tax matters which have been settled principally relating to disposals and qualifying
capital expendiure

A deferred tax credit has been recogrused in the year following the enactment of legislauon in July 2007 which lowers the UK
standard rate of corporauon tax from 30% to 28% with effect from 1 Apnl 2008

None of the above exceptional items relate to disconunued operations, as defined by IFRS 5 'Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operauons’
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10 Finance costs and revenue
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
Notes £m £m
Finance costs
Secuniised and other debt
— before exceptional charge (i53) (118)
Exceptronal finance costs ]
- write off of unamortised transaction costs! - (4)
- movement in far value of derwvative financial instmements® (221) -~

(374) (122)

Finance revenue
Interest recervable 6 g9

Net finance income from pensions 8 11 8

' Accelerated amortisanon of capitalised transaction costs relating to secured loan notes repaid as part of the 2006 refinancing
 Aepresents the movement tn the tair value of the Group's derivative financial Instruments, which does not quallfy for hedge accounting This anses from the requirement
to revalee the swaps at the balance sheet date

1} Tax expense

2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £
Tax charged in the income statement
Current tax expense
UK corporation tax 40 49
Amcunts overprovided 1n previous years (5} (33)
Total current tax 35 16
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 31) 18
Adjustments 1n respect of prior years )] (9)
Change 11 tax rate {17) -
Total deferred tax (note 22) (73) 9
Total tax (credited)/charged 1n the income statement (38) 25
2007 20086
52 weeks 52 weeks
restated™
£m £m
Tax on items recognised directly m equity
Unreahsed gams due to revaluanons (317} -
Indexaunon of gains in respect of previous revaluauons 25 19
Actuarial gains on pension schemes (10 (7
Share-based payments ) i4
Denvanve financial instruments (21) (1)
Change 1n tax rate 30 -
Total tax {charge)/credit on items recogmised directly in equity (290) 25

“Restated n respect of a prior year adjustment (see note 2)

Reconciliation of the total tax charge

The tax {credit)/charge 1n the income statement for the year 1s higher (2006 lower) than the standard rate of corporauon tax m the
UK of 30% (2006 30%) The differences are reconciled below

2007 2006

52 weeks 52 weeks

£m Em

{Loss)/profit on ordinary acuviues before tax (48) 220
Accounting {loss)/profit muluplied by the UK standard rate of corporanion tax of 30% (2006 30%) (14) 66
Expenses not deducuble for tax purposes 3 3
Non 1axable income - (3]
Adjustments i respect of prior years (10 (42)
Exceptional tax credit m respect of change 1n tax rate 17) -
Total tax (eredit)/charge reported 1n the Income statement {38) 25
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12 Dividends
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Amounts pard and recogmsed n equity
In respect of the 53 weeks ended 1 October 2005
— Final dividend of 7 55p per share - 38
In respect of the 52 weeks ended 30 September 2006
- Intenim drvidend of 3 65p per share - 18
~ Final drnidend of 8 60p per share 35 -
In respect of the 52 weeks ended 29 September 2007
— Speaial interim dividend of 100 Op per share 486 -
- Interim dvidend of 4 25p per share 17 -
538 56
Proposed final dividend of 10 Op (2006 8 60p) per share 40 35

The payment of the spectal ntenm dividend amountng to £486m was made an 25 October 2006 The sharehalders approved, at an
Extraordimary General Meeting on 17 October 2006, the consolidation of the share capual of the Company by the 1ssue of 34 new

ordinary shares of 8%:p each for every 41 exisung shares of 74:p each

The Board recommended on 28 November 2007 the proposed final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 29 September 2007 Thas did
not qualify for recogmition mn the financial statements at 29 September 20067 as 1t had not been approved by the shareholders at

that date
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13 Earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) has been calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the financial peried by the weighted average

number of ordtnary shares in 1ssue during the pernod, excludimg own shares held in treasury and by employee share trusts

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares 1s adjusted to assume conversion of all difuuve

potential ordinary shares

Earmings per ordinary share amounts are presented before exceptional items {see note 9) in order to allow a better understanding

of the underlying wading performance of the Group

Basic Dikuted
EPS EPS
pence per  pence per
Profit/{loss) ordinary ordinary
£m share share
52 weeks ended 29 September 2007
Loss for the penod (10) (2 5)p (2 5)p*
Excepuonal items, net of tax 155 380p 369p
Profit before excepuional 1tems 145 35 5p 34 4p
52 weeks ended 30 September 2006
Profit for the period 195 39 7p 38 8p
Excepuonal items, net of tax (51 (04)p (102)p
Profit before exceptional items 144 29 3p 28 6p

*The 2007 diluted EPS per ordinary share is unchanged from the basic EPS, ag the inclusion of the dilutive poterttial ordinary shares would reduce the loss per share and

is therefore not ditutive

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculations above are as follows

2007 2006

52 weeks 52 weeks

mithons rlions

For basic EPS calculanions 408 491
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

Contingently 1ssuable shares 8 7

Other share options 5 5

For diluted EPS calculanons 421 503

On 17 October 2006, shareholders approved a share capital consohdation together with a Speaial Dividend of 100 Op per ordinary
share The overall effect of the transaction was that of a share repurchase at fair value, therefore no adjusunent has been made to

comparatne data

At 29 September 2007, rul (2006 ml) contingently 1ssuable shares and 1,034,538 (2006 965,822) other share opuions were outstanding
that could potennally dilute basic EPS 1n the future but were not included 1n the calculauon of diluted EPS as they are anudiluuve for

the peniods presented
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14. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Computer
software Goodwill Tetal |
£m fm £m .

Cost !
At 1 October 2005 28 10 38 !
Additions 3 - 3
Disposals “) - (4)
At 30 September 2006 27 10 37
Additions 1 - 1
Disposals (6) - (6)
At 29 September 2007 22 10 32
Accumnulated amortsation
At 1 October 2005 12 - 12
Provided during the year 7 - 7
Disposals (4 - (1)
At 30 September 2006 15 - 15
Provided dunng the year 3] - 6
Disposals (6) - (6)
At 29 Septemuber 2007 15 - 15
Net book value
At 29 September 2007 7 10 17
At 30 September 2006 12 10 22

There are no intangible assets, other than goodwll, with indefinite useful ives All amorusanon charges have been expensed
through operating costs

Impairment tests for goodwll
Goodwill anising on business combinations 1s not amorused but 15 reviewed for impairment on an annual bass, or more frequently
if there are indicanons that goodwill may be impaired

Goodwll relates enurely to the German business, which 1s also the non-UK reportable segment This represents the lowest level
within the Group at which goodwill 1s monitored for internal management purposes

As part of the imparment review the recoverable amount for this business 1s based on value 1n use That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on cunent year data Cash flows beyond the current year have been exwrapolated using a steady 1 5% growth
rate - which does not exceed the long-term estimated inflauon rate for the German market

The key assumpuons for the value 1n use calculation are those regarding revenue and discount rates \

The post-tax discount rate used te calculate value i use 15 7% (2006 6%) This discount rate 15 derved from the Group s post-tax
weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for the effects of taxation and for speaific risks relatng to the German business

Revenue growth 1s assumed to be 1n hine with mflatton of 1 5% and profit margins are based on current levels

The calculation of value in use 1s most sensitive to changes in assumptions i respect of revenues However, management believes
that the current assumpuons used are reasonable

Impairment reviews were performed on 1 October 2005, 30 September 2006 and 29 September 2007 by companng the carrying value
of the business to which goodwall relates with the recoverable amount Management determined that there has been no impairment
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15 Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures,
Land and  figings and
bufdings  equipment Total
£m £m fm

Cost or valuauon
At 1 Ocrober 2005 2,860 al18 3,778
Additions 540 144 684
Disposals’ (37 (185} (192)
Classified as held for sale (76) (21) (97)
At 30 September 2006 3,267 906 4,173
Exchange differences 1 - 1
Addiuons 105 154 259
Revaluyaton 1,087 - 1,087
Imparrment arising from the revaluation of the property portfolio {45) - (45)
Disposals’ (37) (79) (116}
Classified as held for sale (5) (4) (9)
At 29 September 2007 4,373 a77 5,350
Depreciation
At 1 October 2005 83 248 331
Previded during the year 21 93 114
Disposals’ (4) (122) (126)
Farr value adjustment on classification of non-current assets held for sale 2 1 3
Classified as held for sale (3) (an (16}
At 30 September 2006 97 209 306
Exchange differences - 1 1
Provided during the year 21 101 122
Disposals” - (70) (70)
Farr vatue adjustment on classificatton of non-current assets held for sale 2 3 3
Classified as held for sale (4) (3) {7)
Revaluanon (37N - (37)
At 29 September 2007 79 241 320
Net book value
At 29 September 2007 4,294 736 5,030
At 30 September 2006 3,170 697 3,867
At 1 October 2005 2,777 670 3,447

*Includes assets which are fully depreclated and have been removed from the flxed asset ledger

Properues

The majority of the Group’s freehold and long leasehold land and buildings, with the exception of land and buildings 1dentlied

for disposal and leasehold properties with an unexpired term of 30 years or less, were valued as at 29 September 2007 by

Colliers CRE, independent chartered surveyors and by Andrew Cox MRICS, Director of Property, Chartered Surveyor

The land and buildings were valued at market value, in accordance with the provisions of Royal Insutution of Chartered Surveyors

{RICS) Appraal and Valuauon Standards ("The Red Book’) assuming each asset 1s sold as part of the continuing enterprise in

occupauon mdwidually as a fully operational wrading entity The market value has been determined having regard to factors such
as current and future projected imncome levels, taking account of the location, the quality of the pub or restaurant and recent market

transacaons 1 the sector

Land and buildings identified for disposal, leasehold outlets with an unexpired term of 50 years o1 less and fixtures, fitungs and

equipment, are included at cost, less deprecauon

The 2006 deemed cosi carrying value of the Group's property, plant and equipment reflects a valuanon undertaken 1n 1999 which
covered all properties then owned by the Group other than leasehold propertes having an unexpired term of 50 years or less and
which amounted to £328m at 30 Seprember 2006 This valuauon was undertaken by external chartered surveyors, Chesterton plc,

n accordance with the Apprassat and Valuauon Manual of the Royal Insttution of Chartered Surveyors The basis of valuauon was
predominantly exisung use value and had regard to trading potenual En 1996, a group restructuring by Six Conunents resulted
the transfer at book value of certain property, plant and equipment to a subsidiary that subsequently became part of the Mutchells

& Butlers group The book value included the effect of revaluauons undertaken prior to 1996 Accordingly, the 2006 carrying value
of the Group's property, plant and equipment reflects those revaluations in 1ts deemed cost under IFRS, which at 30 September 2006
amounted to £374m

Included within property, plant and equipment are assets with a net book value of £4,321m (2006 £3,273m), which are pledged as
security for the securitisauon debt and over which there are certain restricuons on title
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15. Property, plant and equipment continued

Finance leases

The net book value of fixtures, fittings and equipment mcludes £2m (2006 £2m) 1n respect of assets held under finance leases
The assets are pledged as secunty for the finance lease habihines

Net book value
The spht of the net book value of land and buildings 15 as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

Freehold 3,824 2,799
Leasehold

— unexpired term of more than 50 years 325 222

— unexpired term of 50 years or less 145 149

4,294 3,170

In addition to the above, premiums paid on acquiring a new lease are classified in the balance sheet as prepayments of rencals
under the leases At 29 September 2007 an amount of £12m (2006 £14m) was included 1n the balance sheet

16 Inventones

2007 2006
£m £m
Work in progress” 15 18
Goods held for resale 23 24
38 42
“Work in progress [s in respect of property developments
17 Trade and other receivables
2007 2008
£m fm
Trade 1eceivables 1 1
Other recewvables 39 54
Prepayments 29 26
69 8l
All amounts fall due within one year
Trade and other 1ecevables are non-interest bearing
18, Non-current assets held for sale
Assets held for
Disposal group sale Total
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
£m €m £m £m £m £m
Pubs & Bars
Land and buldings - 70 4 4 4 74
Fixtures, fitings and equipment - 10 1 1 1 11
- 80 3 5 5 85
Restaurants
Land and buildings - - 1 2 1 2
Fixtures, fittings and equpment - - - 1 - 1
- - 1 3 i 3
Total - 80 6 8 6 88
Farr value adjustments on classification
as non-current assets held for sale - - 5 3 3 3
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18 Non-current assets held for sale continued

Non-current assets held for sale and the disposal group comprise certain operaung properues which have been approved for sale,
such that the carrying amount 15 expected to be recovered through a sale, rather than through continuing use Sales are expected
within 12 months from the date of dassificanon The disposal group held for sale in 2006 represents assets which were sold to
Trust Inns Ltd for £101m on 5 October 2006 1n a single transacuon This represents the only matertal disposal included within
‘Profits on dispnsal of properues’ in note 9 ‘Excepuonal icems’

The adjustment on classification as non-curreni assets held for sale forms part of the loss (2006 profit) anising on preperty-related
stems 1 the income statement The carrying values included within the disposal group and assets held for sale categories above are

stated after this adpustment The charge agamst income 1s shown as ‘Fair value adjustments on classification of nen-current assets
held for sale’ 1n note § ‘Exceptional items’

19, Trade and other payables

2007 2006
£m Tm
Trade payables 80 70
Other taxation and social security 50 53
Accrued charges 57 82
Other payables 56 46
243 251
Trade payables and other payables are non-interest bearing
20 Borrowings
2007 20086
Current  Non-current Current  Non-cument
liabilitles labilitres Total liabikties kabiities Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Securitised debt” 40 2,316 2,356 39 2,374 2,413
Other borrowings 192 - 192 - - -
Loan notes™” 2 - 2 2 - 2
Finance leases (note 31) - 1 1 1 1
Total borrowings 234 2317 9,551 41 2,375 2416
*This debt is secured as explained on page 71
*These loan notes are partially secured by a bank deposit The effactive interest rate Is 6 03% (2006 4 68%)
Group
2007 2008
£m £m
Analysis by year of repayment
Due within one year or on demand 234 41
Due between one and two years 43 40
Due between two and five years 517 5345
Due alter five years 1,757 1,790
Total borrowings 2,551 2,416

Securinised debt

On 13 November 2003, a group company, Miichells & Butlers Finance pic, 1ssued £1,900m of secured loan notes in connecuon
with the securiasauon of the majority of the Group’s UK pubs and restaurants business owned by Mitchells & Builers Retad Lumited
The funds raised were mainly used to repay exusting bank borrowings of £1,243m, pay 1ssue costs of £23m and return £501m to
shareholders by way of a Speaial Dividend

On 15 September 2006 Mitchells & Butlers Finance plc completed the 1ssue of £655m of further secured loan notes in the form

of the A4, AB, C2 and D1 loan notes as detailed helow These were 1ssued under substanually the same terms as the original
securiusatton mn November 2003 The funds raised were mainly used to retarn £486m to shareholders by way of a Special Dwvidend
and to provide tong-term fundmg for the Whithread pub restaurant sites acquired As part of the issue, the ongmal Al and A3
loan noie tranches were repaid and reissued as ALN and A3N loan notes to take advantage of market rates
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20 Borrowings continued

Ar 29 September 2007 the loan notes consisted of 10 tranches as follows

Initial Effective
principal Principal Interest Principal sutstanding

borrowed repayment rate at 29 September 2007 Expected
Tranche £m Interast {a by instalments) % £m WAL
AIN 200 Floaung 2011 to 2028 5 69* 200 3 years
A2 550 Fixed-35 57% 2003 to 2028 601 456  9years
ASN 250t Floating 2011 o 2028 592* 2501 3years
Ad 170 Floaung 2016 1o 2028 524* 170 Gyears
AB 325 Floaung 2020 to 2032 5 93* 325  Gyears
Bl 350 Fixed-5 97% 2003 10 2023 612 305  7years
B2 350 Fixed—6 01% 2015 w0 2028 612 350 17 years
Cl 200 Fixed-6 47% 2029 10 2030 6 57 200 22 years
C2 50 Floatng 2033 1o 2034 3 44+ 50 6 years
Dt 110 Floaung 2034 to 2036 5 50* 110 6 years

2,555¢ 24161
AL 30 September 2006 the loan notes consisted of 10 tranches as follows
Initial Efective
principal Principal interest Principal outstanding

bomrowed repayment period rate at 30 September 2006 Expected
Tranche £m Interest (all by instalments) % £m WAL "™
AIN 200 Floaung 2011 1o 2028 5 69+ 200 4 years
A2 550 Fixed-5 57% 2003 to 2028 601 482 10vyears
A3N 250t Floaung 2011 to 2028 599+ 250t 4years
A4 i70 Floating 2016 to 2028 524* 170 7years
AB 325 Floating 2020 o 2032 5 25+ 325 7 years
Bl 350 Fixed-5 97% 2003 1o 2023 612 318 8 years
B2 350 Fixed-6 0% 2015 wp 2028 612 350 18 vyears
Cl 200 Fixed-6 47% 2029 to 2030 657 200 23 years
c2 50 Floating 2033 1o 2034 5 44* 50 7 years
D1 110 Floaung 2034 10 2036 5 50* 110 7 years

2,555t 2,4551

t Includes the falr value impact of £45m (2006 £26m) in respec! of the currency swaps

* After the effect of interest rate swaps

*The expected remaiung weighted average lfe (WAL') 15 based on the amorisation profile of the individual note tranches ard assumes refinancing of the notes an
the margin step-up dates The margin step-up dates as at 29 September 2007 are set out below

The notes are secured on the majority of the Group’s property and future income streams therefrom All of the floaung rate notes
are fully hedged using interest rate swaps which fix the interest rate payable

Interest and margin 1s payable on the floating rate notes as follows

Tranche Interest Margin Margin step-up date Post step-up margin
AIN 3 month LIBOR 0 18% December 2010 0 45%
AN 3 month US$ LIBOR 018% December 2010 0 45%
A4 3 month LIBOR 023% December 2013 0 58%
AB 3 month LIBOR 0 24% December 2013 0 60%
Cc2 3 month LIBOR 075% December 2013 1 88%
D1 3 month LIBOR 0 B5% December 2013 2 13%

The overall cash interest rate payable on the loan notes 15 5 7% afier taking account of 1nterest rate hedging and the cost of the
provision of a financial guarantee provided by Ambac n respect of the Class A notes

The securitisation 15 governed by various covenants, warranties and events of default, many of which apply to Miichells & Butders
Retal Lunited, the Group’s mam operaung subsidiary These meclude covenants regarding the mantenance and disposal of
securitised properties and restncuons on its ability to move cash, by way of dividends for example, 1o other group companies

At 29 September 2007, Micchells & Butlers Retail Limited had cash and cash equnalents of £89m (2006 £73m) which were governed
by the covenants associated with the seeuniusation Of this amount £9m (2006 £8m), represenung disposal proceeds, was held

on deposit 1n a secured account (‘restnicted cash’) The use of this cash requires the approval of the securiusation trustee and may
only be used for certain specified purposes such as capital enhancement expenditure and business acquisitions
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20. Borrowings conttnued

The carrying value of the securinsed debt 1n the Group balance sheet at 29 September 2007 15 analysed as follows

2007 2006
£m £m
Principal outstanding at beginning of period 2,429 1,824
Further loan note tssue - 1,078
Principal repaid during the period (39) (460}
Exchange on mranslauon of dollar loan notes (19 (13)
Principal ouuta.ndmg at end of pencd 2,371 9,429
Deferred 1ssue costs (20) 1))
Accrued mterest 5
Carrymg value at end of peniod 2,356 2,413
At 29 September 2007 the Group had the following commutted borrowing facilines
2007 2006
Undrawn committed borrowing facllities £m £m
Unutlised facilimes expire
Within one year 295 205
Berween two and five years 108 300
403 595

On 28 September 2006 the Group entered mto a three year £300m revolving credu facility for general business purposes which
mcurs mterest at LIBOR plus a margin (based on the prevailing level of Group net debt EBITDA) As at 29 September 2007 the
Group has drawn an amount of £192m against this facility

21. Financial instruments

An explanation of the Group’s financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies 1s set out 1n the discussion
of Treasury policies on page 21 i the Operating and financial review Denvative finanaial mstruments are not used for trading or
speculatve purposes

The primary treasury objectives of the Group are to 1dentify and manage the financial risks that arise in relation to underlying
business needs If appropriate, the Group uses financial mstruments and derivatives to manage these risks

Financial nsk management
The mam nisks which impact the Group result from movements in interest rates and foreign exchange rates Derwauve financial
instruments, principally mierest rate and foreign currency swaps, are used to manage these rnisks and are described helow

Interest rate risk

The Group uses a mixture of fixed and floating mterest rate debt instruments and manages the variabihiy in cash flows resutung
from changes in interest rates by using dervatives The Group mimmses the volatihty in its financial statements through the
adopuon of hedge accounung provisions where appropriate

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s foreign exchange expasure primarily results from the 1ssue of US$418 75m of Class A3N floaung rate notes which
form part of the securiused debt (see note 20) At issuance of the notes the Group entered 1nto a cross currency interest rate swap
to manage the foreign currency exposure resulung from both the US$ prinapal and the interes: elements of the notes

After taling mnto account these hedging arrangements, the Group does not have a matenal profit and loss account expaosure to
movements in foreign exchange rates on monetary assets and habilities In addinon, the Group 1s predommantty UK based and
therefore does not have a sigmificant currency exposure from s operations

Credut nisk
There are no sigmficant concentrauons of credit risk within the Group The maximum credit nsk exposure relaung to financial assets
1s represented by carrymg value as at the balance sheet date
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21 Financial instruments continued

Dervauve finanaal instruments

Cash flow hedges

At 29 September 2007, the Group held 10 (2006 10) mterest rate swap contracts with a nominal value of £1,105m (2006 £1,105m),
designated as a hedge of the cash flow interest rate risk of £1,105m (2006 £1,105m) of the Group’s floating rate borrowmngs,
comprising the AIN, ASN, A4, AB, C2 and D1 loan notes

The cash flows occur quarterly, recetving a floating rate of interest based on LIBOR and paying a fixed rate of 4 $938% (2006 4 8938%)
The contract maturity dates match those of the hedged iem The 10 interest rate swaps above are held on the balance sheet at fair
value, which 15 an asset of £36m (2006 £33m Liability)

At 29 September 2007 the Group held 1 (2006 1) cross currency interest rate swap contract, with a nominal vatue of £250m (2006
£250m), designated as a hedge of the cash flow mterest rate and currency risk of £250m (2006 £250m) of the Group’s A3N floatng
rate US$5418 75m borrowings The cross currency interest rate swap 15 held on the balance sheet at a fair value hability of £48m
(2006 £29m habihity)

The cash flows occur quarterly, receving a floating rate of mterest based on US$ LIBOR and paying 2 fixed rate, 1n sterhng, of
5 4445% (2006 5 4445%)

Changes in cash flow hedge fair values are recagnised directly in the hedging reserve 1n equity to the extent that the hedges are
effecuve The cash flow hedges detailed above have been assessed as bemng highly effective during the financial period and are
expected to remam hughly effectne over the remaining contract lives

Durning the period a gam of £55m (2006 £22m loss) on cash flow hedges was recogrused duectly in equuty A loss of £i5m (2006
£16m) was removed from equity and included i the Group income statement for the period

Derwatwve financial istruments which do not qualify for kedge accounting

Following the comprehensive review of the Group's opuons for releasing value from 1ts property portfolio the Group announced on

21 May 2007 1ts intention (o form a property jomnt venture with R20 In the final stage of the planned transactnon, the Group and R20
separately entered 1nto a number of dervanve transactions which were mtended to be conmbuted to the jomt venture Their purpose was
to fix the vanable cash flows resulung from the inflauon linked rental pavments recewvable by the proposed property joint venture and the
LIBOR Linked mterest payments on the new debt, as well as 1o msulate the Group from movements m the fair value of s fixed rate debg
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21 Finanaal istruments conunued

Whilst these instruments provide an economic hedge against the furure anucipated cash flows associated with a property hased
refinancing they do not qualify for hedge accounting as defined m IAS39 Movements 1n therr fair values are therefore recognised
directly in the Group income statement, within excepuonal finance costs The total fair value movement of these mstruments during
the year reported within excepuonal finance costs was £(221)m and 1s analysed further below Far val Faur val
alr value alr value

2007 2008
Note £m £m
Interest Rate Derivative Transactions
5 4390% interest rate swap a 39 -
5 4390% wnterest rate swap a (39) -
5 5705% interest rate swap b (4%) -
5 2152% interest rate swap c (58) -
Gilt hedges — combined nouonal principal of £1,385m b 34 -
Inflauon Derivauve Transactions
3 1775% wnflation swaps d {154) -
{(221) -

a The two 5 4390% forward starting interest rate swaps, were entered 1nto i July 2007 and both have a notional prinapal of
£1,105m Under the first swap, the Group recewves fixed rate interest at 5 4390% and pays floatung rate mterest at LIBOR and
under the second swap the Group pays fixed rate interest at 5 4390% and recerves floatng rate mterest at LIBOR Their purpose
15 to enable the movements mn the fair value of the Group's exasting securiisaton hedges to be recorded for the benefit of the
proposed property based financing enuty, from the pertod that a transaction 1s executed The start date of the swaps will be
dependent upon the date of execution of the property based refinanang The maturity date 15 15 September 2036

b The 5 5705% forward starting interest rate swap was executed 1n July 2007 and has a notienal principal of £1,300m The Group
pays fixed rate interest at 5 5705% and recerves floating rate mterest at LIBOR Four reverse gilt tocks with a combined notional
principal of £1,385m were executed in July 2007 to mugate against movements n the fair value of the Group’s exisung fixed
rate bonds The purpose of the swap 15 to replicate the impact of the Group's exisung fixed rate debt so that movements i the
fasr value from the transaction date would be for the benefit of the proposed property based financng entity The reverse gl
locks mitigate against movements in the fair value of the Group’s fixed rate debt, offsetung the movement tm fair valae of the
5 5705% mnterest rate swap The start date of the swap will be dependent upon the date of execuuon of the property based
refinancing The maturity date 1s 15 September 2030 The reverse gilt locks all have a maturity date of 5 December 2007

¢ The 5 2152% forward starung interest rate swap was entered into mn July 2007 and has an accrediung and amorusing notonal
prncipal of £990m The Group pays fixed rate mterest at & 2152% and recewves floating rate mnterest at LIBOR The purpose
of the swap 15 10 hedge against I IBOR movements associated with the incremental debt intended to be raised by the proposed
property based finanang entuty The start date of the swap will be dependent upon the date of execution of the property based
refinancing The matunty date 15 15 September 2037

d In July 2007, the Group entered mto two forward starung nflanon swaps with a nouonal quarterly principal of £30m each
The Group recerves an annual fixed increase of 3 1775% and pays a vanable cash flow based on annual increases in the Retail
Price Index within a collar of 0% and 5% The two inflanon swaps are intended to fix the expected rental mcome stream
recervable by the propesed property based financing entity, which would mcrease annually by the Retaul Price Index subject to a
collar of 0% and 5% The start date of the swaps will be dependent upon the date of execunon of the property based refinancing
The maturnity date 15 15 June 2037

All cash flows under the above swaps are payable or recenable on a quarterly basis
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21. Financial instruments continued

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are reflected on the balance sheet as follows These values were measured
at 29 September 2007 and may be subject to matenal movements in the period subsequent to the balance sheet date

Denvative financial instruments — far value

Non-currant Current Current  Non-current
assets assets habdbes liabilities Total
£rn Ern £m m m
29 September 2007
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps 30 6 - - 36
Cross currency swap -~ - (H (47) (48)
Other hedges
Initerest rate swaps - 39 {(140) - (101)
Gilt hedges - 34 - - 34
Inflanon hedges - - {154) - (154)
- 73 {294) - (221)
Total 30 79 {295) “7) (233)
30 September 2006 - - () (55} (62

The dervaoives which do not qualify for hedge accounting have been classified as current assets and current habihies as appropnate
This reflects the fact that the terms of these hedge contracts at 29 September 2007 contained an early termination provision effective
on 17 December 2007 subject to extension by mutual agreement between the parttes These terms have now been extended to be
effective on 17 December 2008, subject to further extension by mutual agreement between the parties

Interest rate risk profile

The following tables set out the Group s exposure to interest rate risk and the mawuriy profile for each class of interest bearmng
financial asset and financial liability, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swups

Within 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 t.h’:grg
1 year years years years years years Total
£m £m Bm £m £m £m

29 September 2007
Fined rate
Securitsed debt (40) (42) (45) (439 (33)  (1,757)  (2,356)
Finance leases - {1) - - - - (n
Floatng rate
Cash and cash equivalents 114 - - - - - 114
Loan notes {2) — - - - - (423
Other borrowings (192) - - - - - (192)
30 September 2006
Fixed rate
Secunused debt {39) (39) {42) (45) (458)  (1,790) (2,413)
Finance leases - ) - - - - (M
Floaung rate
Cash and cash equivalents 372 - - - - - %72
Loan notes (2) - - - - - (2)

The interest on fixed rate financial mstruments 15 fixed untl the mamnty of the instrument The interest on fecaung raie finanaal
mstruments 1s reset at intervals of less than one year The other financial assets and liabiliues of the Group that are not included in

the above tables are non-interest bearing and are therefore not subject o interest rate risk
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21.Financial mstruments continued
Fair values
Farr values of financial mstruments are disclosed below
2007 2006
Book Fair Book Fair
value value value value
£m £m £m £m
Primary finanaal mstruments held or issued to finance
the Group's operations
Cash and cash equivalents 117 117 375 375
Securiused debt {(excluding interest rate and currency swaps) {2,356) {2,408) {2,413) (2,542
Loan notes (2) () 2 (2}
Finance leases (n 8} 4)] {1}
Provisions {1) 19))] (3) {3}
Derwative financial instruments held to manage the
interest rate and currency profile
Interest rate swaps
— asset 15 75 - -
- labality (140)  (140) (33) (33)
Currency swaps” (48) (48) (29) (29)
Inflanon swaps (154) (154) - -
Reverse gilt locks 34 34 - -
(2.476) (2.528) (2,106) (2,235)

*Includes £45m (2006 £26m) relating to currency movements on the retransiation of the US$418 75m A3N loan nate, included within net debt (see note 28)

The various tranches of the secuniused debt have been valied using period end quoted offer prices The farr value of interest rate
and currency swaps 1s the estimated amount which the Group could expect to pay or receve on terminanon of the agreements
These amounts are based on quotations from counterparties and take into consideration mnterest and exchange rates prevailing at
the balance sheet date Other financial assets and liabilities are esther short-term 1n nature or book values approwumate to fair values
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22 Deferred tax

The deferred tax included m the Group balance sheet and Group income statement 1s as follows

2007 2006
restated”
£m £m
Deferred 1ax liability
Accelerated capnial allowances 135 145
Rolied over and held over gams 180 187
Unrealised gains on revaluations 383 133
Depreciated non-qualifying assets 25 29
Total deferred tax liabaly 723 494
Deferred tax asset
Rearement benefit obliganons (note 8) 5 32
Share-based payments 20 24
Derrvative financial mstruments 49 9
Short-term temporary differences 1 3
Total deferred tax asset 75 68
Deferred tax in the income statement
Accelerated capnal allowances (i0) 4
Reurement benefit obligations 18 10
Rolied over and held over gams 7 (2}
Share-based payments 1 )
Short-term temporary differences p 3
Depreciated non-qualifying assets (4) 3)
Derwvative financial mstruments (60) 1
Unrealised losses on revaluations (13 -
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge in the income statement (73) 9

“Rastated In respact of a pricr year adjustment {see nole 2)

Unrecogmsed tax losses

At the balance sheet date the Group has unused losses of £13m (2006 £13m) available for offset agamst future profits

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised on tax losses with a value of £5m (2006 £5m) because 1t 15 not certain that future
taxable profits will be available against which the Group can uulise the benefit These tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely

Tax consequences ansing from the payment of dividends
There are no tax consequences attachung to the payment of dvidends by the Group to s sharehalders

23 Provisions

Property

leases

At 30 September 2006 3

Additrons -
Uuhsed (1)
Amount released in the year (1)

At 29 September 2007 1

Onerous property provisions comprise future rents payable net of rents receivable on onerous and vacant property leases The leases

extend for periods of up to seven years (2006 eight)
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24 Called up share capital
2007 2006

MNumber of shares £m Nurnber of shares £m
Authonsed
Ordinary shares of 8'%.p each 1,181,130,148 i01 - -
Ordinary shares of 74:p each ~ - 1,424,304,003 101

1,181,130,148 101 1,424,304,003 101
Called up, allotted and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 8'%.p each
At start of the finanaial period 486,910,806 24 500,438,040 35
Share capital consohdation (83,131,113) - - -
Repurchase and cancellation - - (13,527,234) (1)
At end of the financial peried 403,779,693 34 486,910,806 34

All of the ordinary shares rank equally with respect to voting nights and rights 1o recewve ordinary and special dividends There are

no restrictions on the rights to ransfer shares

On 17 October 2008, shareholders approved a share capital consolidation on the basts of 34 new ordinary shares for every 41 existing
ordinary shares ['his provided for all of the authorised ordinary shares of 74:p each (whether 1ssued or unissued) to be consolidated
into new ordinary shares of 8%:p each, which became effecuve on 18 October 2006

Details of options granted under the Group’s share schemes are contained in note 7

25 Employee share trusts

The Company has established two employee share wrusts

Share Incenuve Plan (‘SIP”) Trust

The SIP Trust was established 1n 2003 to purchase shares on behalf of employees parucipaung i the Company's Share Incenuve
Plan Under this scheme, eligible employees are awarded free shares which are normally held i trust for a2 holding petiod of at least

three years After five years the shares may be transferred to or sold by the employee free of income tax and Nauoional Insurance
contrtbunons The SIP Trust buys the shares in the market with funds provided by the Company During the holdmg period,

dividends are paid directly to the parucipaung employees At 29 September 2007, the trustees, Hill Samuel ESOP Trustee Limited,
were holding 740,210 (2006 910,578) shares in the Company Of these shares, 419,918 (2006 715,583) have been conditionally gifted
1o employees and 306,304 {2006 163,716) have been uncondiionally gifted to employees, with the remaimng 13,988 (2006 31,279)

shares being unallocated

Employee Benefit Trust ('EBT")

The EBT was established 1n 2003 in order to satisfy the exercise or vesung of existing and future share options and awards under
the Executive Share Opuon Plan, Performance Restncted Share Plan, Short Term Deferred Incentive Plan, Sharesave Plan and the
Rolled-over opuons The EBT purchases shares in the market from nme to ume, using funds provided by the Company, based on
expectauons of future requirements Dividends are waived by the EBT At 29 September 2007, the trustees, Mourant ECS Trustees
{Jersey) Lumted, were holding 330,239 (2006 1,299,046) shares in the Company

2006 share numbers are shown prior to the share consohdanen.

26. Reconcihiation of movements in equity

Called
up Share Capital Own
share premium  Revalvaton redemption shares Hedging  Translation Retamed Total
capital account resave reserve held reserve resarve earnngs equity
£m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
At 30 September 2006 as restated 34 14 - 3 (12} (30) 6 1,194 1,209
Exchange differences - - - - - - 1 - 1
Purchase of own shares - - - - (42) - - - (42)
Release of own shares - - - - 41 - - (30) 11
Credit in respect of
share-based payments - - - - - - - 8 8
“Total recognised income and
expense - - 828 - - 50 - 49 927
Dradends - - - - - - - (538) (538)
At 29 Septermber 2007 34 14 828 3 {13} 20 7 683 1,576
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26. Reconciliatton of movements 1n equity conunued

up Share Capital Own
share premium  redemption shares Hedgng  Translaton Retained Total
capital account raserve held reserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 October 2003 as previously reported 35 14 2 (12) (24) 6 1,162 1,183
Prior year adpstment — - - - - - (99) (99
At 1 Ociober 2005 as restated 35 14 2 (12) (24) 6 1,063 i,084
Repurchase and cancellauon m - 1 - - - (58) (58)
Purchase of own shares - - - 22) - - - 22)
Release of own shares - - - 22 - - (10 12
Credit m respect of share-based payments - - - - - - 8 8
Total recognised income and expense - - - - (6} - 247 241
Dmidends - - - - - - (56) {36)
At 30 September 2006 as restated 34 14 3 (12) (30) 6 1,194 1,209

The Group’s main operating subsidiary, Mitchells & Butlers Retail Limrted, had retamed earmings under UK GAAP of £309mn at
29 September 2007 (2006 £234m) Its abihty to distmbute these reserves by way of dinvidends 1s restricted by the secuniusation
covenants (see note 20)

Share premmum account
The share premium account represents amounts receved in excess of the nominal value of shares on 1ssue of new shares

Capital redempuon reserve

The capital redemption reserve movement arose on the repurchase and cancellation by the Company of nil (2006 13,527,234)
ordinary shares duning the financial period at a cost of £ml (2006 £58m), including expenses The nominal value of the share
capital cancelled of £nil (2006 £1m) was wransferred to the capital redemption reserve

Revaluauon reserve
The revaluauon resen e represents the unrealised gain generated on revaluation of the property portfolio with effect from
29 September 2007 It comprises the excess of the fair value of the portfolio over deemed cost, net of related deferred taxation

Own shares held

Own shares held by the Gioup represent the shares 1n the Company held in treasury (‘wreasury shares’) and by the employee
share trusts

Durnng the financial period, the Company acquired 1,033,000 (2006 nu) shares for treasury at a cost of £7 4m (2006 £n1l), released
220,606 (2006 1,589,880) shares to emplovees on the exercise of share options for a total considerauon of £0 4m (2006 £3 8m),
and consolidated 88,443 (2006 ml) shares on 18 October 2006 The 1,241,969 shares held in treasury at 22 September 2007 had a
market value of £7 6m (30 September 2006 518,018 shares held had a market value of £3 lm) The aggregate nominal value of the
treasury shares held at 29 September 2007 was £106,000 (2006 £37,000)

During the financial period, the employee share trusts acqumred 4,967,276 (2006 4,351,999) shares at a cost of £35 Om (2006 £21 6m),
released 5,916,545 (2006 4,282,188) shares to employees on the exeraise of share options and other share awards for a total
consideration of £10 5m (2006 £8 8m) and conschdated 189,906 (2006 ml) shares on 18 October 2606 The 1,070,449 shares held
bv the trusts at 29 September 2007 had a market value of £6 5m (30 September 2006 2,209.624 shares held had a market value of
£1% Om) Further details regarding the employee share trusts are given 1n note 25

2006 share numbers are shown prior to the share consohdation

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change m the far value of cash flow hedging instruments
related to hedged furure cash flows

Transtaton reserve

The translation reserve is used to record exchange dufferences anising from the translanon of the financial statements of foreign
substdiaries

Goodwill

Goodwill eluninated agamnst reserves at 29 September 2007 was £50m (2006 £50m) This arose in respect of acqusittons completed
prior to 30 September 1998
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27 Cash flow from operations
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Operaung profit 309 325
Add back Operating exceptional items 34 (16)
Operaung profit before exceptional 1tems 343 309
Add back
Depreaation of property, plant and equipment 122 114
Amortisation of intangibles (computer software) 6 7
Amortisation of lease premiums 1 -
Cost charged n respect of share remuneration 8 8
Defined benefit pension cost less regular cash contributions 3 3
OQperaang cash flow before excepucenal items, movements in working capital
and additional pension contributions 483 441
Movements in working capital and pension contributtons
Decrease/(1ncrease) in mventories 4 (3)
Decrease in trade and other recervables 3 7
Increase in trade and cther payables 3 6
Movement in provisions (2) (1)
Additional pension contnibutions (note 8) 40) {20)
Cash flow from operauons before excepuonal 1tems 451 430
Integration costs pad {4) -
Cash flow from operanens 447 430
28. Analysis of net debt
2007 2006
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents {see below) 117 375
Securiused debt (note 20) (2,356) (2,413)
Other borrowings (note 20} (192) -
Denvauves hedging balance sheet debt” (note 21} {4%) (26)
Loan notes {note 20} (2) (2)
Finance leases (note 20) {1) (1)
(2,479)  (2,067)

*Represents the element of the far value of cumency swaps hedging the balanca sheet valus of the Group's US dollar denominated loan notes (see note 21) This amount
1s disclosed separately to remove the impact of exchange movements which are included in the secuntised debt amount

Cash and cash equnalents

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet) comprise cash at bank
and mn hand of £80m (2006 £260m) plus cash deposits with an otiginal maturity of three months or less of £37m (2006 £115m)

29 Movement 1n net debt

2007 2008

52 weeks 52 weeks

£m £m

Net (decrease)/increase 1n cash and cash equn alents {258) i76

Add back cash flows in respect of other components of net debt

Proceeds from cash deposits with a matnity of greater than three months - (1)

Repayment of principal 1n respect of other loans - 1
Repayment of principal in respect of securinsed debt 39 460
Proceeds of 15sue of securinsed debt - (1.078)
Proceeds of 1ssue of other borrowings (192) -
Increase 1n net debt ansing from cash flows ('Net cash flow’ per note 30) {411) {442)
Non-cash movements (1) -
Increase 1 net debt (412) (+42)
Opening net debt (2.067) {1,625)
Closing net debt (2,479) {2,067)
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30 Net cash flow

2007 2006

52 weeks 52 weeks

£m £€m

Operaung profit before exceptional iems 343 309

Depreciation and amortisation 129 121

EBITDA before excepuonal rems® 472 430

Worlung capital movement 8 9

Other non-cash items 11 11
Additional pension contribuuons (note 8) (40} (20)
Cash flow from operations before exceptional itemns 451 430
Net capital expenditure™” (99) (58%)
Cash flow from operations before excepuonal items and after net capital expenditure 352 (153)
Integration costs paud (4) -
Cash flow from operauons after net capntal expendiwre 348 (159)
Interest pawd (151} (115)
Interest recerved 6 §
Tax pard (33) {48)
Dwvidends paid (538) (56)
Purchase of own shares (46) (76)
Proceeds on release of own shares held 11 12
Defence costs (note 9) - (4)
Expenditure associated with refinancing (4} (10}
Corporate restructuring costs (4) -
Net cash flow {note 29) (411) {442)

“Earnings before interast, tax depreciation, amartisation and exceptional items
~Compnses purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangibles less proceeds from the sate of property, plamt and equipment

31 Financial commutments

Leases -

The vast majonity of the Group's leases are mdusiry standard UK pub or commercial property leases which provide for periodic 1ent
reviews to open market value and enjoy statutory rights 1o Tenewal on expiry They generally do not contam conditions telaung 1o
rent escalation, rights to purchase, concessions, residual values or other material provisions of an unusual nature

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee
Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operatung leases are as follows

2007 2006

£m £m

Due within one year 48 49
Between two and five years 158 159
After five years 556 601
762 809

The future mimmum rentals expected to be recerved under non-cancellable subleases as at 29 September 2007 amounted
to £23m (2006 £27m)
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31 Financial commitments continued

Operaung lease recevables — Group as lessor
Total future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2007 2006
£m £m
Due within one year 7 7
Between two and five years 23 21
After five years 31 36
61 64
Lease income recogmsed in the year was as follows
2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Standard lease mncome 9 10
Finance lease commuuments - Group as lessee
Total future mmimum lease payments due under finance leases are as follows
2007 2008
) £€m £m
Due within one year - -
Between two and five years 1 1
1 1

Due to the uming of the expiry of the finance lease commitments, there 15 no matenal difference between the total furure mimnimum
lease payments and their present value

Finance leases relate to various items of fixtures, fitings and equipment {see note 15)

Capital commitments

2007 2006
£m £m

Contracts placed for expenditure on property, plant and equipment not provided
fot in the financaal statements 26 28

32 Contingent hiabihities

The Group has ginen imdemnities i respect of the disposal of certamn companies previously within the Six Continents group
It 15 the view of the Dhrectors that such indemmities are not expected to result 1n financial loss to the Group
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33 Related party disclosures

Transactions bewween the Company and 1ts subsidiaries, winch are relared parues, have been eliminated on consohidatton As such,
there were no ransactions with related parues requiring disclosure under IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ during either the current
year or the previous year

Muchells & Butlers plc 15 the beneficial owner of all of the equuty share capual, esther nself or through subsidiary undertakings,
of the following principal operating companies

Country of Caountry of

Name of subsidiary incorporation aperation Nature of business
Mitchells & Butlers Retadl Ltd England and Wales United Kingdom Lesure retaihing
Mitchells & Buters Retail (No 2) Lid England and Wales United Kingdom Leisure retailing
Mitchells & Butler s (Property) Ltd England and Wales United kingdom Property management
Mitchells & Butlers Leisure Retail Lid England and Wales United Kingdom Service company
Mutchells & Butlers Finance plc England and Wales United Kingdom Finance company
Mitchelis & Butlers Germany GmbH" Germany Germany Leisure retaving
Standard Commercaial Property Developments Ltd* England and Wales United Kingdom Property development

*Shares held directly by Mitchells & Butfers plc

A full list of subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next annual return of Mitchells & Butlers ple to be filed with the Registrar
of Companies

Compensaton of key management personnel of the Group

2007 2006

£m £m

Short-terin employee benefits 4 3
Post-employment benefits 2 2
Share-based payments 4 4
10 9

Only employees of Mitchells & Buters plc who are members of the Board of Directors or the Execunve Committee of
Mitchells & Butlers plc are deemed to be key management personnel It 15 the Board who have responsibility for planning, direcung
and controlling the activiues of the Group
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IFRS UK GAAP
Pro forma
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2003
52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks restated” restated” restated"
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Pubs & Bars 968 958 939 913 873 873
Restaurants 908 762 684 641 614 614
Retail 1,876 1,720 1,623 1,554 1,487 1,487
SCPD 18 - 8 6 17 17
1,894 1,720 1,631 1,560 1,504 1,504
Operaung profit before exceptional items
Pubs & Bars 191 179 175 173 172 172
Restaurants 145 130 113 99 92 92
Retail 336 309 288 272 264 264
SCPD 7 - 1 1 2 2
343 309 289 273 266 266
Operaung exceptional items (11) (7 (4) (2) - (5)
{Loss)/profit ansing on property related items** (23) 23 1 2 - -
Total operaung profit"™* 309 325 286 273 266 261
Non-operating excepuonal items - - - - - 42)
Prefit before mterest 309 325 286 273 266 219
Finance charge - - - - (76) -
Interest on net debt (147) (109) (103) {101) - (55)
Exceptional interest charge {221) {4) - 2) - {8)
Net finance income/{charge) on pensions 11 8 3 1 (2) {2)
{Loss)/profit before taxavon {48) 220 186 171 188 154
Taxation creditf{charge) 38 (25) (59) (53) (61) (37)
(Loss)/profit for the finanaial year (10} 195 127 118 127 117
{Loss)/earnings per share
Basic (2 B)p 39 7p 24 9p 21 1p - 15 9p
Diluted (2 5)p 38 8p 24 5p 21 0p - 15 9p
Adjusted/pro forma 35 5p 29 3p 25 4p 20 9p 17 3p 19 2p
Adjusted/pro forma as reported in year - — - 22 2p 18 4p -
Dvidends pad and proposed™*
Normal dividends (£m) 57 53 54 49 - 29
Special drvidends (£m) 486 - - 501 - -
Normal dividends per share 1425p 1226p 10 75p 9 50p - 5 B5p

"Restated on the full adoption of FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’
“{L.oss)/profit ansing on property related items has been reclassified under UK GAAP 1n 2004 and pnor in order to be consistent with the IFRS presentation
**Dividend Information for all years represents interim and final dividends for the year presented

Results for 2005 are presented on a 52 week basis to ard comparability with previous years The 53 week 2005 results under both
IFRS and UK GAAP are available in full from the Company’s website, www mbplc com/ifrs The 2005 results on a 32 week basis
are unaudited

The Mitchells & Butlers group was created on 1ts separauon from Six Conunents on 15 April 2003 Significant changes were made
to the financing structure of the Group which resulted m the replacement of mter-company balances owed to Six Continenis with
exiernal debt In addwon, the Mitchells & Butlers group no longer benefited from the Six Contments group tax arrangements that
were 1n place prior to the separation The pro forma group income siatement for 2003 therefore present the results on the basis
that the post separation financing and taxauon structure had been m place since 1 October 2002 The pro forma mmcome statement
15 also stated before excepuonal items

Adjusted earnings per share 1s stated after removing the impact of exceptional items, less tax thereon

The adjustnents required to make UK GAAP hsstoric informauon consistent with that presented under IFRS relate to share-based
payment charges and the different calculation basis of deferred tax under IFRS
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Balance sheet information

IFRS UK GAAP

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

restated™ restated™ restated* restated”

£m £m £m m £rm

Goodwill and other intangible assets 17 22 26 10 11
Property, plant and equipment 5,030 3,867 3,447 3,509 3,522
Lease premiums 1t 13 16 - —
Total non-current assets 5,058 3,902 3,489 4,519 3,53%
Insentores 38 42 39 43 43
Operating recewvables 68 80 77 82 84
Non-current assets held for sale 6 88 9 - -
Operating payables {240) {243) {220) {197) (176)
Net current operating liabilites (128) (33) {95) (72) {49)
Total operaung assets less current operating habilities 4,930 3.869 3,304 3,447 3,484
Provisions {n (3) ) (2) 4
Ner operating assets 4,929 3,866 3,390 3,445 3,480
External net debt (2,479 (2,067) (1,623) (1,632) (1,228)
Derivative financial mstruments (188) (36) (35) - -
Corporate taxation (18) (22) (60) (59) (50)
Deferred taxaton {648) {426) {435) (182) (174)
Pension hiabilines (18) (99 (151) {(114) (170
Proposed dividend - - - (34) (29)
Balances relating to exceptional iterns - (3) - (1) (4)
Non-operating payables (2) (4) - - =
Net assets 1,576 1,209 1,084 1,423 1,825

*Restated on the full adoption of FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’

~Restated in respect of a prior year adjustment (see nate 2 to the financial statements)
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Cash flow information e irrmatien
IFRS UK GAAP
Pro forma
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2003
restatad* restated* restated”
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Operating profit before exceptional 1tems 343 309 295 273 266 266
Depreciation and amortisation 129 121 116 108 99 99
EBITDA®" 472 430 411 381 365 365
Other non-cash items 11 11 7 14 (1) {1)
‘Working capial movement 8 9 16 28 7 7
Addional pension contributions {40) (20) (30) (40) (27) (27)
Net cash flow from operauons*” 451 430 404 383 344 344
Net capital expenditure {99) {583) (110) (99 {103) {103)
Operating cash flow after capital expenditure*” 352 {153) 204 284 241] 241
Net interest paid {145) (107 {102) (98) 49
Tax pad (33) (48) (43) 34) (44)
Normal dividends paid {52) {56} (50) {44) -
Speaal dividends paid (486) - - (501} -
Issue of ordmmary shares - - 2 8 4
Purchase of own shares (46) (76) (201) {12) -
Proceeds on release of own shares held 11 12 14 1 -
Operaung exceptional expenditure - - {4 (5} (3%)
Expenditure associated with refinancing 4) (10) - (22) (1)
Facility fees paid - - - - (15)
Defence costs (note 9) - ()] - - -
Corporate restructuring costs (note 9} (4) - - - -
Integration costs paid (note 9) {4) - - - -
Net cash flow (411) {442) 10 (423) 241 98
*Restated on the full adoptlon of FRS 17 "Retirement Benefits’
“Befora exceptional items
All years are for 52 week periods with the exception of 2005 which 15 2 53 week period
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Mitchells & Butlers plc -
parent company balance sheet
29 September 2007

2007 2006
Notas £m £m
Fuxed assets
Investunents 7 1,739 1,738
Current assets
Debtors g 676 622
Dervative financial instruments 10 73 -
Investments 2 114
Cash at bank and in hand 27 172
778 a08
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 9 (2,022)  (1,692)
Dervauve financial instruments 10 (82) -
Net current habilittes {1,326) {784)
Net assets before net pension habiliies 413 954
Net pension habilines 3 (13) {65)
Net assets 400 889
Capital and reserves
Calied up share capital 11,12 34 34
Share preimium account 12 14 14
Capural redemption reserve 12 3 3
Profit and loss account reserve 12 349 838
Equiry shareholders’ funds 400 889

Signed on behalf of the Board
Karim Naffah

Director

28 November 2007

The accounting policies and the notes on pages 92 to 99 form an integral part of these financat statements
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Independent auditors’
report to the members of
Mitchells & Butlers plc

We have audited the parent company
financial statements of Mitchells & Butlers
ple for the vear ended 29 September 2007
which comprise a balance sheet and the
related notes 1 1o 14 These parent
company financal statements have been
prepared under the accounung pohicies
set out therem We have also audited

the mformation n the Directors’
remuneranon report that 1s described

as having been audited

We have reported separately on the
Group financial statements of Miichells
& Butlers plc for the year ended

29 September 2007

This report 1s made solely to the
Company’s mermbers, as a body, 1n
accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 Our audit work

has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those
matters we are requured to state to them
in an audstors’ report and for no other
purpose To the fullest extent permtted
by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as
a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed

Respecave responsibilities of
Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibihinies for
prepaning the Annual Report, the
Directors’ remunerauon report and

the parent company financial statements
in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom law and Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepied
Accounting Pracuce) are set out n the
Statement of Directors’ responsibilines

Our responsibility 1s to audu the parent
company financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ remuneration report to
be audited 1n accordance with relevant
legal and regulatory requirements and
Internatuonal Standards on Audiung

{UK and Ireland)

Qvernew Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial iformation
review

We report to you our opinon as to
whether the parent company financial
statements gnve a true and fair view and
whether the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance
with the Compantes Act 1985 We also
report 1o you whether in our opinion the
informanon given in the parent company
Directors’ report 1s consistent with the
financial statements

In addition we report to you 1if, m our
optmon, the Company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have
not receved all the information and
explanations we require for our audst,
or If information specified by law
regarding Directors’ remuneration and
other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read other information contamed

in the Annual Report and consider
whether 1t 15 consistent with the audited
parent company financial statements
The other mformauon compnises only
the Operaung and financial review, the
Drrectors’ report, the Corporate governance
statement, the Audit Commuttee report
and the unaudited part of the Directors’
remuneration report We consider the
implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatemnents or
matersal inconststencies with the parent
company financial statements Cur
responsibilines do not extend to any
other information

Basis of audit opinton

We conducted our audnt 1n accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures
in the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report te be audited

It also ncludes an assessment of the
sigruficant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparauon
of the parent company financial

statements, and of whether the accounting

policies are appropriate to the Company’s
circumstances, consistenitly applied and
adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audn
50 as to obtam all the information and
explananions which we considered
necessary m order to provide us with
sufficient evidence 10 grve reasonable
assurance that the parent company
financial statements and the part of

the Directors’ remuneration report

to be audited are free from material
musstatement, whether caused by

fraud or other wrregulanty or error

In formmng our opimion we also evaluated
the overali adequacy of the presentation
of infermauon 1n the parent company
finanaal statements and the part of

the Directors’ remuneration report to
be audited

Op:nion

In our opimon

* the parent company finanaial statements
gwe a true and fair view,

n accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
of the state of the Company's affairs as
at 29 September 2007,

* the parent company financial statements
and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985, and

* the informaucn given n the Directors’
report 1s conststent with the parent
company finanaal statements

Ernst & Young LLP
Regrstered auditors
London

28 November 2007
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Notes to the parent company
financial statements

1 Accounting policres

Basis of accounung

The finanaial statements have been
prepared under the historic cost
convention They comply with applicable
accounting standards i the United
Kingdom

Fixed asset investments

The Company's investments 1 group
undertakings are held at cost less provision
for impairment

Deferred taxaton

Deferred tax assets and habiliues are
recognised, subject to certain exceptions,
in respect of all matenal oming differences
between the recognition of gains and
losses in the financial statements and for
tax purposes Those ummg differences
recogmsed include accelerated capital
allowances and short-term tunimng
differences Timmg differences not
recognised include those relating to the
revaluation of fixed assets in the absence
of a commitment to sell the assets,

the gain on sale of assets rolled nto
replacement assets and the disttibution
of profits from overseas companies

in the absence of any comnutment by
the company to make the distribution

Deferred tax asscts are recogrused to the
extent that 1t 15 regarded as more hkely
than not that they will be recovered

Deferred tax 15 calculated on a non-
discounted basis at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the periods in which
ummg differences reverse, based on tax
raies and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date
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Employee benefits
1 Penszon obligations
The Company has both defined benefit and
defined conmbution pension arrangements

The lizbility recogmsed n the balance
sheet n respect of the Company’s defined
benefit arrangements ts the present value
of the defined benefit obhigation less the
fair value of the scheme assets, shown net
of deferred tax The cost of providing
benefits 15 determined using the projected
unit credit method as determined
annually by quahfied actuanes The
current service ast of providing pension
benefits to employees, together with the
cost of any benefits relating to past service,
1s charged to operating profit and
included 1n staff costs The interest cost
and the expected return on asseis are
shown as a net amount of finance cost

or income adjacent to mterest Acmarial
gams and losses are recogrused
immediately n the statement of total
recognised gaimns and losses

For the Company’s defined contribution
arrangements, the charge agamnst proﬁt
1s equal 1o the amount of contributions
payable

1 Share-based compensation

The Company operates a number of
equuty-settled share-based compensauon
plans, whereby, subject to meetng

any relevant conditions, employees are
awarded shares or rights over shares The
cost of such awards 15 measured at far
value, excludmg the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions, on the date of
grant The expense 1 generally recognised
over the vesung period and 15 adjusted
for the esumated effect, on the number
of shares that will eventually vest, of non
market-based vesung condittons and
forfertures due to employees leaving the
employment of the Company Fair values
are calculated using a combmation of
Black-Scholes, Binomial and Monte Carlo
simulation models depending on the
conditions attached to the particular
share scheme

Own shares

The cost of own shares held 1n treasury
(‘treasury shares’) or by the Company's
employee share trusts for the purpose

of fulfilling obligatons i respect of

the Group's employee share plans are
deducted from shareholders’ funds i the
Company and Group balance sheet

Dividends

Dvidends proposed by the Board but
unpaid at the penied end are not recogrsed
i the finanaal statements unul they have
been approved by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeung Intenm dividends
are recogmised when paid

Foreign currencies

Transacuons i foreign currencies are
recorded at the exchange rates raling on
the dates of the wansacuons, adjusted for
the effects of any hedging arrangements
Menetary assets and habilites denominated
m foreign currencies are translated nio
sterhng at the relevant rates of exchange
niling at the balance sheet date

Thus applies to the euro loan from
Mitchells & Butlers Germany GmbH,
which 15 a monetary item, com erted at the
pertad end rate with exchange differences
ansing passing through the profit and loss
account and the euro v estment in
Mutchells & Butlers Getmany GmbH,
which 1s a non-menetary wem and
therefore should be held at cost

However, the Company applies fair
value hedge accounting, 1 accordance
with FRS 26, in order to hedge the
long-term element of the euro loan from
Mitchells & Buders Germany GmbH
against part of the investment m Mitchells
& Butlers Germany GmbH Foreign
exchange differences arising on
translation of both of these 1ems using
the period end rate are taken to the
profit and loss account The remander
of the investment 1in Mitchells & Butlers
Germany GmbH 1s held at cost as
described above




Derwative finanaal instruments

The Company uses interest rate swaps
and gilt hedges to hedge agamst the
Mitchells & Butlers group’s exposure to
changes 1n mterest rates and movements
n the value of the Group’s fixed rate debt
The hedged 1tems are held by a subsidiary
undertaking Derrvatne financial
instruments are niot used for trading or
speculauve purposes

Interest rate swap contracts are mmually
measured at fair value on the contract
date, and are remeasured to fair value
at subsequent reporting dates Fair value
1s calculated as the present value of the
estimated future cash flows Changes in
the fair value of these instruments are
recogmsed 1n the profit and loss account
m the penod mn which the changes anse

Profit and loss account

The Company has taken advantage of
Secuon 230 of the Companies Act 1985
and not presented its own prolit and loss
account The Company recorded 2 profit
after tax of £50m (2006 £667m), less
drndends of £53%8m (2006 £56m)

Auditors’ remunerauon for audit
services to the Company was £21,000
{2006 £20,000) This 1s borne by another
group company as are any other costs
relating to non-audit services (see note 5
to the Group financial statemnents}

The consolidated financial statements

of Mitchells & Butlers plc are required ta
comply with the Compamies (Disclosure of
Auditor Remuneraton) Regulations 2005

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements
Tequites management to make estimates
and assumpuions that affect the amounts
reported 1n the financtal statements and
accompanying notes Actual results can
differ from those esumates Estrmates
are used when accounung for tems
such as amorusauon, asset Imparments
and pensions

Exchange rates

The results of overseas operauons have
been translated into sterhing at weighted
average rates of exchange for the year of
£1 = €1 48 (2006 £1 = €1 46) and euro
denominated assets and habihiues have
been translated into sterling at the rate
of exchange at the balance sheet date of
£]1 = €1 43 (2006 £1 = €1 47}

CQverview Operating Reports Accounta Shareholder
and financial information
review

2. Recent accounting developments

During the year the Accounung Standards
Board (‘ASR') 1ssued the following
standards, all of which have an effective
date after the date of these financial
statements and have not been adopted
early by the Company

FRS 29 (IFRS 7) ‘Financial Instruments
Disclosures’ will require disclosure of
additional mformation relaung to the
Company’s finanaial instruments with
effect from 1 January 2007 The Company
wiil be exempt from the requirements of
this standard as the information will be
mmcluded in the consohidated financial
statements of the Group

FRS 25 ‘Finanaal Instraments Tsclosure
and Presentauon’ has been revised with
effect from 1 January 2007 10 remove
disclosures which are now mmcorporated
within the scope of FRS 29 (IFRS 7)
‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’

During the year the ASB 1ssued an
amendment to FRS 17 ‘Reurement
Benefits’ with effect from 6 April 2007
The Company has applied the
amendment early m these financial
statements, mcorporaung the additional
disclosure requirements and valuing the
assets of the defined benefit schemes using
current bid price mstead of mud-market
value

3 Pensions

The Company accounts for pensions
under FRS 17 ‘Reurement Benefus

The Company 1s the sponsoring
employer of the Group's pension plans
Information concerning the pension
scheme arrangements operated by the
Company and associated current and
future contributions t3 contained within
note & page 63 to the consohdated
financial statements

Pension costs are assessed 1n accordance
with the advice of the Scheme's qualified
actuaries The Company’s total pension
cost ncluded within operatng profit for
the 52 weeks ended 29 September 2007
under FRS 17 was £14m (2006 £15m),
comprising £13m (2006 £14m) in
respect of the defined benefit pension
arrangements and £1m (2006 £1m)

n respect of the defined contribution
arrangements

The valuations used for FRS17 purposes
are based on the prelimmary results of

the latest full acmarial valuason carned
out at 31 March 2007 and expected to
be finalised in December 2007, updated
by the independent qualified actuaries

to 29 September 2007 Scheme assets are
stated at market value at 29 September
2007 and the habihues of the schemes
have been assessed as at the same date
using the projected unit method As the
defined benefit sections of the pension
plans are now closed to new members,
the current scrvice cost as calculated
under the projected unit method wall
increase as members approach returement

The prinaipal financial assumpuions

used by the actuaries at the balance sheet
date and the basis of these are contained
within note 8 on page 63 to the consolidated
finanaal statements
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Notes to the parent company
financial statements .
continued

3. Pensions contunued

The long-term rates ol return on assets at 29 September 2007 shown below form the bass of the calculation of the expected return on
pension scheme assets for the 2008 financial year The 2006 rates shown are used in caleulating the 2007 expected rewurn

2007 2006 2008
Long-term Long-term l_ong-term
rates rates rates
of return of return of return
expected Value expectad Valus expected Value
% £m % £m % m
Equities 79 345 75 598 75 563
Bonds 59 854 46 488 46 428
Property 79 93 75 99 75 90
Fair value of assets 1,292 1,185 1,081
Present value of scheme hiabilities (1,310) (1,281) (1,229)
Deficit 1n the schemes recognised as a liability in the balance sheet {18) (96) (148)
Associated deferred tax asset 5 31 49
Net pension habilies (13) {65) (99)
2007 2006
Statement of total recogmsed gamns and losses £m £m
Actual return less expected return on penston scheme assets 24 43
Changes 1n assumptions underlying the valuation of the scheme
assets and present value of the scheme habilhines 6 {16)
Actuarial gain recogmsed 30 27
History of experience gans and losses 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets
Amount (£m) 24 43 100 27 39
Percentage of scheme assets 2% 1% 9% 3% 5%
Experience gains and losses on scheme Liabilities
Amount {£m) - - - 20 (an
Percentage of the present value of the scheme hiabihnes - - - 2% {1)%
Amount recognised 1n the statement of total recognsed gains and losses
Amount (£m) 30 27 (7 39 {(71)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme habilines 20, 2% {(1)% 4% (%

The following amounts relating to the Company’s defined benefit arrangements have been recognised 1n the Company profit and
loss account and statement of total recogmised gains and losses

2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks

Profit and loss account £m
Operating profit
Current service cost {13} (14)
Charge to operating profit (13) (14}
Interest
Expected return on pension scheme assets 74 69
Interest on pension scheme habihnes {63) {61)
Net finance mncome 1n respect of pensions 11 8
Net penston cost before taxauon (2) (6)
o4 Mitchells & Butlers
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continued

3. Pensions continued

The table below analyses the movement i the schemes’ net deficit in the period

Pension assets Pension obligations Net deficet
2007 2006 2007 2008 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At begmning of period 1,185 1,081 (1,281} (1,229) (96) (148)
Current service cost - - (13) (14) (13) (14)
Interest cost on benefit obligations - - (63) (61) (63) (61)
Expected return on plan assets 74 69 - - 74 69
Employee contribuuons 4 3 (4) (&3 - -
Employer contmbutions 50 31 - - 50 31
Benefits pard (42) (42) 42 42 - -
Actuarial gam/(loss) recognised 21 43 9 (16) 30 27
At end of period 1,292 1,185 (1,310) {1,281) (18) (96)

4. Employees and Directors

2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks
Number Number

Average number of employees, including part-ume employees g 9

5. Share-based payments

The espense recogmsed for share-based payments i the year 1s £4m (2006 £4m} which comprises share option schemes and share
awards to the employees of the Company

The Company had six share-based payment schemes, all of which are equity-settled, in operation duning the year These are
described on page 59

The tables on page 60 set out awards and options granted by the Company during 2007 and 2006 The Company has used separate
option pricing models and assumptions for each plan Details of how the fair value of each option was calculated are also mcluded
on pages 59 and 60

Movements in the anards and options over the Company’s shares outstanding under these schemes for the years ended
29 September 2007 and 30 September 2006 1n refation to the employees of the Mitchells & Butlers group are shown on page 61
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Notes to the parent company
financial statements
continued

5. Share-based payments contnued

Movements 1n the awards and opuons outstandmg under these schemes, m respect of the employees of the Company, for the

periods ended 29 September 2007 and 30 September 2006 are as follows

Short Term Performance Share
Deferrad Restricted Incentive
ncentive Plan Share Plan Plan
Number of Number of Number of
shares shares shares
thousands thousands thousands
Outstanding at 1 October 2005 679 2,677 18
Granted 325 1,098 4
Exercised (253) (384) -
Lapsed - (565) -
Oustanding at 30 September 2006 751 2,826 22
Granted 247 652 2
Exercised (253) (713) -
Lapsed - (295) -
Share consohidatton® - - {4)
Qutstanding at 29 September 2007 745 2,470 20
Fair value of options granted during the period (pence)
At 29 September 2007 7215 477 6= 8795
At 30 September 2006 354 1 275 8™ 5150
Weighted average remaining contract hife {years)
At 29 September 2007 13 31 Hr
At 30 September 2006 13 32 et

{i The allocated shares in the SIP Trust were consohdated as part of the share consolidation on 18 October 20086, resulting 'n a reduction of 3,775

iy For the Pertormance Restncted Share Plan the weighted average far value s shown

{if) SIP shares are capable of remaining within the StP Trust Indefiniiely while participants contirue to be employed by the Group

Executrve Share

Qption Plan Sharesave Plan Rolled-aver Options
Weighted Weightad Weighted
Number average Number average Humber averages
of shares ophon price of shares option prce of shares option price
thousands pence  thousands pence thousands pence
Opuons outstanding at 1 October 2005 5,033 2599 42 175 4 2,742 274 9
Granted - - 2 401 0 - -
Exercised (353) 2190 - (937) 269 7
Lapsed - - - - - -
Opuons outstanding at 30 Sepiember 2006 4,680 263 ¢ 44 1873 1,805 277 6
Granted - - - - _ -
Exercised {1,050) 2190 (16) 1640 (922) 280 3
Lapsed - - - - - -
Opuons outstanding at 29 September 2007 3,630 2757 28 198 0 883 274 8
Options exercisable
At 29 September 2007 2,249 244 7 - - 483 8
At 30 September 2006 1,571 2190 - - 1,805 277 6
Fair value of options granted during the period (pence)
At 29 September 2007 - _
At 30 September 2006 - 1453 _
Range of option prices (pence)
At 29 September 2007 2190-3261 169 0-401 0 25973645
At 30 September 2006 2190-3261 169 0-401 0 2597 - 3645

The weighted average share price during the period was 737 4p (2006 458 Op)

Summarised informauon about eptions over the Company’s shares outstanding at 29 September 2007 under the share opuon
schemes, 1n respect of the employees of the Mitchells & Butlers group, 1s shown on page 62
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5 Share-based payments continued

Summarised information about options outstandimng, 1n respect of the employees of the Company, at 29 September 2007 under
the share option schemes 1s as follows

Optlons outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted
average Weighted average Weighted
Number remaning average Number remaening average
outstanding contract life option price outstanding convact life option price
Range of exercise prices (pence) thousands years pence  thousands years pence
Performance Restricted Share Plan
Negligible® 2,470 31 - - - o
Executive Share Opuon Plan
2190 520 57 2190 520 57 2190
252 5 1,725 67 252 5 1,729 67 2525
3261 1,381 77 3261 - - -
3,630 69 275 7 2,249 64 244 7
Sharesave Plan
169 0 19 15 164 0 - - -
209 0 7 &5 2090 - - -
401 0 2 25 401 0 - - -
28 14 198 0 - - -
Rolled-over Options
242 1p w0 303 Op 795 32 264 9 795 32 2649
303.1p 10 364 5p 88 04 364 &5 88 04 364 5
883 29 274 8 833 29 274 8

*The exercise pnce relating to the Performance Restncted Share Plan is £1 per participating employee per exercise

6. Dividends

Dividends paid and recognised 1in equity by the Company in the period are disclosed within note 12 on page 68 to the consolidated
financial statements

7. Fixed asset tnvestments

Shares in group

undertakings
£m

Cost
At 30 September 2006 and 29 September 2007 1,745
Provision
At 30 September 2006 7
Released during year (1
At 29 September 2007 6
Net book value
At 29 September 2007 1,799
At 30 Septeruber 2006 1.758

Mutchells & Butlers plc 15 the beneficial owner of all of the equity share capital, etther self ar through subsidiary undertakings,
of the following principal operaung companies

Country of Country of

Name of subsidiary ncorporation operation Nature of business
Mutchells & Butlers Retail Lid England and Wales Unuted Kingdom Lesure retailing
Mitchells & Butlers Retail (No 2) Lid England and Wales United Kingdom Leisure retailing
Mitchells & Butlers (Property) Ltd England and Wales United Kingdom Property management
Mitchells & Butlers Leisure Retad Lid England and Wales United Kingdomn Service company
Mitchells & Buters Finance plc England and Wales United Kingdom Finance company
Muchells & Buders Germany GmbH* Germany Germany Lesure retaithing
Standard Commercial Property Deselopments Lid* England and Wales United Kingdom Property development

*Shares held directly by Mitchells & Butlers plc

A full Iist of subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next annual return of Mitchells & Butlers plc 1o be filed with the Registrar
of Companies
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8 Debtors

2007 2008
£m £m
Amounts owed by group undertakings 625 581
Group relief receivable 50 36
Deferred tax - 3
Other debtors - 1
Prepayinents 1 1
676 622
All amounts fall due within one year

9. Creditors amounts falling due within one year
2007 2006
£m £m
Borrowings 142 6
Amounts owed to group undertakings 1,808 1,680
Deferred tax 18 -
Other creditors i 4
Accruals 3 2
2,022 1,692

Borrowmgs in 2007 comprise £192m drawn down against the three year £300m revolving credit facility, entered into on
28 September 2006, for general busmess purposes Borrowings in 2006 comprise overdrafts which were repayable on demand

10 Denivative financial instruments

In advance of the intended property based refinancing, a number of derivauve mstruments were executed by or transferred to the
Company, to mitigate against movements m the value of the Group's exisung fixed rate debt These are explamed further in note 21
on page 76 to the consolidated financial statements

These mstruments do not quahfy for hedge accounung within the Company as they cannot be designated as a hedge agamst the
cash flows of any speafic finanaal instrument anticipated as part of a future property based refinancing They include the two

5 4390% mterest rate swaps, the 5 5705% nterest rate swap and the reverse gilt locks described 1n note 21 on page 77 to the
consohidated finanaal statements

Movements n thewr fawr values are recogmsed directly mn the Company's profit and loss account The total impact of the above
dervauve financial mstruments during the year was a charge of £9m

11. Called up share capital

Detals of the amount and nominal value of authonised and called up, allotted and fully paid share capital are contained in note 24
on page 81 1o the consolidated financal statements
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12 Share capital and reserves

Profit and loss account

Capital resenve Total share

Share Share redemption Qwn capital and

capital premium reserve shares Other Total reserves

£m m £m £m £m £m £m

At 30 September 2006 34 14 3 (12) 850 838 889
Purchase of Own shares - - - (42) - (42) (42)

Release of Own shares held - - - 41 (30) 11 11

Credit in respect of employee share schemes - - - - 8 8 8
Actuanal gam on pension schemes - - - - 20 30 30

Deferred tax relaing to acmarial gamn (including effect

of tax rate change) - - - - (8) {8) (8)

Profit after taxanon - - - - 50 50 50
Dividends — - ~ — {538) (538) {(538)

At 29 September 2007 34 14 3 (13) 362 349 400

The profit and loss account reserve 15 wholly distributable after the deduction for Qwn shares

Included 1n the profit and loss account reserve 1s a pension reserve of £13m (2006 £65m) which equates to the net pension habihues
under FRS 17

Own shares

Own shares held by the Company represent the shares in the Company held in treasury (‘treasury shares’) and by the employee
share trusts

During the period, the Company acquired 1,033,000 (2006 nil) shares for treasury at a cost of £7 4m (2006 £nil), released 220,606
(2006 1,589,880) shares to employees on the exercise of share options for a total considerauon of £0 4m (2006 £3 8m), and
consohidated 88,443 (2006 ml) shares on 18 October 2006 The 1,241,969 shares held 1n treasury at 29 September 2007 had a
market value of £7 6m (2006 518,018 shares held had a market value of £3 1m) The aggregate nomnal value of the treasury shares
held at 29 September 2007 was £106,000 (2006 £37,000)

During the period, the employee share ousts acquired 4,967,276 (2006 4,351,933) shares at a cost of £35 Om (2006 £21 6m)},
released 5,916,545 (2006 4,282,188) shares to employees on the exercise of share opnions and other share awards for a total
consideration of £1¢ 5m (2006 £8 8m) and consolhidated 189,906 (2006 ml) shares on the 18 October 2006 The 1,070,449 shares
held by the trusts at 29 Septemnber 2007 had a market value of £6 5m {2006 2,209,624 shares held had a market value of £13 Om)

2006 share numbers are shown prior to the share consolidation

13 Deferred tax asset/(hiability)

£m
At 30 September 2006 34
Profit and loss account (39)
Profit and loss account resene &
At 29 September 2007 (13)
Analysed as tax on uming differences related to
2007 2006
£m £m
Derwative finanaal instruments (21) -
Share-based payments 3 3
Pensions 5 31
Deferred tax (hability)/asset {13) 34
The deferred tax asset in respect of penstons s netted off the pension habihty 1n note 3
14 Related party transactions
Under FRS8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ the Company 1s not required to provide related party disclosures i us own financial
statements, as they are presented with the consolidated finanaial statements of the Group
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Shareholder information

Electromc communication

Shareholders can register to receive

an ¢-mail noufication of the avadabihry

of the Company’s latest shareholder
communicattons at the following web

link www mbplc com/ecomms The website
also enables shareholders to view details
of their own shareholding or electromcally
appoint 2 proxy to vote on their behalf
on any poll that may be held at the
forthcomung Annual General Meeting

Following recent changes 1n legislauon
the Company will be seeking authonty

to amend 1s Arucles of Association at the
2008 AGM 1o enable it to make electronic
communtcaton with shareholders the
default posinon The Company intends
to enclose commumnicauon electon cards
with the interim dividend payment
mailing 11 2008 Shareholders will have
the right to request to receive paper
communicauons, however this presents
an opporturnuty for the Company to
henefit from reducing costs whulst
reducing 1ts unpact on the environment

Interim results

The Company does not intend to publish
future interim results in hard copy The
mtermm results will be available online

at www mbplc comy/reports

Amalgamating your share accounts

If you recerved more than one copy of this
report, 1t may be because the Registrar hasg
more than one record of shareholdings in
your name To ensure that you do not
recewve duplicate mailings m fuwre, you
can have all your shares amalgamated 1nto
one account by contacting the Registrar at
the address below

Dividend mandates

Shareholders who wish dwidends w be
paic direcdy into a bank/bwilding society
account, should contact the Registrar for
a dividend mandate form This method
of payment removes the nisk of delay or
loss of dividend cheques 1n the post and
ensures that your account 1s credited

on the due date

Key dates

Dindend remnvestment plan (‘DRIP?)
Sharehelders can choose to reinvest
dividends recewved to purchase further
shares 1 the Company through a DRIP
A DRIP application form 1s available from
the Registrar ar art the following web bink
www mbplc com/dividends

Low cost share dealing service

A sumple, low cost postal facility for
buying and seling Mitchells & Butlers ple
ordinary shares 1s available through the
Company's Registrar, information may be
obtained from the Registrar’s address
below or at www shareview co uk/dealing

Individual savings accounts ('ISAs’)
I5As in Mitchells & Butlers plc ordinary
shares are available through the Registrar
and mformauon may be obtamed from
the Regisurar's address below

Share price information

The latest Mitchells & Buders plc share
price 15 available at the following web
hink www mbplc com/shareprice, i the
financial press or on Ceefax and Teletext
and also on the Financial Tunes Cuyhne
Senvice, telephone +44 (0)906 843 0000
(calis charged at 60p per mimute)

ShareGaft

The Orr Mackintosh Foundatuion

operates this chanty share donaton
scheme for shareholders with small
holdings of shares, whose value makes
them uneconomic to sell Details can

be obtained from the Regustrar or the
ShareGaft website www ShareGift org or by
cathng ShareGift on +44 (0)20 7930 3737

Corporate Social Responsibility Review
The Mitchells & Butlers Corporate Social
Responsibility Review 2007 15 available
on the Company's website and can be
downloaded directly by visiung

www mbplc com/csrreview If you do

not have access to the mnternet and would
hike a printed copy, please write to the
Communicattons Department at the
registered office shown below

2007 preliminary results announcement
Final dividend

Ex-dmidend date

Record date

Payment date
Annual General Meeting
Interim management statement
Announcement of interim results
Interim dridend payment date
Interim management statemeny
Pre close wrading update

29 November 2007

5 December 2007
7 December 2007
4 February 2008
31 January 2008
31 January 2008
May 2008

July 2008

July 2008
September 2008

Announcement of 2008 preltmnary results  Nov/Dec 2008
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Special Dividend and share consolidaiion
On 25 October 2006 the Company pad

a Special Dividend of £1 per share to
shareholders on the register at the close of
business on 17 October 2006 As approved
by shareholders on 17 October 2006, the
Special Dvidend was accompanted by

a consolhidation of the Company’s share
capual, effective from 18 October 2006,
whereby shareholders recewved 34 new
ordinary shares for every 41 exisung
ordinary shares held on 17 October 2006
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Stockbrokers
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Ernst & Young LLP
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Glossary

Acquired Sites
239 pub restaurant sites acquired from
Whitbread PI C in July 2006

Amemty

Design, décor, furmiture and faciliues
that contribute to the environment and
atmosphere of a pub

AWT (Average weekly take)

The average sales per pub per week,
calculated as total sales divided by the
average number of pubs trading during
the period divided by the number of
weeks n the period

Brands

Outlets which rade under a common
name, or therr own individual names
under an externally 1ecognised group
name, with a consistent design, drinks
range, menu, service style and
promouonal programme

Business franchise

An agreement where an entrepreneur
gamns access to lngh quality pubs

and a sophisticated business support
nfrastructure whilst the Company
retains 1ts scale purchasing and overhead
advantages and shares i the trading
upside through a franchise fee The
Company receives 2 commercial rent for
the property and retamns the property
ownership

Capacity management

The process that seeks to ensure that

a pub can service maximum volumes at
peak tradmg umes whilst mamntaming
customer sattsfaction levels

Cash flow from operations

The cash generated from the operauons
of the Company generally defined as
revenues less all operaung expenses

CAGR
Cormpound Annual Growth Rate

Covers
The number of main meals sold

Design and production
CarneqieOrr

Print
Raoyle Corparate Print

Overview Operating Reports Accounts Shareholder
and financial Information
review

Cover turn On-trade

The total number of mamn meals sold
divided by the number of main meals
that could be sold in one situng

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, amortisation and
exceptional 1tems

External costs
Costs influenced by outside factors,
1e regulatory and energy costs

Formats

Outlets where to the customer’s eve
the business trades without any overt
branding or badging but the customer
offer and operaung template are
managed te defined standards

Gross m
Gross profit divaded by sales, expressed
as a percentage

Gross profit
Sales less cost of goods sold, expressed
In monetary terms {£s)

Incremental pre-tax returns

Growth in annual pre-tax operating
profit expressed as a percentage of the
associated capital investrment For sites
which do not have 12 months post-
mvestment trading, incremental return
15 esumated based on an annualisation
of actual post-investment trading

IFRS
International Finanaal Reporung
Standards

National Mimimum Wage
The minimum amount an employer
must pay its workers as defined by law

Off-trade

Any retail outlet which has a hcence to
sell alcohol for consumpuon off the
premises

The paper usad in this Report is denved from
sustainable sources

Corbammemira o

Any retai} outet which has a hicence
to sell aleohol for consumpuon on
the premises {eg pubs, restaurants,
mightclubs, clubs)

Operating profit
Earnings before mterest, tax and
exceptional 1tems

Qutlet employment ratio
Pub employment costs divided by total
sales, expressed as a percentage

Post-tax cash return

EBITDA less tax dnvided by average net
operatng assets less revaluatton reserve
plus accumulated depreaiation plus
goodwill written off

Productivity
Sales less hourly paid wages divided by
the number of hours worked

Refinancing
The repayment of an exisung loan with
the proceeds from a new loan

REIT
Real Estate Investment Trust

Same outlet hike-for-like sales growth
The increase it sales performance of all
managed pubs that were trading for the
two periods being compared, expressed
as a percentage

Secuntisation

A means of raising finance secured on
wdentifiable and predictable cash flows
derved from a parucular set of assets

Share buyback
The purchase in the open market by
a histed company of its own shares

Uninvested like-for-like sales growth
The increase in sales performance

of those managed pubs that have not
recerved expansionary mvestment of
more than £30,000 in either year bemng
compared, expressed as a percentage
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